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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE
OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Exchange. Prospective investors
should be aware of the potential risks of investing in
such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration. Given that the
companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized,
there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more
susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded
on the Main Board of the Exchange and no assurance is
given that there will be a liquid market in the securities
traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising
from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of
this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Neo
Telemedia Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of
the Exchange for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief:

1. the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or
deceptive; and

2. there are no other matters the omission of which would
make any statement in this report misleading.
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On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of Neo Telemedia Limited (the “Company”), |
hereby present to the shareholders of the Company the annual
results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2019.

REVIEW AND ANALYSIS

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group’s
operations mainly comprise sales of telecommunication
products and services and operation of Internet finance platform
business.

SALE OF TELECOMMUNICATIONS PRODUCTS
AND SERVICES

During the year under review, the revenue of sale of
telecommunication products and services business was
approximately HK$788.8 million (2018: HK$2,460.3 million). Sale
of telecommunication products and services represented trading
of telecommunication products, provision of Internet data center
(“IDC”), Wi-Fi, system integration and value-added Internet
services and software development in mainland China and Hong
Kong.

The decrease in revenue was mainly due to the downturn and
keen competition of the global mobile business environment
and the decrease in consultancy fee income in relation to
IDC services and Wi-Fi, system integration and software
development services during the year ended 31 December
2019.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had two IDCs under
operation in Guangzhou, namely Guangzhou Lotus Hill Data
Center and Guangzhou (Nanxiang) Cloud Data Center. There
are three IDCs under development, the major one in Heshan
City and the remaining in Shenzhen and Shanghai. Due to the
outbreak of coronavirus disease, the construction work of these
IDCs has been delayed. It is expected that these three IDCs will
commence operation in the first half of 2021. For the year ended
31 December 2019, the provision of IDC service business had
contributed revenue of approximately HK$321.0 million (2018:
HK$353.6 million) to the Group.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement
FREHESE

Despite the relatively stable revenue stream from the provision
of IDC services, revenue from trading of telecommunication
products, mainly mobile devices, has significantly decreased
compared with 2018. Such decrease was mainly attributable
to the downturn and keen competition of the global mobile
business environment that led to reduced orders from
customers. In addition, due to the China-United States trade
war, one of the Android’s biggest phone manufacturers in China,
Huawei, was suspended from Android updates after the Trump
administration barred the Chinese organization from trading with
US companies in May 2019. The suspension has negatively
impacted consumer confidence in all Chinese-branded
mobile phones. On the other hand, the arrival of 5G era could
potentially lead to a mobile phone replacement cycle. However,
the Group was uncertain that if the Group could secure the
source of 5G devices from its suppliers. Should the Group be
unable to secure the supply of the next generation devices,
future profitability of the business would be negatively impacted.

Due to the above reasons, in order to save costs and realize
the Group’s investment, the Group has restructured its trading
of mobile device business and disposed of Million Ace Limited
and its subsidiaries (collectively, “Million Ace Group”), excluding
Million Ace Trading (Hong Kong) Limited (“MAHK”) that had
continued to carry out the trading of mobile device business in
the Group, to an independent third party for a consideration of
HK$10 million (the “Disposal’) in the third quarter of 2019. The
Group has recorded a gain on the Disposal of approximately
HK$27.0 million.

Since the Disposal, however, there has been no improvement
in the global mobile business environment. Together with the
impact of the outbreak of coronavirus disease, MAHK did not
receive any purchase order from its customer after the Chinese
New Year. On the other hand, despite continued negotiation
with its suppliers, MAHK was still unable to secure the supply of
the next generation mobile devices.
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In light of the above, the Board resolved to cease the operation
of MAHK on 13 March 2020. The Board considered that the
cessation of operation of MAHK will enable the Group to
better utilize its resources and to focus on its core business,
i.e. provision of IDC services, particularly the IDC project in
Heshan City and it is in the best interest of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, revenue and net loss
derived from MAHK are approximately HK$268.2 million (2018:
HK$1,118 million) and HK$1.0 million (2018: net profit of
HK$8.8 million), respectively.

As a result of the cessation of the operation of MAHK, the
cash generating unit of the trading of mobile device business
will no longer generate any cash flow. The Group has therefore
fully written off the relevant goodwill of approximately HK$15.2
million and intangible assets of approximately of HK$39.5 million
in accordance with the relevant financial reporting requirements.

INTERNET FINANCE PLATFORM BUSINESS

As RIITMERSREBHEBRBEBER QA (Shenzhen
Bees Financial Internet Financial Services Co., Ltd.*) (“Bees
Financial”’) has limited its operation to collecting debts from
borrowers for repayment to the investors, Bees Financial did not
generate any revenue (2018: HK$43.9 million) for the year ended
31 December 2019.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement
FREHESE

In July 2018, the Group engaged lawyers to provide services
to the Group in relation to the operations of the platform,
particularly conducting due diligence review of the operations,
identifying defaulted loans and receivables (including the
impaired accounts receivable as mentioned below) and taking
necessary actions to recover the same, and assisting the
Group to: 1) comply with the laws and regulations that are
applicable to the Internet finance platform business, and 2)
carry out rectification work on the operations of the platform in
accordance with the rectification notice that the local financial
regulatory department issued to the Group in January 2018 and
complete the relevant filings.

Based on the results of the due diligence review conducted
by the lawyers, total lifetime expected credit loss allowance
of approximately HK$42.3 million was recognised in respect
of accounts receivables. The lawyers have commenced the
procedures of recovering the aforesaid accounts receivable. As
at 31 December 2019, approximate HK$661,000 (net of the
relevant expenses) had been recovered from such receivables.
Legal actions against the remaining debtors are still in progress.
The lawyers advised that policies, laws and regulations in relation
to P2P online lending in mainland China have kept changing
significantly from 2018 to 2019. In addition, in the fourth quarter
of 2019, people’s courts at various levels in mainland China
indicated that cases involving P2P online lending and online
arbitration will not be executed for the time being. Thus, it is
expected that more time is required to recover the remaining
receivables. The Company will update its shareholders on any
material development as and when required.

As of the date of this report, Bees Financial has carried out
rectification work on the Platform and submitted the relevant
filings to the local financial regulatory department and is pending
its reply.
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BUSINESS PROSPECTS

Looking forward, the Group will continue to focus on its
IDC business. While the construction work of the IDCs in
Heshan City has been behind schedule due to the outbreak of
coronavirus disease, it is expected that it will be put in service
in the first half of 2021 and more revenue will be contributed
therefrom in the coming years.

Moreover, the Group will continue to explore potential investment
opportunities in IDC, Internet of Things, cloud computing and
related businesses. With favorable policies and support from
the PRC government towards these fast growing sectors, the
management is optimistic that the Group will be able to reward
shareholders with better results in the foreseeable future.

Chairman’s Statement
FREHESE
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS MR E
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
Revenue (HK$’'000) Wz (F&7T) 817,141 2,529,051
Net loss (HK$'000) EEFE (FET) (115,643) (126,995)

Loss attributable to owners of KABEE AL

the Company (HK$’'000) B8 (FHT) (94,550) (84,425)
Basic loss earnings per share (HK Cents) FREAREERF GBIL) (0.99) (0.89)
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Chairman’s Statement
FREHESE

For the year under review, the Group recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$817.1 million (2018: HK$2,529.1 million),
representing a decrease of approximately HK$1,712.0 million or
67.7% as compared to the year ended 31 December 2018. The
decrease in revenue was mainly due to the downturn and keen
competition of the global mobile business environment and the
decrease in consultancy fee income in relation to IDC services
and Wi-Fi, system integration and software development
services during the year ended 31 December 2019. The Group
recorded a loss attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$94.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2019 (2018: HK$84.4 million), primarily due to (i) the write-off
of the entire goodwill and intangible assets of approximately
HK$15.2 million and HK$39.5 million respectively in relation to
Million Ace Group and its sales telecommunication products and
services business; and (i) the significant decrease in revenue
due to the aforesaid reasons.

FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had interest-bearing
bank borrowings of approximately HK$1,081.4 million (2018:
HK$682.3 million), which are analyzed as follows:

REBEFEE AEEHSKEHN817T18E
BIL(ZE—N\F:26520188E L) BEH
E-E - )\FF+_A=ZT—HLFERIH
171208 BB TH67.7% - WHE B HhEE
HREE T NF+_BA=+—HLFE
PEHRFREFRETITIEAEFHRUURET
BB EE PO BRTE R WI-Fis R E R R B
RHERGBENBZRABRARL #HEZZT
—NF+_A=+—BULEE AEBHSE
AARHB AEREBIBNM6EES T (=
E—-N\F 844888 L) TEHRNOHEHM
BEREEUREHEBRNERRRIEERN
EPHEEREFEEMES RN A15288
BT X39.58 8B T K (i) mR Lt REE
Bz RIE T B o

B 155K

RZZB—-hE+_A=1+—80 KX&EEHEHE
HERTERROI0814BEET(ZE—N
F:682.3BEBT) I :

2019 2018

—E-hE T N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Short-term bank borrowings, secured RHHERITE R A 226,853 375,870
Portion of term loan from bank, secured TEHRITERE » - BER

— repayable within one year — AR —FAE; 52,142 24,978
— repayable after one year which contain —HR—FREE (RS

a repayment on demand clause B ESKEEIER 802,454 281,413

Total borrowings EE S GE 1,081,449 682,261
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The amounts based on the scheduled repayment dates set out
in the loan agreements and the maturities of the Group’s bank
borrowings at the end of the financial year (i.e. ignoring the
effect of any repayment on demand clause) are shown below:

Chairman’s Statement
FREHESE

BRAFRRER BRABBEERB B EA
SERITERN SV BRFERINGBER (A
BPREARERKEEGROZE)EDMT

2019 2018
—E—hE —ZE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Amounts of bank borrowings that AR T EREE
are repayable: RITERERE
— within 1 year —1FR 278,995 400,848
— between 1 and 2 years — 1524 79,320 31,573
- between 2 and 5 years —2&5% 331,540 95,961
— beyond 5 vyears —5F Ak 391,594 153,879
Total borrowings L 1,081,449 682,261

The interest-bearing bank borrowings are denominated in
Renminbi and at floating rates.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had current assets of
approximately HK$331.6 million (2018: HK$495.2 million),
including cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$17.9 million (2018: HK$36.7 million), accounts receivable,
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, note receivable
and other financial assets of approximately HK$308.8 million
(2018: HK$453.4 million); and current liabilities of approximately
HK$1,291.5 million (2018: HK$938.9 million). The Group’s
current ratio had been decreased from approximately 0.53 times
as at 31 December 2018 to approximately 0.26 times as at
31 December 2019.

The Group had total assets of approximately HK$2,558.0 million
(2018: HK$2,318.2 million) and total liabilities of approximately
HK$1,370.9 million (2018: HK$992.6 million), representing a
gearing ratio (expressed as total liabilities to total assets) of
approximately 53.6% as at 31 December 2019 (2018: 42.8%).
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Chairman’s Statement
FREHESE

The Group has always pursued a prudent treasury management
policy and actively manages its liquidity position with sufficient
standby banking facilities to cope with daily operation and any
demands for capital for future development. As at 31 December
2019, total available banking facilities of the Group amounted
to approximately HK$1,587.6 million from China Construction
Bank Corporation (“CCB”), which is mainly for the construction
cost of the “Bluesea Intelligence Valley” located in Heshan
City. The aforesaid banking facilities will expire in 2028 and the
unutilised amount was approximately HK$517.3 million. Due
to the repayment on demand clause of the aforesaid banking
facilities, which is a general term of banking facilities granted by
CCB, the long-term bank loans of approximately HK$1,070.3
million drawn from the aforesaid banking facilities are classified
as current liabilities in the statement of financial position as at
31 December 2019.

Besides, bank loans with carrying amount of approximately
HK$223.5 million as at 31 December 2019 that is repayable
within one year after the end of the reporting period, will be
refinanced with CCB upon maturity under the aforesaid CCB’s
banking facilities.

COMMITMENTS

Details of commitments of the Group were set out in note 41 to
the consolidated financial statements.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2019, bank borrowings of approximately
HK$155.3 million (2018: HK$182.2 million) were secured by
properties of the Group. As at 31 December 2019, the assets
pledged to secure certain bank borrowings granted to the Group
amounted to approximately HK$80.9 million (2018: HK$86.9
million).

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFEEEEEFR LA
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE OPEN
OFFER

Reference is made to the prospectus of the Company dated
8 December 2015 (the “Prospectus”) in relation to the Open
Offer, the announcement of the Company dated 14 November
2018 (the “Announcement”) and the Chairman’s Statement of
the Company dated 21 March 2019. Unless otherwise defined,
capitalized terms used herein shall have the same meanings as
defined in the Prospectus and the Announcement.

Up to 31 December 2019, the Group has fully utilized the
Net Proceeds for the intended use as disclosed in the
Announcement.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Reference is made to the “Legal Proceedings” section of
the Chairman’s Statements of the Company dated 27 March
2018 and 21 March 2019, respectively, in relation to the legal
proceedings brought by NEO Intelligence Holdings Limited
(“NEO Intelligence”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, against Messrs. CHAN Hung Kwong, CHAN Yu Chiu
and CHAN Yue Kuen and Giant Crown Industries Limited (“Giant
Crown”).

The substantive hearing of the arbitration (Arbitration No. HKIAC/
PA18006) (the “Arbitration”) was completed on 17 April 2020, It
is expected that The Arbitral Tribunal will hand down its decision
by May 2020.

Chairman’s Statement
FREHESE

NFEESFKIERR

BRAARRBHA-_ZE—RF+-ANR
LHEER([REER]) NFEHEAHHE
E RARABHA-ZT-—N\F+—A+MHN
Bz (Rl ARKRBAERR-F
—NEFE=ZA-F+-—BHZIFREE K H
FRREIN R EMAFAREZETE X
NPT R EE BB HEREE -

HE_Z-NF+A=+—HB FEECS
BEHAMERBEFRANZAMAEEN
BEE Rk -

AR AL

VRAARA BB AT - N\NF=H
—+ttEtBARkZE-NF=ZAZ+—HZERE
WEE[EERRB] S REABFBEEAQFZ
2EMNBARTRFTEEEHEITERERAF
([FEFEESE])STHERE T E BN
P RBREREANRBEEEAR AR
([BEE])IRFBFAR-

£ 5 KIAC/PA180065E ([ E | ) v B HE B
MER-ZZE_ZTFNA+EHTK - FEEF
HEEBR S -_SFH AR NEE R

Annual Report 2019 —E— AL £ 3]

13



14

Chairman’s Statement
FREHESE

With respect to the claims filed with The People’s Court of
Panyu District, Guangzhou (the “Panyu Court”) by both &
HEEBEHEE AR DT (Guangdong Bluesea Mobile
Development Company*) (‘Bluesea Mobile”) and &M & $E
ETEHEAR A7 (Guangzhou Gangju Electronics Industries
Limited*), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Giant Crown, in relation
to the dispute under the Arbitration (the “PRC Action”), the
Panyu Court has combined the two cases for trial during the
first hearing and has not fixed the date as of the date of this
report. The order of property preservation for the block of
building situated at E M #H & R AEEE 14455 AR under
the certificate of land ownership “ & & i & F 83005825
" (“Block A”) granted by the Panyu Court remains effective.
Bluesea Mobile can therefore continue to use Block A without
interference until the judgement of the PRC Action has been
handed down.

The Group’s legal advisers are of the opinion that NEO
Intelligence and Bluesea Mobile enjoy a high chance of success
in the Arbitration and the PRC Action respectively.

As such, the Directors consider that the legal proceedings do
not have any material impact on the operations of Guangzhou
Lotus Mountain Data Center and the Group.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE AND
TREASURY POLICIES

Most of the Group’s cash balances and transactions are either
denominated in Renminbi, United States dollars and Hong Kong
dollars. The Group has not experienced any material difficulties
or negative impacts on its operations as a result of fluctuations
in currency exchange rates. The Directors considered that no
hedging of exchange risk is required and accordingly, there
were no financial instruments being used for hedging purposes
during the year ended 31 December 2019. Nevertheless, the
management will continue to monitor the Group’s foreign
exchange exposure and will take prudent measures as and
when appropriate.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had approximately 310
staff (2018: 378). The total remuneration, including that of the
Directors, for the year under review is approximately HK$44.2
million (2018: HK$68.7 million, which includes share-based
payments of approximately HK$17.2 million). The Group
remunerates its employees based on their performances,
experience and the prevailing industry practice. Employee
remuneration, excluding Directors’ emoluments, is reviewed
annually. In addition to the basic salaries, employees are also
entitled to benefits including bonus and mandatory provident
fund. On 19 December 2012, the Company had adopted a
share option scheme under which full time employees, including
Directors, of the Company and its subsidiaries, might be granted
options to subscribe for the Company’s ordinary shares.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express my appreciation to the Company’s shareholders and
customers for their utmost support, and to the management and
staff for their dedication and contribution to the Group during
the year.

LIE Haiquan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 12 May 2020
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Biographies of Directors

EERRE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. LIE Haiquan (“Dr. Lie”), aged 56, was appointed as a
non-executive Director on 31 May 2017 and redesignated as an
executive Director on 1 April 2020. Dr. Lie is also the Chairman
of the Board. He obtained a Master’'s degree of Business
Administration from The University of Western Sydney in 2001.
He also received Honorary Doctorate degree of Management
from Lincoln University in 2016.

Dr. Lie’s personal investments cover real estate, hotel, tourism,
finance, high technology and new energy industries, with
operations in both China and Hong Kong. Dr. Lie is a member of
the 11th, 12th and 13th Guangzhou Provincial Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference, an executive
committee of ERE L H%EE A2 (Guangdong Federation
of Industry & Commerce®), the honorary president of Hong
Kong Guangdong Chamber of Foreign Investors, an executive
vice president of It RERM®FEE (Guangdong Corporation
Chamber of Commerce in Beijing®) and an executive vice
president of Asian College of Knowledge Management.

Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 58, was
appointed as an executive Director on 21 June 2013 and
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer on
20 March 2014. He was re-designated as Deputy Chairman
of the Board on 31 May 2017. He is also a member of the
nomination committee and the remuneration committee of
the Company. Mr. Cheung graduated from the Department of
Thermal Engineering of Tsinghua University and the Sun Yat-sen
Business School with a bachelor degree in engineering and a
master degree in business administration respectively.

Mr. Cheung was engaged in trade between Mainland and Hong
Kong in his early years. He had served as deputy manager in
Strategic Development Department of Guangdong Investment
Limited, a company listed on the Exchange, while he was also a
director of Guangdong Tannery Limited, a company listed on the
Exchange.

Mr. Cheung previously served as the managing director of CL
China Group Limited and the general manager of Coastland
Development (Int’l) Co., Limited, both are engaged in investment
in securities and real estate.

*
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. XU Gang (“Mr. Xu”), aged 48, was appointed as an
executive Director on 17 June 2015. He graduated from
School of Economics and Management, Tsinghua University
with an executive master degree of business administration in
2006. He obtained his double bachelor’'s degree from Beijing
University of Technology in 1995 Mr. Xu is the general manager
of BERFEBHEE B QA (Guangdong Bluesea Mobile
Development Co., Ltd.") ( Bluesea Mobile”). He has extensive
experience in the strategy planning, operation, marketing and
capital management of international high-tech enterprises and
the strategy management, risk management and concentrative
management of large financial institutions. Prior to joining
Bluesea Mobile, Mr. Xu served as the general manager of
business intelligence division of R & (F ) KU RFERA
A] (Oracle (China) Software System Company Limited*).

Mr. TAO Wei (“Mr. Tao”), aged 41, was appointed as an
executive Director on 22 June 2017. He graduated from the
Department of Automation Engineering of Nanchang University
with a bachelor’s degree in industrial automation in 1999.
He was certified as a registered system engineer by National
Automation System Engineer Accreditation Office of Chinese
Automation Association in 2007. He was recognised as a senior
project manager by the Office of Computer Information System
Integration Qualification Certification of Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology in 2008.

Mr. Tao is a supervisor of ZRIIT M AIZFEE R GR A 7
(Shenzhen Hechuang Huateng Technology Company Limited®).
He served as a deputy general manager of SEHI&EEER A
Al (Inspur Group Guangdong Company*) from April 2015 to
September 2016, where he was in charge of business of cloud
computing, big data and software and system integration.
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Biographies of Directors

EERRE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. ZHANG Zihua (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 45, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 20 September
2016. He is also the chairman of each of the audit committee,
nomination committee and the remuneration committee of
the Company. He holds a Graduate Diploma of Chartered
Accounting from The Institute of Chartered Accountants
in Australia and New Zealand and a Degree of Bachelor
of Economics in Accounting from Guangdong University
of Technology. He is a fellow member of the CPA Australia
and a member of The Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia
and New Zealand and the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. He is also Justice of the Peace for New South
Wales in Australia.

Mr. Zhang was a partner of Addsum Accountants Pty
Ltd (“Addsum”) until 13 March 2020. Before joining
Addsum, he has worked in public practice at KPMG and
PricewaterhouseCoopers in Australia, China and Europe for
over 17 years. He participated in a wide range of auditing, initial
public offering and due diligence projects to a wide portfolio
of private and multinational companies operating in Australia,
Europe, mainland China, and Hong Kong.

Ms. Xl Lina, aged 37, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 16 May 2014. She is also a member
of each of the audit committee, nomination committee and
remuneration committee of the Company. She graduated with
a degree in economics and international trade from Zhejiang
University of Finance and Economics and holds a master of
science in banking and international finance from the City
University, London. She has extensive experience in economics
and futures market.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. HUANG Zhixiong, aged 57, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 13 May 2015. He is also
a member of the audit committee of the Company. He holds
a doctoral degree in business management He is the senior
advisor of BRZEmMEI AR (Institute of Guangdong
South China Science and Technmogy Capital*) and was
appointed as the extramural tutor of the master programme
of professional accounting of the South China University of
Technology in November 2015. He was also appointed as
a member of the Advisory Board of the Faculty of Business
of City University of Macau in January 2017. Mr. Huang
obtained the Independent Director Qualification awarded by
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in January 2015 and obtained
the Board Secretary Qualification awarded by the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange in April 2015. Mr. Huang was certified with
(1) the Securities Certificate Level Il in 2005, (2) the Securities
Institutions Senior Management Personnel Qualification in
2003, (3) the Securities Investment Fund Qualification and
Securities and Futures Qualification in 2002, (4) the Securities
Investment Analysis Qualification in 2001, (5) the Securities
Trading Brokerage Qualification and Securities Issuance and
Underwriting Qualification in 2000, and (6) the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange Initial National Debt and Futures Qualification in
1994. He obtained the Intermediate Economist Title awarded
by National Ministry of Personnel in 1994. Mr. Huang is
currently the Chairman of the board and the Managing Director
of Guangdong Shunna Electric Co., Ltd (Formerly named
Guangdong Macro Co., Ltd., company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (stock code: 000533)), in which he was the
vice chairman from August 2013 to July 2016.

*

for identification purpose only

Biographies of Directors

EEEE
B IFMITES (8)

ESBEE ST R _ZT-RAFHAT=
HEZERBUFATEST KT /ARA
LEREREBEIKE-REBEAEIRNEEBL
B -HRAEREAMREAN RS RE
AER-F-—AF+ - AERBRERETX
BEXEFRIRINEM-FIAIR _F—+
F-AEBRRPIMTAZHERERZEZ B
BB -BEAER_FT-RHE— AERII
ﬂ%*%%?%ﬁj%$ﬁ%&%:§—ﬂ
FOARRNELRGAETEEEWEE
B-BRENR-_ZZRFREFZEKT
TRBE QR _ZZE=-FEISFHESR
EEABERER QR _ZTE_FEES
REECUEERMBFHERRER )

R-FZ-FEIHFREDMUEEXER (B
R-TETTFERIFHFIHGELEREERLE

FEITHABREEBR MR —NLILEF
ERYNEBELFRZPEHEEHENEES-
TR — NN FEBRRAEIBR T 2RRL
AR A RES - BEERBERIEMNE
RBRMDERAR(AIBABRBERERN
BRAR —HRFYNBELEZ S ETHAE
BRERFT:000533) 2 EER HR T —=
ﬂzj\ﬂi_Y /\itﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂi”%%%"

* EHES)

Annual Report 2019 —E— AL £ 3]

19



20

Report of the Directors

EEEHS

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and
the principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 43 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December 2019 and
the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2019 are
set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 79 to
238.

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”), pursuant to which the Company may distribute
dividends to the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) by way of cash or shares. Any distribution of
dividends shall be in accordance with the Articles of Association
of the Company. In proposing any dividend payout, the Board
shall also take into account, inter alia, the following factors:

° the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;
° shareholders’ interests;

° retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company and each of the other members of the Group;

° the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on
equity and financial covenants to which the Group is
subject;

o possible effects on the Group'’s creditworthiness;

° any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be
imposed by the Group’s lenders;
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS (Continued)

° the Group’s expected working capital requirements and
future expansion plans;

° liquidity position and future commitments at the time of
declaration of dividend;

o taxation considerations;

° statutory and regulatory restrictions;

o general business conditions and strategies; and
° other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution proportion or distribution ratio. The declaration,
payment and amount of dividends will be subject to the Board’s
discretion and there is no assurance that a dividend will be
proposed or declared in any specific periods. The Board will
review the Dividend Policy on a regular basis or as required.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2019.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group made
approximately HK$18,000 charitable donations (2018:
HK$32,000).
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Report of the Directors

EEEHS

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the identity of the shareholders to attend and
vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
to be held on Tuesday, 16 June 2020 (‘AGM”), the register
of members of the Company will be closed from Wednesday,
10 June 2020 to Tuesday, 16 June 2020, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In
order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers
of shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and
transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited at Level
54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 9 June 2020.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages
239 to 240. This summary does not form part of the audited
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review, analysis using financial key performance
indicators and future development in the Company’s business of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in
the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 5 to 15 of
this annual report.

The environmental policies and performance, compliance with
relevant laws and regulations and relationships with employees
are also discussed under section headed “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” on pages 54 to 69.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Risk Areas Risks Description
[\ B SB35 2| B i 3
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Strategic Risks
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single business segment
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The revenue of the Group
was mainly generated
from the segment sale of

telecommunication products

and services. This is high
concentration of a single

business segment. In case of
any dispute and/or breakup

with relevant customers,

sales of the Group could be

significantly affected.
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According to the management, although sale

of telecommunication products and services is

the single largest business segment within the
Group, it consists of different lines of products and
services, including mobile phones, large-scaled
telecommunication equipment, IDC services, Wi-Fi,
system integration and value-added Internet services
and software development, while different types of
customers are served.
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In addition, the Group is seeking opportunity in other
business field by acquiring and/or cooperating with
other companies.
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Therefore, the management considered the risk

of concentration of a single business segment is
minimal.
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EEEHS
BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(Continued)
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Risk Areas Risks Description Risk Response
3 B 2B 35 L B 8 [ B R
Operational Risks System Failure due to
ZIERE R disaster
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The construction of the
Group’s Internet Data Center
(“IDC”) in Guangzhous Lotus
Hill and Guangzhous Nanxiang
were completed and its trial
run was started during the
year ended 31 December
2017 and 31 December 2019,
respectively. The server room
is a very important asset to
the Group. It may suffer from
natural disaster such as power
outage, fire, etc.
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Critical computer systems and
equipment may be severely
damaged or destroyed in the
event of disaster. In addition,
backup data may not be
available for processing and
recovery purpose.
BEEMESRLREBMEE
KEARGRIBEHEN
SR o L ON - 1D BB AT BE R
SEETTRIE RIRIE

As a result, the Company’s
ability to conduct business
may be significantly impaired
resulting in revenue deduction.
FSYEARANYNCIEF -S4
TEAISS R ETE-
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According to the management, the IDC has
emergency power system which is an independent
source of electric power to the IDC in case of the
loss of normal power supply. This standby power
system is run by fuel. It protects the IDC from the
consequences of loss of primary electric power
supply.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(Continued)

Risk Areas
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Risks Description
| B 4 4k

Report of the Directors

EEEHE

E 50 EE (@)

FTERBETEERZE (#)

Risk Response
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Compliance Risks
AR E R

Risk of non-compliance

regulations

TE RSB EG R ER S

HNAER AR

There are a number of
regulations that are related
to the Group’s operations,

including laws and regulations
in relation to money lending,

personal data collection
and employment (such as
Employee Compensation,
Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes, documents filing
to the Inland Revenue
Department), etc.

HARBZEBBNERR
Z BRERE - BEASEK
SLER (NEEHE & H
HEREEE MRERFE
X ) FHERERE DI FOER

If the Group is unaware of
the change in rules and

regulations, the Group would

be exposed to the risk of

legal or regulatory sanctions,
material financial loss or loss

of reputation.

i A £R B SR R A BR A DI )2
ERNER AEBBRZX
BRIEEHER BAMBERKX

FBEZBENER-

with the changing law and

The Group has currently engaged an external legal
advisor to update the management on changes in
rules and regulations.

REBREERE —BINDERBEB AN MOER
MBS EREENHA-

Moreover, employees are encouraged to attend
training courses and seminars that are related to their
duties. Cost of the training courses and seminars are
reimbursable.

AN - BB B 22 00 R 1% S5 B 5 4R R 0 3R B AR AR I
Mt - BIRERATGNER KL FEN-
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

During the year under review, as far as the Board and
management are aware, there was no material breach of or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by
the Group that has a significant impact on the businesses and
operation of the Group.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group recognises that employees are one of the significant
assets of the Group. The Group aims to continue establishing
a caring environment to employees and emphasis the personal
development of its employees.

The Group maintains a good relationship with our customers
and suppliers. The Group aims to continue providing quality
services and consumption experiences to our customers and
establishing cooperation strategy with our suppliers.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group during the year are set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 83
to 84.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2019, the Company did not have
distributable reserves available for distribution to shareholders
of the Company (31 December 2018: HK$290,663,000). Under
the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium of the Company is distributable to the Shareholders
provided that immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in
a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business. The share premium may also be distributed
in form of fully paid bonus shares.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Movements in the Company’s share capital and share
options during the year are set out in notes 35 and 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association of the Company (the “Articles”) or the laws of the
Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company
is incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased.
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 December 2019.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of purchases and sales for the year attributable
to the Group’s major suppliers and customers are as followed:

PURCHASES
- the largest supplier 16% (2018: 37%)

- five largest suppliers combined 61% (2018: 78%)

SALES

- the largest customer 18% (2018: 31%)
- five largest customers combined 57% (2018: 68%)

None of the Directors, their associates or any Shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major suppliers
or customers noted above.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover
for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision is in force
for the benefit of the Directors as required by section 470 of
the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of Hong Kong)
when the Report of the Board of the Directors prepared by the
Directors is approved in accordance with section 391(1)(a) of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of Hong Kong).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2019, the interests or short positions of
the Directors in the securities of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”) which were notified
to the Company and the Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO, including interests or short positions
which they were deemed or taken to have under such provisions
of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein,
or which were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) relating to securities transactions by directors, to
be notified to the Company and the Exchange, were as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT EENBH 2R LRE (8
POSITIONS IN SECURITIES (Continued)
LONG POSITIONS IN THE SECURITIES OF REQREBSFZHR
THE COMPANY
Number of Approximate
Number of underlying percentage of
Name of Director Capacity shares held shares held shareholding
gl FriEEHEE BARKR
EEgE &5 RO E RGBEE Aokt
(Note 2)
(PF3E2)
Dr. LIE Haiquan Beneficial owner 2,209,072,000 9,000,000 23.29%
5 /gREE L+ EREAA
Interest in controlled
corporations (Note 1) 2,091,923,357 - 21.97%
I AE 2 EwE (M)
Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai  Beneficial owner = 18,000,000 0.19%
REBRTE EH¥EAA
Mr. XU Gang Beneficial owner 1,422,000 6,000,000 0.08%
TR EE EnlEAA
Interest of spouse (Note 3) 72,000 - Negligible
B B s (MIEES) A] 2B 5T
Mr. TAO Wei Beneficial owner - 6,000,000 0.06%
FEIE S & EnEA A
Mr. ZHANG Zihua Beneficial owner - 1,000,000 0.01%
RFE EH¥EAA
(ZHANG Zihua) %t &
Ms. Xl Lina Beneficial owner = 1,000,000 0.01%
EEMZ+ BEREAA
Mr. HUANG Zhixiong Beneficial owner - 1,000,000 0.01%
Ey i e EREAA
* for identification purpose only * EREE
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SECURITIES (Continued)

LONG POSITIONS IN THE SECURITIES OF
THE COMPANY (Continued)

Notes:

1. 2,055,887,357 shares and 36,036,000 shares are held by Winner
Mind Investments Limited (“Winner Mind”) and Golden Ocean
Assets Management Limited respectively; both companies are
wholly-owned by Dr. LIE Haiquan. Thus, he was deemed to be
interested in these 2,091,9283,357 shares pursuant to the SFO.

2. These underlying shares are derived from the share options
granted by the Company.

3. Mr. Xu is interested in 72,000 shares of the Company held by his
spouse, Ms. YANG Jintong.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors did not have any other
interests or short positions in the securities of the Company as
at 31 December 2019.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 19 December 2012, the Company adopted a new share
option scheme (the “New Scheme”) as the share option
scheme adopted on 22 July 2002 (the “Old Scheme”) expired
on 21 July 2012. The purpose of the share option schemes is
to provide incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the share option schemes include Directors of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, independent non-executive
Directors and employees of the Group, and suppliers of goods
or services to the Group. Upon the expiration of the Old
Scheme, share options granted under the Old Scheme remained
outstanding until they lapse in accordance with the terms of the
Old Scheme.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The maximum number of shares available for issue under the
New Scheme was refreshed at the annual general meeting of
the Company held on 29 May 2018, pursuant to which the
Directors were authorised to grant options carrying rights to
subscribe for up to a maximum number of 952,218,434 Shares,
which represented 10% of the total issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of that meeting. Subsequent to that
meeting and during the year ended 31 December 2019, no
share options were granted under the New Scheme.

As at 31 December 2019, the total number of outstanding
share options granted under the New Scheme and Old Scheme
is 325,200,000 and 6,840,000 respectively, representing
approximately 3.42% and 0.07% of the Shares in issue as at
31 December 2019.

Details of the Company’s share option schemes are set out in
note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as those disclosed in the sections headed “Share
Option Scheme” in this Directors’ Report and also note 36 to
the consolidated financial statements, no other equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Group or existed during
the year ended 31 December 2019.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Directors’ Interests
and Short Positions in Securities” and “Share Option Scheme”
above, at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company or any other corporate granted to any Directors, their
respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were
such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, or any
of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors, their respective spouse or children under 18 years of
age to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this
report were:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. LIE Haiquan (redesignated from non-executive Director to
executive Director on 1 April 2020)

Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai

Mr. XU Gang

Mr. TAO Wei

Mr. ZHANG Bo (resigned on 30 August 2019)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. ZHANG Zihua
Ms. Xl Lina
Mr. HUANG Zhixiong

Pursuant to Article 87(1) of the Articles, at each annual general
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire
from office by rotation provided that the chairman of the Board
and/or the managing director of the Company shall not, whilst
holding such office, be subject to retirement by rotation or be
taken into account in determining the number of Directors to
retire in each year. Accordingly, Ms. Xl Lina and Mr. HUANG
Zhixiong shall retire from office and eligible for re-election at the
AGM.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company are set out
on pages 16 to 19 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at
AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

*for identification purpose only
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 46 to the financial statements, no
significant transaction, arrangements and contracts in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly
subsisted at the year-end or at any time during the year.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER
THE SFO

So far is known to the Directors, as at 31 December 2019, other
than the interests of Directors as disclosed above, shareholders
who had interests or short positions in the securities of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
who were deemed to be directly and indirectly interested in 5%
or more of the issued share capital of the Company, or which
were recorded in the register of interests required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as
follows:
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LONG POSITIONS L)
Number of Approximate
shares/underlying percentage of
Name Nature of interests shares held shareholding
REaERG, BARFR
HmE EEMEE HERGOEE BotE
Winner Mind (Note) Beneficial owner 2,055,887,357 21.59%

Winner Mind ( B 5%) BEm#EE A

Note: Winner Mind is wholly-owned by Dr. LIE Haiquan, a non-executive
Director.

B : Winner Mind H3EVITE S5 8B+ 28
HA -
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or any of their respective close associates
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) has an interest in a
business which competes or may compete with the business of
the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company had entered into a consultancy service agreement
with Honford Limited (the “Consultancy Service Agreement”)
for the provision of consultancy services to the Company for
which a total fee of HK$858,000 was paid during the year
ended 31 December 2019. As Honford Limited is wholly-owned
by Ms. TO Siu Mui, the spouse of Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai, an
executive Director. As such, Honford Limited is connected
person of the Company under the GEM Listing Rules.

Since the above transaction is conducted on normal commercial
terms and the applicable percentage ratios thereof are less than
0.1%, the Consultancy Service Agreement and the transaction
contemplated thereunder are exempt from the reporting,
announcement, annual review and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

The related party transactions, except compensation of
key management personnel, disclosed in note 45 to the
consolidated financial statements constituted connected
transactions under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Corporate governance report of the Company is set out on
pages 36 to 53 of the annual report.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company maintained a sufficient public float as
required under the GEM Listing Rules during the year ended
31 December 2019.

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited (“HLB”). The term of appointment of
HLB as auditor of the Company shall expire at the conclusion
of the AGM. A resolution will be submitted to the AGM for the
reappointment of HLB as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
LIE Haiquan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 12 May 2020
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Corporate Governance Report
EXERRE

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE ON
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles and the code provisions as set out in the Code
on Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”) as set out in
Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. The principles adopted
by the Company emphasis a quality board, transparency and
accountability to shareholders. In the opinion of the Board,
the Company has complied with the Code for the year ended
31 December 2019, with the exception for the following
deviations:

Under code provision A.4.1, non-executive Directors should
be appointed for specific term. There is no specific term of
appointment of the non-executive Directors; however, they are
subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the articles
of association of the Company (“Articles”) and the Code.
Accordingly, the Company considers that sufficient measures
have been taken to deal with the requirement in respect of the
appointment terms of non-executive Directors as required under
the Code.

Under code provision D.1.4, the Company should have formal
letters of appointment for Directors setting out the key terms and
conditions of their appointment. Except for Mr. CHEUNG Sing
Tai, the Company did not have formal letters of appointment for
Directors. However, the Directors shall be subject to retirement
by rotation in accordance with the Articles. In addition, the
Directors are required to refer to the guidelines set out in “A
Guide on Directors’ Duties” issued by the Companies Registry
and “Guidelines for Directors” and “Guide for Independent
Non-executive Directors” (if applicable) published by the Hong
Kong Institute of Directors in performing their duties and
responsibilities as Directors. Besides, the Directors are required
to comply with the requirements under statute and common law,
the GEM Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements
and the Company’s business and governance policies.
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CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company had adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting
than the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to
5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company also had made
specific enquiry of all Directors and the Company was not aware
of any non-compliance with the required standard of dealings
and its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
Directors during the year ended 31 December 2019.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of accounts, which shall give a true and fair view
of the financial position of the Group and of the financial
performance and cash flows of the Group for that year.
Details of the basis of preparation of financial statements are
set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.
The Board is also responsible for formulating the Group’s
long term strategy, determining and approving the Group’s
significant transactions and supervising the management to
ensure thorough implementation of the Group’s policies and
effective performance of their duties. Other decisions are to be
delegated to management. As at 31 December 2019, the Board
comprised seven Directors, including three executive Directors,
one non-executive Director and three independent non-executive
Directors. The executive Directors are Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai,
Mr. XU Gang and Mr. TAO Wei. The non-executive Director
is Dr. LIE Haiguan. The independent non-executive Directors
are Mr. ZHANG Zihua, Ms. Xl Lina and Mr. HUANG Zhixiong.
Biographies of the existing Directors are set out on pages 16 to
19.

*
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EEERWE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2019, seven Board
meetings were held. Details of the attendance of the Directors
are as follows:

EED (4

REBEZE_ZE-NF+_A=+—HILFER
BRTELREEEEZ -EFHFEFBEUT:

Directors’
Name of the Directors Attendance
EsnE EESHESR
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai SREREA 7/7
Mr. XU Gang wEEE 7/7
Mr. TAO Wei (el esites 7/7
Mr. ZHANG Bo (resigned on 30 August 2019) REEE(RZZE—LFENA=TH 3/4

BHE)

Non-executive Director FHITES
Dr. LIE Haiquan H BT 6/7
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHITES
Mr. ZHANG Zihua B F#* (ZHANG Zihua) 5t 4 77
Ms. Xl Lina Bt 6/7
Mr. HUANG Zhixiong ELERE 7/7

Under code provision A.4.1, non-executive Directors
should be appointed for specific term. There is no specific
term of appointment of the non-executive Directors of the
Company; however, they are subject to retirement by rotation
in accordance with the Articles. Accordingly the Company
considers that sufficient measures have been taken to deal
with the requirement in respect of the appointment terms of
non-executive Directors as required under the code provision.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made
an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all
independent non-executive Directors meet the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and are
independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines. The
Board held a board meeting for each quarter to discuss and
approve the Group’s results. The then board members attended
the meetings.

*

for identification purpose only
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the Code, all directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional
development and provided a record of training they received for
the financial year ended 31 December 2019 to the Company.
The Company has also continuously updated Directors on
the latest developments regarding the GEM Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements, to ensure compliance
and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance
practices.

The individual training record of each Director received for the
year ended 31 December 2019 is summarized below:

EXERKRE

EF 27

REBTRIZTAGEXEALSK 2BEEY
ASNFEEXRRR BEREEMEMNE N
Kee NEREEAGEEEARIGAE
MIERTHEESIELER -

MEEEVE2NKHEEERER LAAR
AREEENBEE_T—NAF+=_A=1+—
BB RFERAEIEI L8k AR AN
N REFRTEAEGEM LR AR EAME
REEMRERNBERZIEN BRIFET
REBRTHRRIFEEERER

RE-F-—NF+_A=+—ALFE &
#F A A BT

Attending or
participating

in seminars/
workshops
reading materials
relevant to roles,
functions, and
duties of a listed
company director

HEH2
e HmEE
MEABLTAR
BEEAG BER
Name of Directors EENA B E R
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai RERLAE v
Mr. XU Gang TREEE v
Mr. TAO Wei el et v
Non-executive Director FEHITES
Dr. LIE Haiquan H BT v
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. ZHANG Zihua ok FZE* (ZHANG Zihua) 5t 4 v
Ms. XI Lina BNt v
Mr. HUANG Zhixiong ELERE v
*for identification purpose only < (EBHREF
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EEERWE

GENERAL MEETING

During the year ended 31 December 2019, one general meeting,
being the 2019 annual general meeting of the Company (“2019
AGM”) was held on 7 May 2019.

BRAE

RBEE_ZT—NF+-_A=+—BLFE"
AAREBRIT-ARERG PR =_ZF—A
FREATHABTZ-_ZE—hAhEFREBFAY
([ZB-NERRBEAE])-

Directors’
Name of the Directors Attendance
EEnE EESHE=R
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai RERILAE 1/1
Mr. XU Gang wEEE 11
Mr. TAO Wei (el esite 11
Mr. ZHANG Bo (resigned on 30 August 2019) FEEE (RZE-—NENA=TAH 11

BH1E)

Non-executive Director FHITES
Dr. LIE Haiquan e REE 1/1
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHTES
Mr. ZHANG Zihua ok T2+ (ZHANG Zihua) %t & 1/1
Ms. Xl Lina Bt 11
Mr. HUANG Zhixiong ELERE 11

The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue
with shareholders and in particular, uses annual general
meetings or other general meetings to communicate with them
and encourage their participation. The executive Directors
and the chairmen of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee attended the 2019
AGM to answer questions and collect views of shareholders.

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFEEEEEFR LA
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BOARD COMMITTEES

To assist the Board in discharging of its duties, the Board is
supported by three board committees. Each committee has
its defined scope of duties and terms of reference and the
committee members are empowered to make decisions on
matters within the terms of reference of each committee.

1. AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28
to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties of
the Audit Committee are (a) to review the Group’s annual
reports, interim reports and quarterly reports; (b) to discuss
and review with the auditor of the Company on the scope
and findings of the audit; and (c) to supervise the financial
reporting process, risk management and internal control
systems of the Group.

The Audit Committee consists of three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. ZHANG Zihua, Ms. XI
Lina and Mr. HUANG Zhixiong. The chairman of the Audit
Committee is Mr. ZHANG Zihua, who possesses extensive
experience in finance and accounting.

The Audit Committee held five meetings during the year
to review the Group’s audited annual results for the year
ended 31 December 2018 and the unaudited quarterly
and interim results for the year ended 31 December 2019,
which is of the opinion that the preparation of such results
complied with the applicable accounting standards and
requirements and that adequate disclosure have been
made. The Audit Committee also reviewed the internal
control systems of the Company and considered the
engagement of professionals in relation to the internal
control and environmental, social and governance
reporting requirements under the GEM Listing Rules.

*
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

*

AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued) 1. EZXZEE (@)
Details of the members’ attendance of the Audit EZZEgLRNKENEFBET
Committee meetings are as follows:

Members’
Name of the Members Attendance
REHA REHER
Mr. ZHANG Zihua iR FEE* (ZHANG Zihua) 7t 4 5/5
Ms. Xl Lina EEPLZ+ 4/5
Mr. Huang Zhixiong EEELEE 5/5

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Remuneration
Committee according to the relevant provisions of the
GEM Listing Rules with written terms of reference. Its
primary duties are (a) to make recommendation to the
Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all
remuneration of Directors and senior management; (b)
to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals
and objectives; and (c) to determine the remuneration
packages on individual executive Directors and senior
management.

The Remuneration Committee consists of one executive
Director and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. ZHANG Zihua (as chairman), Mr. CHEUNG
Sing Tai and Ms. Xl Lina as members.

for identification purpose only
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

2.

*

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

During the year under review, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting to review the remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management.

Details of the members’ attendance of the Remuneration
Committee meetings are as follows:

EXERKRE

Members’
Name of the Members Attendance
MEHKHE B HER
Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai REERAEA 1/
Ms. Xl Lina Bt 11
Mr. ZHANG Zihua ok T~ (ZHANG Zihua) 7t & 1/1

The executive Directors are considered to be senior
management of the Company. The emoluments payable
to them are determined by the Remuneration Committee
based on their qualifications, experience and the prevailing
market conditions. Details of the remuneration of the
Directors are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a Nomination Committee
on 28 March 2013 with written terms of reference in
accordance with requirements of the Exchange. The
Nomination Committee shall comprise at least three
members with a majority of independent non-executive
Directors, and the Chairman of the Board or an
independent non-executive Director should take up the
role of chairman of the Nomination Committee. The
Nomination Committee currently consists of one executive
Director, Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai, and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. ZHANG Zihua (as
chairman) and Ms. X| Lina. The terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee is currently made available on the
websites of the Exchange and the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

3.

*

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

Terms of reference adopted by the Nomination Committee
are aligned with the code provisions set out in the Code.

The functions of the Nomination Committee are to review
and monitor the structure, size and composition of the
Board and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement of the Group’s
strategy; to identify qualified individuals to become
members of the Board; to assess the independence
of independent non-executive Directors; and to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors, in particular the Chairman and the Chief
Executive.

The Board adopted on 30 August 2013 a board diversity
policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) and delegated certain
duties under the Policy to the Nomination Committee. The
Nomination Committee and the Board had also reviewed
on 21 March 2019 the structure of the Board and is of
the opinion the Board consisted of members with different
gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills and knowledge,
which met the requirements under the terms of the Board
Diversity Policy.

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee
held one meeting to (1) review the Board composition,
(2) review the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors and (3) consider the re-election of
retiring Directors.

Details of the members’ attendance of the Nomination
Committee meeting are as follows:

#
BT RIMR 2 HE -

REZBEZBEARIMEEESS
ZHRE - RENEKR RMEZFGRUME
MENEZNEEAREERRE VEA
EMABLBTESENE FFEBEYF
HITER BN MHEERENZE
TEFMESF (BRIRER RITHAL)
METHEINESTSRMHES

EEgRN_T—=FN\A=THRHE
FeZUEBR (EEESTRE])
YUHERRAEATHNETHREZERES
ZEE-RAZBGREFETIN_F
—NAE=ZA-t+-—HRIEFTEZIR
B UYRREETEH IR Fie X
ERBEES Bk FELR Wk
Mz BHEK ENEEFTEZ T
B AR 2 T

REBFEAN - REZBECHET KX
TRANBRIEFE2HER QBRTE
VIFRTESFZB LM REQ)ZEEMLE
ERERBE

REZEGERMNKNEBHFEFBEHT

Members’
Name of the Members Attendance
REHA REHER
Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai RERILA 1/1
Ms. XI Lina EB Lt 1/1
Mr. ZHANG Zihua 3R T * (ZHANG Zihua) %4 1/1
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of the financial statements of the Group and ensure
that the financial statements are prepared in accordance with
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
The Directors also ensure the timely publication of the financial
statements of the Group.

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately HK$115,643,000
(2018: net loss of approximately HK$126,995,000) for the
year ended 31 December 2019. As at 31 December 2019,
the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
approximately HK$959,888,000 (2018: HK$443,746,000). In the
opinion of the Directors, the Group is able to maintain itself as
a going concern in the coming year by taking into consideration
that:

(i)  the cash flow projections can be achieved that the
Group would have sufficient working capital to finance its
operation and to meet its financial obligations when they
fall due within the next twelve months from the end of the
reporting period;

(i)  the net assets of the Group of approximately
HK$1,187,146,000 (2018: HK$1,325,164,000), the
Group should be able to secure additional loan facilities, if
necessary;

(i)  bank loans with carrying amount of approximately
HK$802,454,000 (2018: HK$281,413,000) as at
31 December 2019 that are repayable more than one
year after the end of the reporting period pursuant to the
repayment schedule included in the loan agreements, with
a repayment on demand clause, has been classified as
current liability as at 31 December 2019 in accordance
with Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause.
Taking into account the Group’s financial position and the
security provided to the bank, the Directors believe that the
bank will not exercise its discretionary rights to demand
immediate repayment. The Directors believe that the bank
loans will be repaid in accordance with the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements; and
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EXERRE

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

(iv) bank loans with carrying amount of approximately
HK$223,500,000 (2018: HK$223,244,000) as at
31 December 2019 that is repayable within one year
after the end of the reporting period, will be refinanced
with China Construction Bank Corporation (“CCB”)
upon maturity since the Group has a 10-year unutilised
banking facilities of approximately HK$517,296,000 (2018:
HK$1,169,753,000) granted by CCB as at 31 December
2019.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors confirm that, to the
best of their knowledge, information and belief, having made
all reasonable enquiries, they are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The corporate governance functions were performed by the
Board.

The corporate governance functions are to develop and
review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance to comply with the Code and other legal or
regulatory requirements, to oversee the Company’s orientation
program for new Director, to review and monitor the training
and continuous professional development of Directors and
senior management, to develop, review and monitor the code of
conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees
and Directors, and to review the Company’s disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2019, the Board
held one meeting for reviewing the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and the Company’s
compliance with the Code for the year ended 31 December
2018 and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The responsibility statement of external auditor of the
Company, HLB, about their reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements of the Group is set out in the Independent
Auditors’ Report on pages 70 to 78. During the year, auditor’s
remuneration for audit services was HK$980,000 and non-audit
services for review of financial statements for the six months
ended 30 June 2019 was HK$200,000. Save as disclosed
above, there was no other significant non-audit services
assignment undertaken by the external auditor during the year.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. YUEN Poi Lam William (“Mr. Yuen”), the representative of
Proficient Skill Limited, was appointed as the named Company
Secretary of the Company. His primary corporate contact person
at the Company is Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai, the chief executive
officer of the Company.

In compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules, Mr. Yuen
has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
during the year ended 31 December 2019.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communications between the shareholders and the Board.
An annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in each
year and at the place as may be determined by the Board. Each
general meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be
called an extraordinary general meeting.

SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

Shareholders may convene an extraordinary general meeting
of the Company according to the provisions as set out in the
Articles and The Companies Law (2013 Revision) of the Cayman
Islands. The procedures shareholders can use to convene an
extraordinary general meeting are set out in the document
entitled “Procedures for a Shareholder to Propose a Person
for Election as a Director”, which is currently available on the
Company’s website.
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EXERRE

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (Continued)

PUTTING ENQUIRIES BY SHAREHOLDERS TO
THE BOARD

To ensure effective communications between the Board and
the shareholders and the investment community at large, the
Company’s information is communicated to the shareholders
and the investment community mainly through the Company’s
financial reports (quarterly reports, interim reports and annual
reports), and its corporate communications and other corporate
publications on the Company’s website and the Exchange’s
website. Shareholders and the investment community may
at any time make a request for the Company’s information
to the extent such information is publicly available. Any such
questions shall be first directed to the Company Secretary at the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS BY SHAREHOLDERS AT
SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING

The number of members necessary for a requisition for putting
forward a proposal at a general meeting shall be:

(@ any number of members holding not less than
one-twentieth (5%) of the paid-up capital of the Company
as at the date of the requisition carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company; or

(b)  not less than one hundred members.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (Continued)

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS BY SHAREHOLDERS AT
SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING (Continued)

A copy or copies of requisition signed by all requisitionists shall
be deposited, with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the
Company’s expenses in giving notice of the proposed resolution
or circulating any necessary statement, at the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong in the case of:—

(i) a requisition requiring notice of a resolution, not less than
six weeks before the meeting; and

(i) any other requisition, not less than one week before the
meeting.

The Company will verify the requisition and upon confirming that
the requisition is proper and in order, the Board will proceed
with the necessary procedures.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the year ended 31 December 2019.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Board recognises the importance of good communications
with all shareholders. The Company’s general meeting is a
valuation forum for the Board to communicate directly with
the shareholders. The Chairman of the Board as well as the
chairman of each of the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee together with the
external auditor are present to answer shareholders’ questions.
The annual report together with annual general meeting circular
is distributed to all the shareholders at least 20 clear business
days before the annual general meeting.
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VOTING BY POLL

Pursuant to Rule 17.47(4) of the GEM Listing Rules, any vote of
shareholders at a general meeting must be taken by poll except
where the chairman, in good faith, decides to allow a resolution
which relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter to
be voted on by a show of hands.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for monitoring the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group on
an ongoing basis and review their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss.

The management of the Group updates and reports the key
risk areas, including any remedial plans, if deemed necessary
or appropriate, to the Audit Committee for consideration. The
identified key risk areas and the appropriate risk mitigation
strategies were reviewed and commented by the Board at its
meeting annually.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducted review
of both design and implementation effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2019, covering all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls, with
a view to ensuring that resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Group’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions are
adequate. In this respect, the Audit Committee communicates
any material issues to the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group appointed
BT Corporate Governance Limited (“BTCGL”) to independently
perform internal control review and assess the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control systems.

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFEEEEEFR LA

AR BT RR

BIEGEM LB ANFEI7T47TAIEZ R TE BE
FBUREEBZRAMIIRTE AFdrE
HAREFRITREEZRZEUBFHIARR
SRR EBEAE EATEZ T RRNE
AR EF T

& 5 1 K A BB B 4R

E=ZeNBHEAEIRFEREEERER
5 B\ b B IR K YR ER % R AT B B EL AR o
RERGEEEEMIFERREEEKRER R
FHEkE BETRERRERMNEERE
& R IEAE ET RO IR FE ©

AEEHEEEEEERRLESEEREN
EHET2EREE (RFRIMHKEE) -
UHEZZEGER -EFQCNEFES
LB CETEIEREMEBENIEENER
AR AL B IRH B R -

BE_T-NF+-_A=t—HULEHFE &
FeEBELZEERFNAKEAREER
NHEERGNRTREEKRR RERE
BEREZH BREME KEREREN §E
ERASEE S NABE & N 15 IE B
ETHAREZER BIEENER BHI
AEIRAREE -BEME BERREGE
MEAXEHEHEE=ZSRA

BE_T-NAF+-_A=+t—HLEFE &K
SEZIESREETEARAR (B8 LE
) BIETRRERRNY T EAEE
R BB IR Ry B R



Corporate Governance Report

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (Continued)

The results of the independent review and assessment were
reported to the Audit Committee and the Board. Moreover,
improvements in internal control as recommended by BTCGL to
enhance the internal control systems of the Group and mitigate
risks of the Group were adopted by the Board. Based on the
findings and recommendations of BTCGL which are being
remediated by the Group as well as the comments of the Audit
Committee, the Board considered the internal control system
effective and adequate.

OUR ENTERPRISE RISK MANAGEMENT
FRAMEWORK

The Company has established its enterprise risk management
framework in 2016. While the Board has the overall
responsibility to ensure that sound and effective internal controls
are maintained, management is responsible for designing and
implementing an internal control system to manage all kinds of
risks facing by the Group.

Through the risk identification and assessment processes, risks
are identified, assessed, prioritized and allocated treatments.
QOur risk management framework follows the COSO Enterprise
Risk Management — Integrated Framework, which allows the
Board and management to manage the risks of the Group
effectively. The Board receives regular reports through the Audit
Committee that oversees risk management and internal audit
functions.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (Continued)

OUR RISK CONTROL MECHANISM

The Group adopts a “three lines of defence” corporate
governance structure with operational management and
controls performed by operations management, coupled with
risk management monitoring carried out by the finance and
compliance team and independent internal audit outsourced
to and conducted by BTCGL. The Group maintains a risk
register to keep track of all identified major risks of the Group.
The risk register provides the Board, the Audit Committee,
and management with a profile of its major risks and records
management’s action taken to mitigate the relevant risks.
Each risk is evaluated at least annually based on its likelihood
of occurrence and potential impact upon the Group. The
risk register is updated by management as the risk owners
with addition of new risks and/or removal of existing risks, if
applicable, at least annually, after the annual risk evaluation has
been performed. This review process can ensure that the Group
proactively manages the risks faced by it in the sense that all
risk owners have access to the risk register and are aware of
and alert to those risks in their area of responsibility so that they
can take follow-up action in an efficient manner.

Our risk management activities are performed by management
on an ongoing process. The effectiveness of our risk
management framework will be evaluated at least annually, and
periodic management meeting is held to update the progress
of risk monitoring efforts. Management is committed to ensure
that risk management forms part of the daily business operation
processes in order to align risk management with corporate
goals in an effective manner.

The Company will continue to engage external independent
professionals to review the Group’s system of internal controls
and risk management annually and further enhance the Group’s
internal control and risk management systems as appropriate.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (Continued)

OUR RISK CONTROL MECHANISM (Continued)

There is currently no internal audit function within the Group.
The Directors have reviewed the need for an internal audit
function and are of the view that in light of the size, nature and
complexity of the business of the Group, it would be more
cost effective to appoint external independent professionals to
perform internal audit function for the Group in order to meet
its needs. Nevertheless, the Directors will continue to review at
least annually the need for an internal audit function.

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information according to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” published by the Securities and Future Commission
in June 2012 to ensure inside information remains confidential
until the disclosure of such information is appropriately
approved, and the dissemination of such information is efficiently
and consistently made. The Company regularly reminds the
Directors and employees about due compliance with all policies
regarding the inside information. Also, the Company keeps
Directors, senior management and employees appraised of the
latest regulatory updates. The Company shall prepare or update
appropriate guidelines or policies to ensure the compliance with
regulatory requirements.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RE HERERERSG

The Group is pleased to present its Environmental, Social and
Governance (‘ESG”) Report. The content contained herein
focuses on providing an overview of the environmental, social
and governance performance of its major operations in Hong
Kong and the PRC for the year ended 31 December 2019 (the
“Reporting Year”). This also facilitates the Group to conduct
thorough performance review and evaluation to enhance its
overall performance results in the future. The Reporting Year
coincides with our financial year.

SCOPE OF THE REPORT

This report has been prepared in accordance with the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” in
Appendix 20 to the GEM Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The report
summarizes our ESG performance of our three major business
units, namely, EIMNTEHEHEBR AR (Guangzhou Nowtop
Technology Company Limited) (‘Guangzhou Nowtop”), & 5 &7
BB R AR A F (Guangdong Bluesea Mobile Development
Co. Ltd.) (“Bluesea Mobile”) and the Company, for the
Reporting Year.

SECTION A: ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group continuously strives to insist on its current
eco-friendly measures to reduce the carbon and emission
footprints in its daily operations. The Group will continue to
further develop its eco-friendly measures and provide positive
impacts to the environment in the future. For the Reporting Year,
the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance issues
with regard to the relevant laws and regulations related to the
environment.
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EMISSIONS

Air emissions, including nitrogen oxides (“NO)”"), sulphur
oxides (“SOy”) and particulate matter (“PM”), are the key air
pollutants which are mainly produced by the usage of stationary
combustion source and automobile fuel. As the principal
activities of the Group are sale of telecommunications products
and services, there was no material gaseous fuel consumption
involved in the business operation. Hence, air emissions
produced by the Group is minimal.

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions

Greenhouse gas emissions are the key culprits of global
warming, significantly threatening the climate system and leading
to climate changes. To fulfill its corporate social responsibilities,
the Group strives to reduce any negative impacts of the
greenhouse gas emissions.

Although the Group does not carry out business operation
leading to emissions of greenhouse gases directly, some indirect
emission sources, including consumption of electricity, disposal
of paper waste and air business travel by its employees, could
still be identified during the Group’s operation. During the
Reporting Year, the greenhouse gas emissions amounted to
15,026 tonnes (2018: 15,324 tonnes), with a slightly decrease
of 2% compared to last year. Same as last year, the greenhouse
gas emissions of the Group were mainly due to indirect
energy consumption', which accounted for more than 99%
of the Group’s total carbon emissions. During the Reporting
Year, the total greenhouse gas emission intensity amounted
to approximately 127 tonnes per employee?® (2018: 139
tonnes). Compared to last year, the greenhouse gas emissions
intensity of Bluesea Mobile and Guangzhou Nowtop have been
significantly decreased by 13% and 33% (2018: increased by
47% and 164%) respectively during the Reporting Year.

1 Due to the change of principal place of business of the Company
in June 2019, the carbon emission factors in Hong Kong were
taken as 0.80 kgCO.e/kWh in the first half of 2019 and 0.51
kgCO.e/kWh in the second half of 2019 respectively according to
the latest data published by HK Electric Investments Limited and
CLP Holdings Limited. The carbon emission factor in the PRC
was set at 0.5912 according to the latest data published by the
Ministry of Ecology and Environment, PRC.

2 As at 31 December 2019, there were a total of 118 employees
(2018: 110 employees) from Bluesea Mobile, Guangzhou Nowtop
and the Company.
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RIE-HERERRSE

2019 GHG 2018 GHG
Business Units produced (%) produced (%) Variance
—E-hnEF ZE-NF
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However, we still strive to improve our measures so as to
further reduce the carbon and greenhouse gas footprints in
the coming years. We noticed that electricity consumption was
the greatest culprit of its greenhouse gas emissions during the
Reporting Year. Thus, during the Reporting Year, the Group has
established a company policy over the usage of lighting in the
office for raising the awareness of energy conservation among
its employees. We also encourage all employees to treasure
electricity by consistently investing in energy-efficient facilities
used in IDCs. In order to whittle down the paper usage as
well, we encourage our employee to reuse single-side-printed
paper as well as to use electronic documents instead of printed
documents in daily operations and communications. We believe
that our initiatives on environmental protection are for our better
environmental sustainability.

Environmental Investment in IDCs

The Group owns two IDCs in Guangzhou and one major IDC
is under construction. To reduce the electricity consumption
in the IDCs, the Group invested in several energy-efficient
facilities, we believe that it is not only investing our investments
in IDCs are for business purpose, but also investing for a
better environment in the future. Those energy-efficient facilities
included an air-conditioning system, which could automatically
adjust its speed according to the room temperature, and
save over 15% of energy when comparing to the traditional
air-conditioning system. A cooling tower with an efficient water
pump for cooling hot computer components was also installed.
Alike the air-conditioning system, the cooling tower could also
automatically adjust its speed according to its usage.

For the Reporting Year with more frequent business transactions,
we successfully controlled the increase in greenhouse gas
emissions at approximately only 2%. To build the sustainable
community with our stakeholders, not only should we maintain
or even further enhance our services provided by IDCs to our
customers in the future, but we would also continuously invest
in energy-efficient facilities for contributing to the reduction of
greenhouse gas emissions (For more details, please see the
section of Electricity Consumption).
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RE HERERERSG

Waste Management

The principal operating activities of the Group refer to the sale
of telecommunication products and services, which does not
produce any hazardous waste, such as chemical wastes and
clinical wastes.

Besides, for the sake of reducing the number of equipment
disposals, we perform regular maintenance of equipment located
in the IDCs and the head office so as to reduce non-hazardous
waste.

During the Reporting Year, the only significant non-hazardous
waste identified in the Group’s operations was the paper waste
which amounted to approximately 228 kg (2018: 640 kg), with
an intensity of 2 kg (2018: 6 kg) per employee. In this regard,
reducing the use of paper-printing and creating a paperless
working environment are our primary goals. We constantly
encourage our staff to use double-sided printing, and paper that
was printed on one side and did not contain any confidential
information was collected for reuse purpose. Usage of electronic
documents are encouraged to replace printed documents.
Through our continuous efforts on paperless work environment,
we have significantly reduced the paper waste by approximately
64%. We will continue to make efforts on reducing paper waste
in the coming years.

USE OF RESOURCES

The Group aims to be an environmentally sustainable enterprise
to contribute to environmental protection.
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Electricity Consumption
Total Electricity Consumption (MWh)
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During the Reporting Year, the total electricity consumption of
the Group amounted to 25,383 MWh (2018: 21,550 MWh),
with an increase of approximately 18% compared to last
year. The electricity consumption intensity increased from
196 MWh per employee last year to 215 MWh per employee
during the Reporting Year. The Group has strived for achieving
energy-saving in IDCs by utilizing natural resources to reduce
energy consumption and using eco-friendly electrical appliances.
By these means, the Group intends to reduce the carbon and
energy footprints in the coming years, aiming to build a green
and sustainable community.

The major reason for considerable increase in electricity
consumption was due to the significant business expansion
of Bluesea Mobile during the Reporting Year. Substantial
increase in the business volume generated by Bluesea Mobile
contributed to the increased electricity consumption of the IDCs.
Nonetheless, the Group was still able to minimize the impact on
the increase of electricity consumption.
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RE HERERERSG

To save and preserve energy for operation of the IDCs, the
Group continuously invested in several energy-efficient facilities,
including air-conditioning system, cooling tower with water
pump and other forms of equipment, located in the IDCs in
Guangzhou. Air-conditioning system, with Grade 2 Energy
Label, could adjust its cooling power automatically for a steady
temperature. The cooling water pump with Grade 2 Energy
Label, could adjust its speed automatically to transfer cool
water into the air-conditioner, which could maintain the room
temperature at a constant and appropriate level. Besides,
the Group advocates the usage of LED lighting in the IDCs
for energy saving purpose. In the light of these energy-saving
means, the Group believes that continuous usage of these
facilities could better monitor energy consumption along with its
business expansion in the future.

In addition, we also implemented several resource-saving
measures in the office to minimize the use of electricity. We have
fully utilized natural lighting at office in order to minimize the
use of electrical lighting so as to save energy. Strict guidelines
on usage of lighting are announced to our employees to
raise their awareness of energy conservation. Besides, usage
of energy-efficient appliances with Grade 1 Energy Label
was encouraged at office. We would keep improving our
effectiveness of electrical energy conservation as well as the
efficiency of electrical energy consumption in the coming years.

Paper Usage

Paper usage is always one of the critical concerns in the
consumption of natural resources since logging is involved in the
production of paper which affects the environment both directly
and indirectly. Paperless work environment has been promoted
and encouraged within the Group. We encourage our employees
to use electronic documents to replace printed documents, and
to collect and reuse paper that was printed on one side and did
not contain confidential information for double-sided printing
purpose. By consistently relying on these resource-saving
measures, the usage of paper was approximately 228 kg during
the Reporting Year (2018: 640 kg), with a significant decrease
of approximately 64% compared to last year. The paper usage
intensity during the Reporting Year was recorded as 2 kg per
employee (2018: 6kg).
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Water Consumption & Packaging Materials

As the Group’s operations mainly focus on providing services,
both water consumption and packaging material consumption
of the Group are not seen as having material impacts on the
environment. Nonetheless, we still remind our employees to
reduce the water consumption through posting notices in the
office. In addition, since we sourced water from governmental
bodies, there was no water-sourcing issue identified during the
Reporting Year.

THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL
RESOURCES

The Group believes that corporate development should not
come at the expense of the environment. Therefore, we have
been adopting environmental-friendly practice in various
aspects. For example, we invested in several energy-efficient
facilities located in our IDCs, and have been adopting paperless
work environment to reduce paper wastage.

SECTION B: SOCIAL

EMPLOYMENT

We believe that continued business success relies on the full
contribution and support of our talented employees. We treasure
our employees and treat them as the most valuable assets
of our Group, based on their continuous commitment and
contribution for helping us to achieve our corporate goals and
continuously lead us to attain different levels of achievements.

We advocate a harmonious and friendly work environment for
our employees. We have established a set of formal human
resources policies and procedures, which provides guidance on
the day-to-day operations, including staff recruitment, probation,
termination, promotion, retirement, transfer, performance
appraisal, salary, bonus, leave and other benefits.
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RE-HERERRE

Our Employees

As at 31 December 2019, there were a total of 118 employees
(2018: 110 employees) in Bluesea Mobile, Guangzhou Nowtop
and the Company. The number of male to female employees
maintained a healthy ratio of 2:1 as same as last year. The
Group believes that maintaining a diverse and inclusive
workforce in the coming future with respect and care given
to its employees is very critical for running a sustainable and
successful business.

Employment by Age Group
RFEERARS D WIERER

gy 2%
28%
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17%
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W 46-55

56-65

45%

During the Reporting Year, the Group maintained an average
monthly employee turnover rate of 3.30% (2018: 2.76%), with
an average turnover rate of 3.83% and 2.25% (2018: 3.38%
and 1.37%) in terms of male and female employees respectively.
We constantly value our employees and advocate team spirit
among our employees. To further strengthen the bonding of our
employees, team-building activities were held so as to enable
our employees and management to connect with each other.
With our consistent efforts in maintaining our team relationship,
we believe that we are able to maintain our team and retain our
talented employees.
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Employee Benefits

We consider our employees as the key to sustainable business
growth. Thus, we offer a comprehensive benefit package,
including mandatory retirement fund, insurance and annual
leave to attract and retain employees. Employees are entitled
to compensation on equal opportunities based on their job
performance. We also award employees with a year-end bonus
according to the employees’ and the Group’s performance.
Besides, employees’ performance appraisal is conducted on an
annual basis for determining the extent of salary increase and
the award of promotion as incentive to reward staff commitment
and contribution.

In addition, for the employees working in Guangzhou, they were
enrolled in Social Security Scheme and Housing Provident Fund
with reference to the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of
China.

The Group strictly abides with the Employment Ordinance, the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in Hong Kong,
and Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China, Social
Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China, Regulations
on Management of Housing Provident Fund in the PRC, and
other relevant laws and regulations which cover all employment
protection and benefits.

Harmonious Workspace

We strive to provide a harmonious working environment
sharing equal opportunities among all of our employees. We
have established a formal equal opportunity policy to provide
guidance to our employees on compliance with the Sex
Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 480), Disability Discrimination
Ordinance (Cap. 487), and Family Status Discrimination
Ordinance (Cap. 527), etc. so as to build a workplace free
from any harassment and discrimination. Our equal opportunity
policy applies to staff recruitment, training and development,
recognition and reward, and termination and dismissal. We
respect our employees regardless of their age, race, gender,
national origin, religion, physical condition, medical condition,
marital status and/or sexual orientation. Our employees are also
required to take all necessary actions to ensure that colleagues
would not be discriminated. For those employees acting
improperly or breaching of contract terms and code of conduct
will be terminated in order to protect the interests of the Group
and other employees. Compensations are provided when
applicable.
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RE HERERERSG

Work-life Balance of Employee

We strive to encourage work-life balance for our employees by
providing them with five-day work week, with 7.5 working hours
per day and 5 to 25 days of annual leave according to their
job positions and length of services. Overtime compensation is
offered to employees at 1.5 to 2 times of the staff basic salary.
In addition, employees are also entitled to special leaves to meet
their family’s needs, such as marriage leave, funeral leave and
maternity leave, etc.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

We are committed to building up a safe and healthy workplace
for our employees. A set of formal safety procedures has been
included in the staff handbook to give guidance to employees
and improve their responsiveness to emergencies. Employees
must report to the supervisors or department heads in a timely
manner in case of occurrence of an accident. The department
heads are responsible for ensuring that appropriate policies,
procedures and safeguard measures are implemented in
practice. For any injuries, the department heads are responsible
for providing aids, investigating and reporting the cases
immediately.

Fire extinguishers are placed in the office and several escape
signs are placed on the wall and under the ceiling for guiding
people to leave the scene of the accident in case an accident
occurs. For safety consideration, we also install manual fire
alarm system in office. Any employee could press the manual
fire alarm button to alert all employees to the emergency which
has occurred. Notice reminding employees to be careful when
getting close to the main switch is posted on the main switch
box. Additionally, CCTVs are installed in the corners of the
office so as to ensure safety protection of assets and personal
security.

Moreover, the Group recognizes the preparedness to
emergency. There were regular fire drills held in the IDCs for our
employees to be familiar with the evacuation procedures when
emergencies occur. A detailed report will be prepared to review
the results of the fire drills so as to help our employees notice
the weaknesses and improve in the next fire drill.
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The Group subscribes medical insurance for all of its employees
against any clinical, dental, hospital and surgery costs. The labor
insurance and housing provident fund are closely monitored and
adjusted according to the headcounts of employees. The Group
also engaged professional third party for providing its employees
with regular health check scheme.

In the light of the above practices, no death or permanent
disability case and no working days lost due to work-related
injuries was noted during the Reporting Year (2018: nil).

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

Empowering employees is one of our priority. We provide a
wide range of training to our employees during the Reporting
Year. Not only do we aim at equipping our employees
with the requisite skills and knowledge, but we also target
at shaping our employees into future leaders. During the
Reporting Year, the Group provided approximately 274 hours
(2018: 303 hours) of trainings, including induction trainings
and technical skills trainings, to 22 employees comprising
approximately 19% (2018: 29%) of the total workforce. Upon
the 22 trained employees, 32% (2018: 19%) were female
employees. Alongside the internal trainings, the Group also
provides subsidies to its employees for their external trainings
and seminars. The Group will continuously encourage all its
employees to pursue continuous professional development so
as to facilitate their growth along the career path in the future.

LABOR STANDARDS

We fully comply with the labor laws and relevant legislations
that prohibit child labor and forced labor. We do not employ
any person below the age of eighteen. Each applicant needs to
present his/her personal identity document to the Group during
the recruitment process so as to prevent the employment of
child labor by the Group. In addition, we strive to ensure that
no employee is forced to work against his/her will, or work as
forced labor. No violent measures or actions through deliberate
creation of difficulties, threatening and physical punishment, etc.
shall be taken by anyone to force an employee to work. Through
the whistle-blowing mechanism, employees are able to voice out
injustice they face. For any reported cases, the Management will
investigate into the case immediately, and take further follow-up
actions if necessary. During the Reporting Year, no material
non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations in relation
to labor standards was noted.

RE-HERERRE

AEEAEBREBEERRR BHEIWM
BE -JIR-EREFMER 5 TRERRE
FABE TUEIERYREEE AREDL
HE-ANEENZREXEF=TRNHEERR

HEHBRETE -

ERZEFEI RAMBNERBSFES
TR TIRABREFR NTMEBE TR
ATHEXRNTIERBIER (ZT—\F:
&) -

R R

MREREENERMANEESETEHZ —HM
ReEEFEREEREZEEI -BATE
BN BEERHELENRERMHE  TE
EREEZBERARARNEEE RBEFE-
AEER2HEES (HEAABRNI19% (=
T—N\F:29%) ) REHEO274 0K (ZF—N
F 1 303/ ) O IF A B HE A BE B R Al
RagEal - R22B X IEEH  32% (= F
—NF19%) REERE - BFREE IS
AL B IRA R 8 12 4R 1T N BB IE DI
Mg -AEEREESHBEREES TEE
KEXRBRNPERSZRROBEER -

T g

BME2EHETEFETRAHLINSEEE
K E A RRAR - HFIT 2 BB EA185% A
TAT B2HFALBRERBBETRAAN
SEHREMBASOERME ARG EARE
ERERAET - WHN BABNORERBERES
EEEEEARNABENBERTIE IER
WHIB T HM T THEBUEFA SEER
BETEMBRBEREME RERBENE N
BRI - ERRER BEAFLER
HOTRFRR - SHHERM2ZBRD BEE
737 BN R R 38 B X R BUGE — 2 R HE 1 (40
FE) - RBEFE RMAMBANTCAERE
ERSTERNMEBERERIOERNER

Annual Report 2019 —E— AL £ 3]

65



66

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RE HERERERSG

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

To express our vision on becoming a leading operator in the
big data and mobile Wi-Fi services as well as next-generation
internet (NGI) integrated services and solutions market, the
Group is dedicated to build a sustainable long-term relationship
with its suppliers. The Group also recognizes that appropriate
and rigorous management of its suppliers could influence
its suppliers positively in order to help achieve its corporate
mission.

The Group implements proper management on its supply
chain. In this regard, approved supplier list has been maintained
and suppliers’ performances are assessed annually. By this
means, the responsible employees of the Group conduct
regular checks on IDCs to ensure that the services provided to
our customers are speedy, secure and highly effective. In this
regard, regular checks on IDCs also ensure that the equipment
and instruments supplied are well-functioning with high quality.
For those suppliers which failed to meet the requirements
set by the Group, they would be removed from the approved
supplier list. In addition, during the process of performance
of supplier-selection process, the financial and operational
background (including recognized qualifications and licenses)
of the suppliers, relevant price level, as well as the terms
and conditions of customers’ requirements are all taken into
consideration. The Group continues to implement appropriate
management measures on the supply chain so as to maintain
high quality services provided to its customers to achieve the
corporate mission.

As at 31 December 2019, there were 18 approved suppliers
located in the PRC.
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PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

The Group is committed to providing convenient, speedy,
secure, available, highly effective and professional internet
access services, channels, content services and interactive
communication services to its customers. To maintain the high
standards of quality and reliability of the services, regular checks
on IDCs are conducted. Meanwhile, periodic maintenance of the
equipment and instruments of IDCs is performed. In addition,
the Customer Service Department provides 24/7 service so as
to handle and respond to customers’ complaints and enquiries
promptly. Various channels have been set up for customers to
express their comments and recommendations.

Additionally, the Group is committed to protecting the personal
information of its customers during the process of delivery of
its services. Newly recruited employees are required to sign
the non-disclosure agreement to ensure confidentiality of the
Group’s business strategies and customers’ data protection.
Only those authorized personnel are able to access the systems
for obtaining customers’ information. Unauthorised access of
the Group’s information system is strictly prohibited. Confidential
information is also under strict monitor to prevent any direct
or indirect information leakage to external parties through any
means. Discarded and obsolete equipment of IDCs is stored
and monitored by the responsible employees without improper
disposal.

Besides, directors and employees should avoid any conflicts of
interest. Employees are required to make declaration, through
reporting to management, that they uphold the Group’s value
principle without being influenced by their private interest/goal,
when any actual or potential conflicts of interest arise.

During the Reporting Year, no material non-compliance with
applicable laws and regulations related to product responsibility
was noted.
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RE HERERERSG

ANTI-CORRUPTION

To ensure an ethical business environment, a set of formal Code
of Conduct (“CoC”) has been established and is circulated to
all of our employees. Our CoC is in line with the anti-corruption
policy published by Hong Kong Independent Commission
Against Corruption (“ICAC”) and the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Cap. 201) in Hong Kong. Our employees are
required to comply strictly with applicable laws, including but
not limited to, the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance. All forms
of bribery and corruption are strictly prohibited. Employees
should not solicit or accept any advantages for themselves.
Only promotional gifts or souvenirs as well as gifts given on the
occasion of festivals with a maximum limit of HKD500 in value
can be accepted by our employees. However, the relevant
employees should still report the case through a standard
written form to the Group and seek direction on how the gifts
or souvenirs concerned should be handled. Moreover, we
also advocate the awareness of anti-corruption among our
customers and suppliers. Anti-corruption agreements were
signed with our customers and suppliers in order to upload our
core values. The Group values and welcomes its employees to
report any suspected malpractices through various channels, i.e.
emails, website, in person. The management will take immediate
action to investigate on the issue and take follow-up actions if
necessary.

During the Reporting Year, no concluded legal cases regarding
corruption practices brought against the Group or its employees
was noted.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group engages in building and committing to the
community by actively contributing to the community in different
aspects. We encourage our employees to participate in various
charitable activities. During the Reporting Year, our donation
to public charities amounted to approximately HK$18,000.
There were also 9 employees who participated in the charitable
activities for a total of 32 hours.
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Care children with inherited heart disease

There are some children in the PRC suffering from inherited
heart disease but are not able to afford the expensive medical
fees. As a responsible enterprise, we actively participate in
the charity organized by the China Star Light Charity Fund
Association, helping those children with inherited heart disease
to recover and enjoy their lovely childhood. We also visited their
living place for obtaining actual experience, while showing our
commitment and care to those children in person.

Support the elderly people

We care about the growing number of elderly in the society. We
held activities for helping the elderly to live in a healthy way. Not
only do we donate living materials to them, but we also share
healthy lifestyle and exercises with them for the sake of keeping
them healthy, while keeping connection with the society.

Support the community

On the Casual Dress Day of 2019 held by the Community
Chest, we donated towards building a better community for
the provision of child and youth care services, elderly services,
family and child welfare services, medical and health services,
rehabilitation services, and community development, etc.

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE

The Group was not aware of any non-compliance with laws and
regulations that has a significant impact on the Group relating
to emissions, employment, health and safety, labor standards,
product responsibility and anti-corruption during the Reporting
Year.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF NEO TELEMEDIA LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Neo Telemedia Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 72 to
244, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2019, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2019, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“‘HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued)

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO
GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 3 in the financial statements, which
indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$115,643,000 during the year ended 31 December 2019
and, as of that date, the Company’s current liabilities exceeded
its current assets by approximately HK$959,888,000. As stated
in Note 3, these events or conditions, along with other matters
as set forth in Note 3, indicate that a material uncertainty exists
that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in
respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the *
Material uncertainly related to going concern” section, we have
determined the matters discussed below to be the key audit
matters to be communicated in our report.
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Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued,)

B BEMERE (&)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

FASEEITEIE (|

Key audit matter

BEETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNESFNAEEERESNEE

BERBREE ZRE A

Impairment assessments on goodwill and intangible assets

BLRGRE M EHRKRMFES 22 - 28K%24 ©

Refer to notes 3, 22, 23 and 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group has goodwill and intangible assets with net
carrying amounts of approximately HK$116,047,000
and HK$157,816,000 respectively which are
allocated to the cash-generating-units of sale of
telecommunication products and services and internet
finance platform (“CGUs”") as at 31 December 2019.
Management performed impairment assessment
of CGUs and concluded that an impairment of
approximately HK$15,188,000 and HK$39,524,000
was provided on the goodwill and intangible
assets respectively. This conclusion was based
on recoverable amount that required management
judgment with respect to the discount rate, underlying
cash flows and cost of disposal, in particular future
revenue growth and capital expenditure. Independent
external valuation reports were obtained in order to
support management’s estimates.
RZE-NF+ZHA=+—H EBESEIEEH

EEEEMRRBURGBECHTEER RS
EXEMA([REeELEN]) cHEREVEENR

% {E 5 5 49 5116,047,000/% 7t % 157,816,000/
T ERECHREESBMETRENGILRE
EREFEENIRMESD B4 515,188,000% T &
39,524,000/ 7T o UL A& R Y E R AT B R E L - B
FEEREMRTRX HEReRREEXKNIEL
B LEERERRBRERREARAX -AXHERE
ZIEE BEEUS B ANEB I E W o

Our procedures in relation to the management’s
impairment assessment included:

Bt EREREMETIREFEE:

° Evaluating the independent external valuer’s
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

o RHMEBIMINEME(ERD 2 BEN B R EEIL

° Assessing the methodologies used and the
appropriateness of the key assumptions based
on our knowledge of the relevant industry and
using our valuation experts;

o  EREMEMEBTEZRBLBDARMANMGE
BEREAERAZ A EREERR 2B

° Challenging the reasonableness of key
assumptions based on our knowledge of the
business and industry; and

. $E%F&1Fﬁﬁ*ﬁf§¥i&&ﬂ%2m HEX2/RR

RERAEREER

o Checking, on sampling basis, the accuracy and

relevance of the input data used.
o HBBMEMTAWARE CERME AR

We found the key assumptions were supported by the
available evidence.

KPR RIERRAAGEEE -
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Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

B ZBEHRE (&)

A EIT =8 (|

Key audit matter

BEETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMWETNMEEEARETEE

Impairment assessments on financial assets carried at amortised cost

REBHERAGEZERMEE 2B ERfh

Refer to note 3, 6, 12, 26, 27 and 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

BLHGAMTBHRERMES 61226 2728 °

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had
gross accounts receivables of approximately
HK$157,332,000 and provision for impairment of
approximately HK$45,053,000, gross note receivable
of approximately HK$71,883,000 and provision for
impairment of approximately HK$10,297,000 and
gross deposits and other receivables HK94,555,000
and provision for impairment of approximately
HK$17,352,000 respectively.
WR_E-—NAF+_A=+—HB EEEHHE
JE U5 BR SR 48 B8 #9157,332,000% 7T I Rk 1B 5 1 4V
45,053,000/ T - J& U 52 4% 48 %8 £971,883,0007%8 7T M
B 7 5 4910,297,00078 7T M 4R & I H A FE U R IR 48
894,555,000 7T K R B # # 4917,352,000/ 7T ©

Management performed periodic assessment on
the recoverability of the financial assets carried at
amortised cost and the sufficiency of provision for
impairment based on information including credit profile
of different counterparties, ageing of the receivables,
historical settlement records, subsequent settlement
status, expected timing and amount of realisation
of outstanding balances, and on-going relationships
with the relevant counterparties. Management also
considered forwardlooking information that may impact
the counterparties’ ability to repay the outstanding
balances in order to estimate the expected credit
losses for the impairment assessment.
ERERBETRHFFNERABER  BUERRA R
BMAEAERS BRESENRN FEHRBRREES
HRERSBREMBHF INRERIBAREZER
iz N A8 2 © /& E R AT Y O 1 KRB B
HORTEETTERNE - BRENRE R BH
FHERRERESRENVAELEER  UHERE
FHER TR EE R -

Our procedures in relation to management’s
assessment for expected credit losses of the financial
assets carried at amortised cost as at 31 December
2019 included:

B EREYR S —NF+-A=+—RH%#
HNAFTEveMEEERBHREEBBNGET
ZRRFRE:

° Understanding and evaluating the key controls
that the Group has implemented to manage and
monitor its credit risk, and validating the control
effectiveness on a sample basis;

e THRIYNM BEXEATREREERHEERER
Egmmﬁﬁ@ﬂ%ﬁﬁmﬁﬁﬁgﬂmﬁ@

° Checking, on a sample basis, the ageing profile
of the financial assets carried at amortised cost
as at 31 December 2019 to the underlying
financial records and post year-end settlements
to bank receipts;

s MWMEREN_ZE-—NF+_A=+—HE@H
BREANNIZBHKN AT EZ SR EENRE
BERARFEBENRITRPSERE:

° Inquiring of management for the status of
each of the material financial assets carried at
amortised cost past due as at year end and
corroborating explanations from management
with supporting evidence, such as performing
public search of credit profile of selected
customers, understanding on-going business
relationship with the counterparties based
on trade records and operation record,
checking historical and subsequent settlement
records of and other correspondence with the
counterparties; and

e MERELSHAFANFABDCANNSTERE
BEKATEZ2MEENRRT A EER
FETEENHE NHEETEFPAREEM
RO AHBH REX L REEDE TR
BEEFHIOREEBHR REREFHINE

SEREREETHELEMBA: &
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Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued)

B BEMERE (&)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

FASEEITEIE (|

Key audit matter

BEETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNESFNAEEERESNEE

We focused on this area due to the impairment
assessment of financial assets carried at amortised
cost under the expected credit losses model involved
the use of significant management judgements and
estimates.
BMBEFTHEE AR BEEREEBERENET
MIREBENATFEC eMEERENT MY RERSE
NE IR E I R 5t e

Assessing the appropriateness of the expected
credit loss provisioning methodology, examining
the key data inputs on a sample basis to
assess their accuracy and completeness, and
challenging the assumptions, including both
historical and forward-looking information, used
to determine the expected credit losses.
HAEEHREEEEREN T ERTAE MK
BEFEBABBUNGERSER R TE
WHANETHEBEEBENE L RATEIEE
HERERIREL G-

We found that the management judgment and
estimates used to assess the impairment of financial
assets carried at amortised cost to be supportable by
available evidence.
BMBEREEBERAATHREHEKATEZEHE
EREEL A AE KA ERAEEEX -
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Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in
the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon. (“Other
Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information
and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this Other Information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued,)

B BEMERE (&)

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFEEEEEFR LA
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Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued)

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued)

B BEMERE (&)

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditors’ report is Shek Lui.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Shek Lui
Practising Certificate Number: P05895

Hong Kong, 12 May 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GERmkEtEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z -ZE—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

2019 2018
—E-hF —ZE-N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FTET FHET
Revenue g 7 817,141 2,529,051
Cost of sales $HE AR (743,785) (2,340,730)
Gross profit EF 73,356 188,321
Other income and gains B A R s 8 10,651 26,205
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENB AR 2 Wz 39 28,384 =
Gain on disposal of a joint venture HE—MeE ARz WE 21 373 =
Selling and marketing costs HE R MIGH B (30,020) (35,625)
Administrative and other expenses THRERHEMER (144,372) (185,195)
Credit loss expenses recognised BIRBIHK AT EZ
in respect of financial assets carried EREERR
at amortised costs, net FEEBEBRIFE (2,549) (7,294)
Impairment loss recognised in respect FLEFE EFER 2
of intangible assets BB 18 23 (39,524) (23,883)
Impairment loss recognised in respect w2 MR 2 B E 2
of goodwiill 22 (15,188) (63,904)
Equity-settled share-based payment BELEE AR L B
expenses EWAREX - (17,202)
Share of results of joint venture =N 21 (82 (194)
Finance costs & B AN 10 (3,317) (7,726)
Loss before tax BRELATE 1B 12 (122,288) (126,497)
Income tax credit/(expense) FiERiEe, (FAX) 11 6,645 (498)
Loss for the year FAEE (115,643) (126,995)
Other comprehensive loss FRAEMZEERE
for the year, net of tax (HIBRBE1E)
Items that may be reclassified HEABEEF I E
subsequently to profit or loss: BmoEE :
Exchange differences arising FHRNEECEREZR
during the year (20,276) (49,604)
(20,276) (49,604)
Total comprehensive loss FREEEELE
for the year (135,919) (176,599)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income (Continued)

eRmkEtEERER (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

2019 2018
—E—hEF —E—)\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
gz F&ET FHET
Loss for the year RTFTATEMRER
attributable to: EE:
Owners of the Company ZA/NEIE/ Z =N (94,550) (84,425)
Non-controlling interests IR R (21,093) (42,570)
(115,643) (126,995)
Total comprehensive loss DTALTEAEZEA
attributable to: BB
Owners of the Company ZA/NEIE/ RSN (112,431) (129,235)
Non-controlling interests IR (23,488) (47,364)
(135,919) (176,599)
HK Cents HK Cents
B AL
Basic and diluted loss per share BREAREBEER 13 (0.99) (0.89)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

] KON
e ARRE
As at 31 December 2019 R—-—F—hFE+—H=4+—H
2019 2018
—E—hEF —N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
P FE FExT FHET
Non-current Assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment LE =S 17 1,671,490 679,476
Right-of-use assets EAEEE 18 83,983 =
Prepaid lease payments AN HEERIE 19 - 39,189
Interests in an associate R—EBERR 2R 20 = =
Interests in a joint venture R—EEERE R 21 - 270
Goodwill EES 22 116,047 131,235
Intangible assets EmILAE 23 157,816 230,908
Prepayment for property, plant and ME -BEREEZ
equipment A IR 27 189,802 719,646
Deferred tax assets PEFE T IR ﬁ% 34 7,268 22,303
2,226,406 1,823,027
Current Assets RBEE
Inventories rE 25 4,878 5,067
Accounts receivable JFE UK BR 3k 26 112,279 229,425
Prepayments, deposits and other ENRIE -RER
receivables H fth FE U 5RI8 27 134,948 163,118
Note receivable JE UL =i 28 61,586 60,853
Cash and cash equivalents HeEMReEEY 29 17,926 36,747
331,617 495,210
Current Liabilities REBEE
Accounts payable FETER X 30 68,195 130,622
Other payables and accruals H b B~ 5108 K BT RUE 31 78,226 57,040
Contract liabilities AHEE 31 1,529 3,433
Lease liabilities fﬁia afE 32 9,364 =
Bank borrowings RITER 33 1,081,449 682,261
Tax liabilities MIBEE 52,742 65,600
1,291,505 938,956
Net Current Liabilities REBEERE (959,888) (443,746)
Total Assets less Current Liabilities #EERARBERE 1,266,518 1,379,281
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

rEMBIRAR (F)

As at 31 December 2019 R=-FE—NHEF+=H=+—H

2019 2018
—®-nE —T-N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
P FE FExT FAT
Non-current Liabilities kRBEE
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIBBEE 34 39,382 53,667
Lease liabilities ME&E 32 39,990 =
79,372 53,667
Net Assets BEEFE 1,187,146 1,325,614
Capital and Reserves EXREE
Share capital % 7R 35 952,218 952,218
Reserves i 169,213 286,037
Equity attributable to owners of KARHEE AEGER
the Company 1,121,431 1,238,255
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR M = 65,715 87,359
Total Equity BB 1,187,146 1,325,614

The consolidated financial statements were approved and #EAMBEREN T -_TFRA+ _BHESE
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 12 May 2020 FE&# /ERBEETIE TH FIIESHKEE

and signed on its behalf by: Z:
CHEUNG Sing Tai TAO Wei
RER 3
Director Director
EF EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2019 g E —E—hE+ = H=+—HIFFF

Attributable to owners of the Company

KAAREARE
Share Non-
Share Share options Translation Statutory  Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses Sub-total interests Total
& B&EE BRERR BEERE EERE RitER it FERER @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin TAL TERL TR TAL TARL TERL TR TAL
(Note)
(H3E)
As at 1 January 2018 w=%-)\§-5-A 952,884 1,796,283 15,040 15,365 1,893 (1,393,319 1,388,146 127979 1,516,125
Loss for the year EREE = = > S S (64,425) (84,425) (42,570) (126,995)
Other comprehensive loss Eft2EEE
ltems that may be reclassified RUTREN B2 Em B
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange diflerence on tranglation of R EFINEBES ERER
foreign operations = = - (44,810) o - (44,810) (4,794) (49,604)
Total comprehensive loss for the year £ 2EFRER - - - (44,810) s (84,425) (129,235) (47,364) (176,599
Recognition of equity-settled PRELENRDBERE R
share-based Payment - - 17,202 - - - 17,202 - 17,202
Final didend for 2017 —T-rERERE 5 (36,184 . E = = (36,18 - (36,184)
Non-controling interests arising from WERBARELZEERES
acquisiion of a subsiciary (Note 38(@) ~ (Hi:£38(a)) - - - - - - - 180 180
Acquisition of non-controling interests ~ MEESE RIS (B 338(0)a(0) )
(Note 38(0) & (c)) - - - - - (409) (403) 403 -
Capital contribution by non-controling ~ JERARE R 2 ¥ &
interests - - - - - - - 6,161 6,161
Repurchases of shares BRiHEE (666) (605) - - - - (121) - (1,271)
Share options lapsed BREXH - - (14,99) = = 14,996 S = =
At 31 December 2018 R=E-\E+-h=1-R 952,218 1,759,494 17,246 (29,445) 1,893 (1,463,151) 1,238,255 87,359 1,325,614
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Consolidated Statement of Changes
RAEEEER (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

in Equity (Continued)

Attributable to owners of the Company

KAAREARE
Share Non-
Share Share options Translation Statutory  Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses Sub-total interests Total
BE ROER  BREGE AEREE EERE B3R it FERER @it
HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
TAL TAL TERL TR TAL TARL TERL TR TAL
(Note)
(H3)
Asat 1 January 2019 (Reported) -WE-A-B(EZH) 952,218 1,759,494 17,246 (29,445) 1,893 (1,463,151) 1,238,255 87,359 1,325,614
Impact of adopting HKFRS 16 (Note 2) ERBREEAE 6 8
(Wsk2) = = S o o (1,804) (1,804) (745) (2,549
Restated opening balance under BEEEUBREENZ 16787

HKFRS 16 BEs 952,218 1,759,494 17,246 (29,445) 1,893 (1,464,955) 1,236,451 86,614 1,323,065
Loss for the year FRER o o = = S (94,550) (94,550) (21,003) (115,643
Other comprehensive loss Et2EFE
ltems that may be reclassifed RETHEN A HZEn B

Ssubsequently to proft or loss:

Exchange diflerence on tranglation of BB EHES EHER

foreign operations - - - (17,881) - - (17,881) (2,395) (20,276)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRREFELE - - - (17,881) - (94,550) (112,431) (23,488) (135,919
Acquisttion of non-controling interests U SEIR AR HERS (FiEE38(d))

(Note 38(d) - - - (288) - (2,301) (2,589) 2,589 -
Share options lapsed BRERH - - (89) - - 89 - - -
At 31 December 2019 RZB-AE+ZA=+-H 952,218 1,759,494 17,157 (47,614) 1,898 (1,561,717) 1,121,431 65,715 1,187,146
Note: Bzt -

According to the relevant rules and regulations in the People’s Republic
of China (“PRC”), subsidiaries of the Company established in the
PRC are required to transfer 10% of their net profit, as determined in
accordance with the PRC accounting standards and regulations, to the
statutory surplus reserve until the balance of the reserve reaches 50% of
their respective registered capital. The transfer to this reserve must be
made before distribution of dividends to owners of these subsidiaries.
Statutory surplus reserve can be used to set off previous years’ losses,
if any, and may be converted into capital in proportion to existing
equity owners’ equity percentage, provided that the balance after such
issuance is not less than 25% of their registered capital.

Neo Telemedia Limited FE I EEEBERA A
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z -ZE—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

2019 2018
“Z-NE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR FET
Operating activities meExy
Loss before tax BB RTEE (122,288) (126,497)
Adjustments for: FHEIEA :
Finance costs AENA 3,317 7,726
Interest income FEUA (4,848) (24,908)
Depreciation of property, WE -BEREENE
plant and equipment 39,059 40,837
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 13,316 =
Amortisation of intangible assets EVEEEH 33,562 37,139
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments BRAEREEH - 864
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERB D Bz Mz (28,384) =
Gain on disposal of joint venture HEAE AR 2 E (373) =
Gain on disposal of property, DEME  BEREE M=
plant and equipment (99) S
Impairment loss recognised in respect HEVEERRZ
of intangible assets REEE 39,524 23,883
Impairment loss recognised in respect REERAZRESE
of goodwill 15,188 63,904
Loss on modification of lease MEESZEE 7 =
Credit loss expenses recognised RIRBER ARG ECLSREE
in respect of financial assets carried BREEBBRXFSE
at amortised costs, net 2,549 7,294
Write-off of property, MM BB REE
plant and equipment 5,332 253
Equity-settled share-based BELELRG A
payment expenses ERATEY - 17,202
Share of results of joint venture NS E 82 194
Operating cash flows before EELESRPH
movements in working capital REBRERE (3,992) 47,891
Decrease in financial assets at fair value BATERFABRZ
through profit or loss SREERD - 59,245
Decrease in accounts receivable FERBR TR 109,471 406,218
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, BRFE Ze RAMEK
deposits and other receivables HER D,/ (1) 16,061 (30,306)
Decrease in inventories FERD 102 2,948
Decrease in accounts payable EREEZR D (57,081) (401,573)
Increase in other payables and accruals H e 508 RER 508
il 27,737 20,438
Decrease in contract liabilities EREERD (1,865) (12,929)
Cash generated from operations RELBHELERS 90,433 91,932
Income tax paid BTETEH (1,673) (7,355)
Net cash generated from operating RexBmELREEH
activities 88,760 84,577
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

mERERER (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

2019 2018
“E-NE —ETN\E
HK$’000 HK$'000
TAERT TAET
Investing activities REEH
Cash and cash equivalent acquired from WE-mHBARRGEHRE R
acquisition of a subsidiary ReZEY - 4,192
Disposal of subsidiaries (net of cash and HERBAR (EMBRAHE
cash equivalent disposed) ReERFSEED) 11,330 =
Disposal of joint venture HERE AT 561 =
Settlement of contingent consideration BEENIAKE
payable - (30,000)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEVE BERR (476,546) (149,165)
Cash paid for prepayment for property, whE BERSEZ
plant and equipment BENpRECYNZE S - (748,646)
Advance of loans BER#R - (294,803)
Repayment of loans advanced e A ER 10,666 434,290
Interest received BEKRFIE 4,573 30,137
Net cash used in investing activities REZHMARETE (449,416) (753,995)
Financing activities MEETH
Bank borrowings raised EE7RIER 821,599 733,453
Repayment of bank borrowings BERTER (373,969) (136,680)
Lease rentals paid BAHERS (14,707) =
Capital contribution from non-controlling FERERZTE
interests - 6,161
Interest paid REPEUES (63,633) (19,641)
Dividend paid ERARE - (36,184)
Repurchase of shares 8 @ ik 1 - (1,271)
Net cash generated from financing RETHELCRLEE
activities 369,290 545,838
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and ReRASZEWEM (D)
cash equivalents FH 8,634 (123,580)
Cash and cash equivalents ENRERRLEEY
at the beginning of the year 36,747 164,437
Effect of foreign exchanges rate changes NEEXZEHTE (27,455) 4,110)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of FREGRHESEZEN
the year 17,926 36,747
Analysis of balances of cash and cash FRBERASLEY
equivalents at the end of the year RN
Bank balances and cash ROEBREIRS 17,926 36,747
17,926 36,747
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re M HRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z -ZE—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION

Neo Telemedia Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated in
the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability and its shares are listed on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The address of the registered office of the Company
is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands, and
its principal place of business in Hong Kong is located at
Room 901B, 9th Floor, Empire Centre, 68 Mody Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"). Other than those subsidiaries
established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)
whose functional currency is Renminbi (‘RMB”) and some
subsidiaries’ functional currency in US Dollars (“USD”),
the functional currency of the Company and its remaining
subsidiaries are HK$. The reason for selecting HK$ as
its presentation currency is that the Company is a public
company listed on the GEM, where most of the investors
are located in Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 43
to the consolidated financial statements.

N REEER

FEHEEEEARAF ([FAAF])
DHERESBESEMRIZEREBRA
BCEBRNDREBEEMARSABRAF
(B¢ Al) GEM £ e

RN &) Y a3 S B UE iz 5 Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands N EBEB T ELEMIBURE
P JLRE 52 ) MH A Hb 386857 7 B H 08
901B = °

HEMBmRABIT ([BT]) 275k
R EARKXME ([HE )RR
BRAINMEEESARE ([AR¥])
RETHBARMMREEE AET ([X
FTT1) SN AR R ERIERH B A R A
REBRET BEATEREZIE
HHEHEARARAJIEGEM EHH A
RRA MGEMZHBIREERENES -

ARTA—MREERAT XHBL
pIOES-EL 2 EVE S ELE:
43
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= R R E

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs THAT ARE
MANDATORILY EFFECTIVE FOR THE
CURRENT YEAR

The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs and Hong Kong Accounting Standards (‘HKASs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time in the current
year:

HKAS 19 (Amendments) Plan Amendment, Curtailment
or Settlement

HKAS 28 (Amendments) Long-term interests in
Associates and Joint Ventures

HKFRSs (Amendments)  Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

HKFRS 9 (Amendments) Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation

HKFRS 16 Leases
HK(IFRIC) — Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial performance
and position for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

The above new HKFRSs have been applied in accordance
with the relevant transition provisions in the respective
standards and amendments which results in changes in
accounting policies, amounts reported and/or disclosures
as described below.

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFEEEEEFR LA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & F — =&

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (Continued)

AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs THAT ARE
MANDATORILY EFFECTIVE FOR THE
CURRENT YEAR (Continued)

Impact on the consolidated financial
statements

The following tables show the adjustments recognised for
each individual line item. Line items that were not affected
by the application of new HKFRSs have not been included.
As a result, the sub-totals and totals disclosed cannot be
recalculated from the numbers provided. The adjustments

re M HRERME

—NE+ZAZ AU

2. BRI BEMBEREE

Bl ([EBMBREER])
NEBMEREAREL] 2 £
37N ()

A E 08 5l & WA BB
& EAMERT A (40

W

HEEMBHRRZIZE

TRINTHESEREBEERNAE I
EBHY T EAFET B BT B®REZER
FEMNER Bt BEEEN/NFRE
R &%W%%¢iﬁ+é'ﬁ%ﬂ
BEBEN T E

are explained in detail below.

31 December 1 January
2018 HKFRS 16 2019
Consolidated statement of —E-N\E BERREHRS “E-hEF
financial position (extract) FERBRAE (BE) +=ZA=+-H R E16% —-B—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT FET
Non-current assets FREBEE
Right-of-use asset FREEE - 96,013 96,013
Prepaid lease payments BREERE 39,189 (39,189) -
Deferred tax assets BRERIEEE 22,303 586 22,889
Current assets RBEE
Prepayments, deposits and BERE ek
other receivables H i WA 163,118 (865) 162,253
Current liabilities RBaE
Lease liabilities HEERE - 11,020 11,020
Non-current liabilities krBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE - 48,074 48,074
Net assets EEFHE 1,325,614 (2,549) 1,323,065
Capital and reserves EXRGE
Reserves 1 286,037 (1,804) 284,233
Non-controling interests RS 87,359 (745) 86,614
Total equity BmAE 1,325,614 (2,549) 1,323,065
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= R R E

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs THAT ARE
MANDATORILY EFFECTIVE FOR THE
CURRENT YEAR (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in the
current year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 Leases
(“HKAS17”), and the related interpretations.

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply
HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified
as leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC) - Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Leases
and not apply this standard to contracts that were not
previously identified as containing a lease. Therefore, the
Group has not reassessed contracts which already existed
prior to the date of initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after
1 January 2019, the Group applies the definition of a lease
in accordance with the requirements set our in HKFRS 16
in assessing whether a contract contains a lease.

As a lessor

Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially
unchanged from HKAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify
leases as either operating or finance leases using similar
principles as in HKAS 17. Therefore, HKFRS 16 did not
have an impact on leases where the Group is the lessor.
The lessor accounting requirements are brought forward
from HKAS 17 substantially unchanged.

As a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with
the cumulative effect recognised at the date of initial
application, 1 January 2019.

As at 1 January 2019, the Group recognised additional
lease liabilities and measured right-of-use assets at the
carrying amounts as if HKFRS 16 had been applied
since commencement dates, but discounted using the
incremental borrowing rates of the relevant group entities
at the date of initial application by applying HKFRS
16.C8(b)(i) transition. Any difference at the date of initial
application is recognised in the opening accumulated
losses and comparative information has not been restated.

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFEEEEEFR LA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re M HRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 g E —E—hE+ = H=+—HIFFF

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (Continued)

AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs THAT ARE
MANDATORILY EFFECTIVE FOR THE
CURRENT YEAR (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

When applying the modified retrospective approach under
HKFRS 16 at transition, the Group applied the following
practical expedients to leases previously classified as
operating leases under HKAS 17, on lease-by-lease basis,
to the extent relevant to respective lease contracts.

relied on the assessment of whether leases are
onerous by applying HKAS 27 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets as an alternative of
impairment review;

elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities for lease with lease term ends within
12 months of the date of initial applications;

excluded initial direct costs from measuring the
right-of-use assets at the date of initial applications;

applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases
with a similar remaining term for similar class of
underlying assets in similar economic environment.
Specifically, discount rate for certain lease of assets
was determined on a portfolio basis; and

used hindsight based on facts and circumstances
as at date of initial application in determining the
lease term for the Group’s leases with extension and
termination options.

2. BRI BEMBEREE

Bl ([EBMBREER])
NEBMBRELER 2 &
37N ()

RAFEBRFERNEEBMHE

HEEAMEET A (&)

FREMBREENF16HRHEE
(4)

ERAMENA (58)
RIBERIRIEE S KRS ERFE165%
FERKIERTBIAR  REBE LAR
BEEBGHENFE1I7TRs BAEEHE
MEE RZBEHERXEEHRBERES
HHEANERATEREE A

. EREBEAEERFE27HREME
SERERIBEERRBER
BmERTE FEHERERE

&

i. BETHBEHNHXERHBH2
AARNEROEHEERFERES
ENEEAE:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= R R E

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #ZE — =

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSSs”) (Continued)

AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs THAT ARE
MANDATORILY EFFECTIVE FOR THE

CURRENT YEAR (Continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

When recognising the lease liabilities for leases previously
classified operating leases, the Group has applied
incremental borrowing rates of the relevant group entities
at the date of initial application. The weighted average
incremental borrowing rates applied by the relevant group

entities range from 4.3% to 9.6%.

—NE+ZAZF— AU

2. ERFEIBBYBmELE
Al ([ EBMEHREER])
BB EELER] 2
AN ()

RAEAFEBRFERNE BT
HEAMEET A (4)

3

EEMBHREENEIRER
(&)

ERRENOEAKLEHENTHEARE
i3 Zﬁﬁleréﬁﬁﬁéwﬁﬁﬁa,ﬁma%
CEERNNSERIE - HBEEEE
BE P FA A INHE 1932 S 5 FUFI R B4.3%
%9.6% °

2019
—E-NF
HK$’000
FTHEx
Operating lease commitments disclosed RZE—N\F+ZHA=+—8H
as at 31 December 2018 W 2 & E AT 45,594
Less: short-term and low-value leases B AERARBECEHREEE
not recognised as a liabilities HE (11,400)
Add: extension options reasonably m:-eBEEY TIIFE
certain to be exercised IR IR 30,417
Discounted using the lessee’s incremental REXERBHEAABEARN
borrowing rate of at the date of CEEEREEITANR
initial application (5,517)
Lease liability recognised as at RZE-—NF-—A—B®RAZ
1 January 2019 HEBE 59,094
On which are: Hep:
Current lease liabilities BEEEEE 11,020
Non-current lease liabilities JERNHEIHE A E 48,074
59,094

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFEEEEEFR LA



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re M HRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 g E —E—hE+ = H=+—HIFFF

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. ERMEIBBMBRE
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG Al ([ERBMBHREE JJJ)
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS MEBIHEREER &
(“HKFRSSs”) (Continued) HENC )

AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs THAT ARE RAEFERHEERNE BB
MANDATORILY EFFECTIVE FOR THE EZEAMEET A ()
CURRENT YEAR (Continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued) EREVMBHREELENFE16RAEE
(48)
The carrying amount of right-of-use assets for own use as RZZE—NF—A—B HEEAME
at 1 January 2019 comprises the following: AEEEZRAEREATNSE:
Right-of-use
assets
EAEEE
Notes HK$'000
B &E FHET
Right-of-use assets relating to operating RERBBMBEHREER
leases recognised upon application of FloHm AR KEHRE
HKFRS 16 HENEREEE 55,959
Reclassified from prepaid lease payments R-E—NF—A—HEEHN
as at 1 January 2019 HENREHR S (@) 40,054
96,013
(@ Upfront payment for leasehold lands in PRC for @ RZE-—NF+=ZA=+—8"
own used properties were classified as prepaid RABEBEERYMEZEE T
lease payments as at 31 December 2018. WIER RIBE D B ABENEERK
Upon application of HKFRS 16, the current and H-RERAEBWGHMELEDE
non-current portion of prepaid lease payments 1655 1% - FEN T E R IE R BT E &
amounting to HK$865,000 and HK$39,189,000 FEBNEAEL 5 2 Bl #2865, OOO/%E&
respectively were reclassified to right-of-use assets. 39,189,000 L  EEHMM N EEF
REEE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& AT R M

For the year ended 31 December 2019 &iE —F—h&+=A=+—HI &

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs THAT ARE
MANDATORILY EFFECTIVE FOR THE
CURRENT YEAR (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

2. BRI BEMBEREE

Bl ([ EBMBREER])
NEBMBRELER 2 &
57N ()

RAFEBRFERNEEBYHE
HEEISETA (80

ERUMBHRELME16RAEE
(4)

1 January
2019
—E-NhEF
—H—H

Right-of-use asset by class: FREEERTINDER:
Leased properties MEWE 55,959
Land use right T R AE 40,054
96,013

For the purpose of reporting cash flows from operating
activities under indirect method for the year ended
31 December 2019, movements in working capital has
been computed based on opening statement of financial
position as at 1 January 2019 as disclosed above.

Lessor accounting

The Group did not make any adjustments to the
accounting for assets held as lessor under operating
leases as a result of the adoption of HKFRS 16.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re M HRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 g E —E—hE+ = H=+—HIFFF

APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (Continued)

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs IN
ISSUE BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts ?

Amendments to Definition of a Business ?
HKFRS 3

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture ’

Amendments to Definition of Material #
HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8

Amendments to
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39
and HKFRS 7

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform ¢

Conceptual Framework
(Revised)

Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2018 #

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to
be determined

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021
& Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions

for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of
the first annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020

d Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (Continued)

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs IN
ISSUE BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
“Definition of Material”

The amendments provide refinements to definition of
material by including additional guidance and explanations
in making materiality judgements. In particular, the
amendments:

° include the concept of “obscuring” material
information in which the effect similar to omitting or
misstating the information;

o replace threshold for materiality influencing users
from “could influence” to “could reasonably be
expected to influence”; and

° include the use of the phrase “primary users”
rather than simply referring to “users” which
was considered too board when deciding what
information to disclose in financial statements.

The amendments also align the definition across
all HKFRSs and will be mandatorily effective for the
Group’s annual period beginning on 1 January 2020.
The application of the amendments is not expected to
have significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group but may affect the presentation
and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re M HRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 g7 = E— &L= F=1—HIFFZF

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (Continued)

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs IN
ISSUE BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 “Definition of a
Business”

The amendments:

o add an optional concentration test that permits a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The election
on whether to apply the optional concentration tests
is available on transaction-by-transaction basis;

o clarify that to be a considered a business, acquired
set of activities and assets must include, at a
minimum, an input and a substantive process that
together contribute to the ability to create output;
and

o narrow the definition of a business and of output
by focusing on goods and services provided to
customers and by removing the reference to an
ability to reduce costs.

The amendments are applied prospectively to all business
combinations and asset acquisition for which the
acquisition date is on or after the first annual reporting
period beginning on or after 1 January 2020, with early
application permitted. The application of the amendments
is not expected to have significant impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group.

The application of the others amendments are not
expected to have significant impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, which
collective term includes all applicable individual HKFRSs,
HKASs and Interpretations issued by the HKICPA,
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing rules”).

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis of making judgements about carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates. The estimates and assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimates are
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have significant effect on the consolidated
financial statements and estimates with a significant risk
of material adjustments in the next year are discussed in
Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes
in these consolidated financial statements is determined
on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 16 (since 1 January 2019) or HKAS 17 (before
application of HKFRS 16), and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or value in use in HKAS
36.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #HZE—F

3.

—NE+ZAZF— AU

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

GOING CONCERN

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$115,643,000 (2018: HK$126,995,000) for the year
ended 31 December 2019. As at 31 December 2019, the
Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
approximately HK$959,888,000 (2018: HK$443,746,000).
Notwithstanding the above results, the consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis, the validity of the going concern basis
is dependent upon the success of the Group’s future
operations, its ability to generate adequate cash flows in
order to meet its obligations as and when fall due and
its ability to refinance or restructure its borrowings such
that the Group can meet its future working capital and
financing requirements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

GOING CONCERN (Continued)

In the opinion of the Directors, the Group is able to
maintain itself as a going concern in the coming year by
taking into consideration that:

0

(i)

)

the cash flow projections can be achieved that
the Group would have sufficient working capital
to finance its operation and to meet its financial
obligations when they fall due within the next twelve
months from the end of the reporting period;

the net assets of the Group of approximately
HK$1,187,146,000 (2018: HK$1,325,614,000) as
at 31 December 2019, the Group should be able to
secure additional loan facilities, if necessary;

bank loans with carrying amount of approximately
HK$802,454,000 (2018: HK$281,413,000) as at
31 December 2019 that are repayable more than
one year after the end of the reporting period
pursuant to the repayment schedule included in
the loan agreements, with a repayment on demand
clause, has been classified as current liability as at
31 December 2019 in accordance with Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements
— Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that
Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause. Taking
into account the Group'’s financial position and the
security provided to the bank, the Directors believe
that the bank will not exercise its discretionary
rights to demand immediate repayment. The
Directors believe that the bank loans will be repaid in
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set
out in the loan agreements; and
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #HZE—F

3.

—NE+ZAZF— AU

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

GOING CONCERN (Continued)

(iv) bank loans with carrying amount of approximately
HK$223,500,000 (2018: HK$223,244,000) as at
31 December 2019 that is repayable within one
year after the end of the reporting period will be
refinanced with China Construction Bank Corporation
(“CCB”) upon maturity since the Group has a
10-year unutilised banking facilities of approximately
HK$517,296,000 (2018: HK$1,169,753,000) granted
by CCB as at 31 December 2019.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is
achieved where the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (Continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when
the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability
to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally.
The Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an
investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

° the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights
relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the
other vote holders;

° potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

° rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

° any additional facts and circumstances that indicate
that the Group has, or does not have, the current
ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that
decisions need to be made, including voting patterns
at previous patterns at previous shareholders’
meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #HZE—F

3.

—NE+ZAZF— AU

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interest even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein.

Allocation of total comprehensive
income to non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income and expense of a subsidiary
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amount of the Group’s relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling interests are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in
the subsidiaries including re-attribution of relevant reserves
between the Group and the non-controlling interests
according to the Group’s and the non-controlling interests
proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted after re-attribution
of the relevant equity component, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (i) the carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred
to another category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment
retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control
is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment
in an associate or a joint venture.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or
assets related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS
12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits
respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or
share-based payment arrangements of the Group
entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment
at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy
below);

° assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
are measured in accordance with that standard; and
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re M HRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z -ZE—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

° lease liabilities are recognised and measured at
the present value of remaining lease payments (as
defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at acquisition date, except for leases
for which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months
of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset
is of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised
and measured at the same amounts as the relevant
lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or
unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with
market terms.

Acquisition of a Subsidiary Not
Constituting a Business

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities
that do not constitute a business, the Group identifies
and recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price
first to investment properties which are subsequently
measured under fair value model and financial assets/
financial liabilities at the respective fair values, the
remaining balance of the purchase price is then allocated
to the other identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis
of their relative fair value at the date of purchase. Such
a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or bargain
purchase gain.

3. EREFTHR #)

ERA6t (@

HEBERMNBKHEEN R (EE
REBEEMBHREERFE165) IR
BEHERKE BOMKRENEE
REBEESHEE HEE@BEHAR
Wi B 81218 A W JEm - 3k (o) 18
REEREEENHERIN-EA
REELZERHBAEERABHERY
TRERNGE WETHBIUAR
BREATH IS IR MR LL R E M B Ak
PRMESK -

R B EFRIME R

EAEBEWEL TEBREKNEEHER
KB ER  ANER B R B HE AR P R R Y
BRIl BRI B ERAAZENEE TR
RELABBEEIKEERRAFER
A EZREMERRZERTEFE
ZERMEE/eRMEE BRTEBEEL
BEEOPEEREMBAIBRNEERAE
EESENBERHNBEE QA FE Z
RHTEELRENHBEWE W -

Annual Report 2019 —E— AL £ 3]

107



108
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For the year ended 31 December 2019

3.

BE—_F—NF+-_A=+—HIEFEF

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquire (if any) over the net amount of identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date.
If, after re-assessment, the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the
sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if
any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss
as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation
may be initially measured either at fair value or at the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. The choice of measurement basis is made
on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of
non-controlling interests are measured at their fair value
or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another
HKFRSs.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in
a business combination includes assets or liabilities
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement,
the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition
date fair value and included as part of the consideration
transferred in a business combination. Changes in the
fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify
as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments made
against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained
during the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed
one year from the acquisition date) about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value
of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as
measurement period adjustments depends on how
the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured
at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is
remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates in
accordance with HKAS 39 with the corresponding gain or
loss being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree
is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e.
the date when the Group obtains control), and the
resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss.
Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or
loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that
interest were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during
the measurement period (see above), or additional assets
or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information
obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as
of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected
the amounts recognised as of that date.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019

3.

BE—_F—NF+-_A=+—HIEFEF

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

GOODWILL

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business (see the accounting policy above) less
accumulated impairment losses, if any, and is presented
separately in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the cash-generating units (or groups
of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination, which represent the
lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the
cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the
carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata
on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit (or group of cash-generating units). Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

GOODWILL (Continued)

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
When the Group disposes of an operation within the
cash-generating unit (or a cash-generating unit within a
group of cash-generating units), the amount of goodwill
disposed of is measured on the basis of the relative values
of the operation (or the cash-generating unit) disposed of
and the portion of the cash-generating unit (or the group
of cash-generating units) retained.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition
of an associate and a joint venture is described below.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND
JOINT VENTURES

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor
an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control
over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND
JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting, except
when the investment, or a portion thereof, is classified
as held for sale, in which case it is or the portion so
classified is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5.
Any retained portion of an investment in an associate or a
joint venture that has not been classified as held for sale
shall be accounted for using the equity method. Under the
equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint
venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’s share of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture.
When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or a
joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate
or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests,
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment
in the associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of that associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method from the date
on which the investee becomes an associate or a
joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in
the period in which the investment is acquired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND
JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate or a joint venture
may be impaired. When any objective evidence exists,
the entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less cost
of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.

When the Group cease to have significant influence
over an associate or joint control over a joint venture, it
is accounted for a disposal of the entire interest in the
investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest in
the former associate or joint venture and the retained
interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9,
the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at
that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value
on initial recognition. The difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture and the fair value
of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing
the relevant interest in the associate and joint venture
is included in the determination of the gain or loss on
disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition, the
Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that associate
or joint venture on the same basis as would be required
if that associates or joint venture had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
by that associate or joint venture would be reclassified
to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or
liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from
equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment)
upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate or
joint venture.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND
JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate become an investment in a
joint venture or an investment in a joint venture become an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to
fair value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduce its ownership interest in an
associate or a joint venture but the Group continues to
use the equity method, the Group reclassified to profit or
loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously
been recognised in other comprehensive income relating
to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of
the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a
joint venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting
from the transactions with the associate or a joint venture
are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate
or joint venture that are not related to the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

SUBSIDIARIES

A subsidiary is a company in which the Company directly
or indirectly controls more than half of the voting power,
or controls the composition of the board of directors.
Investments in subsidiaries are carried in the Company’s
financial statements at cost less impairment loss.

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME
RECOGNITION

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME
RECOGNITION (Continued)

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a
contract are accounted for a presented on a net basis.

Revenue from sales of telecommunication products is
recognised at the point in time when goods are delivered
to customers generally on the time the related risks and
rewards of ownership has transferred.

Revenue from provision of telecommunication services is
recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-line
basis because the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Revenue from commission income from the operations of
Internet finance platform is recognised at the point in time
when the borrower and lender was successfully matched.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME
RECOGNITION (Continued)

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when
it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the amount of income can be measured
reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss is equal instalments over the periods covered
by the lease terms, except where an alternative basis is
more representative of the pattern of benefit to be derived
from the use of leased asset. Lease incentive granted
are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments receivable.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress (“CIP”), held for use in the production or supply
of goods or services, or for administrative purposes are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of items of property, plant and equipment less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method at the following rate per annum:
Buildings Over the unexpired
lease terms of land on which
the building is erected
Over the term of the lease
20%-33.3%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Motor vehicles 20%
5%-20%

Leasehold improvements
Office equipment

Traffic signboards

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for
on a prospective basis.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over
their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned
assets. However, when there is no reasonable certainty
that ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease
term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease
term and their useful lives.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #HZE —=F

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

LEASING

Accounting policies applied from
1 January 2019

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate
stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated
non-lease components as a single lease component.

As a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics
are accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group
reasonably expects that the effects on the financial
statements would not differ materially from individual
leases within the portfolio.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

LEASING (Continued)

Accounting policies applied from
1 January 2019 (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option. It also applies the recognition
exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments
on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

Except for those that are classified as investment
properties and measured under fair value model,
right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re M HRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z -ZE—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

LEASING (Continued)

Accounting policies applied from
1 January 2019 (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of lease term as depreciated from
commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying
leased assets at the end of the lease term, upon exercising
purchase options, the cost of he relevant right-of-use
assets and the related accumulated deprecation and
impairment loss are transferred to property, plant and
equipment.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not
meet the definition of investment property or inventory
as a separate line item on the consolidated statement
of financial position. Right-of-use assets that meet
the definition of investment property and inventory are
presented within investment properties and properties for/
under development/properties for sale.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

LEASING (Continued)

Accounting policies applied from
1 January 2019 (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise:

o fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index or
rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

° the amount expected to be payable by the lessee
under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee
is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever the lease term has changed or there
is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the related lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #HZE —=F

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

LEASING (Continued)

Accounting policies applied from
1 January 2019 (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as
a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #t &= —F— L F+ = F=+—HIFFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

LEASING (Continued)

Accounting policies applied from
1 January 2019 (Continued)

The Group as lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified
as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term except for investment properties measured
under fair value model.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as
assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception of
the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum
lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is
included in the consolidated statement of financial position
as a finance lease obligation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #HZE —=F

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

LEASING (Continued)

Accounting policies applied from
1 January 2019 (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Lease payments are apportioned between finance
expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as
to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless they are directly
attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they
are capitalised in accordance with the Group’s policy
on borrowing costs (see the accounting policy below).
Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the
periods in which they are incurred.

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring
land held under operating leases, are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term, except where another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent
rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an
expense in the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter
into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a
liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised
as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line
basis, except where another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term of the
relevant lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #HZE—F

3.

—NE+ZAZF— AU

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Nonmonetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was
determined. Nonmonetary items are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise, except for exchange differences arising
on a monetary item that forms part of the Company’s
net investment in a foreign operation, in which case,
such exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity and
will be reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal
of the foreign operation. Exchange differences arising on
the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair
value are included in profit or loss for the period except
for exchange differences arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items in respect of which gain and losses
are recognised directly in other comprehensive income, in
which cases, the exchange differences are also recognised
directly in other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

FOREIGN CURRENCIES (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing
at the end of each reporting period. Income and expense
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during
the period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve (attributable to non-controlling interests
as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation that does not result
in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the
proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences
are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation
on or after 1 July 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities
of that foreign operation and retranslated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Exchange differences arising are recognised in equity
under the heading of translation reserve.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Retirement benefit costs

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees in the Company’s subsidiaries operating
in the PRC are members of retirement benefits scheme
(the “PRC RB Schemes”) operated by the local municipal
government. The local municipal government undertakes to
assume the retirement benefit obligation of all existing and
future retired employees of the PRC subsidiaries. The only
obligation of the PRC subsidiaries with respect to the PRC
RB Scheme is to meet the required contributions under the
PRC RB Schemes. The contributions are charged to the
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re M HRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z -ZE—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)
Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when,
the Group demonstrably commits itself to terminate
employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary
redundancy by having a detailed formal plan which is
without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

Share options granted to directors and employees

The fair value of services received determined by reference
to the fair value of share options granted at the grant
date is recognised as an expense in full at the grant date
when the share options granted vest immediately, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve).

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in share options
reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.

Share options granted to consultants

Share options issued in exchange for goods or services
are measured at the fair values of the goods or services
received, unless that fair value cannot be reliably
measured, in which case the goods or services received
are measured by reference to the fair value of the share
options granted.

The fair values of the goods or services received are
recognised as expenses, with a corresponding increase in
equity (share options reserve), when the Group obtains the
goods or when the counterparties render services, unless
the goods or services qualify for recognition as assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= R R E

For the year ended 31 December 2019

3.

BE—_F—NF+-_A=+—HIEFEF

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

TAXATION

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and it further excludes items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary difference
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

TAXATION (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when it relates to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
being accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated impairment
losses.

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which
is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with
finite useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses,
being their fair value at the date of the revaluation
less subsequent accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
asset with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives.

Alternatively, intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)
Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON TANGIBLE
AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS OTHER THAN
GOODWILL

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if
any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets
are also allocated to individual cash-generating units,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment
at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that
they may be impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON TANGIBLE
AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS OTHER THAN
GOODWILL (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future
cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is reduced to its recoverable amount. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its
value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated
to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the
unit. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash
generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised as income immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #HZE —=F

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

INVENTORIES

Inventories, representing finished goods for resale, are
stated at the lower of costs and net realisable value. Cost
is calculated using first-in, first-out method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary
to make the sale.

PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable
that the Group will be required to settle that obligation,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at
the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated
to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where effect of the time
value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is
virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and
the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES ACQUIRED IN
A BUSINESS COMBINATION

Contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination
are initially measured at fair value at the date of
acquisition. At the end of the subsequent report periods,
such contingent liabilities are measured at the higher
of the amount that would be recognised in accordance
with HKAS 37 and the amount initially recognised less
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with
HKAS 18.

3.

re M HRERME

—NE+ZAZ AU

BEANEEBIR (@)

rE

FRENHEBE ZRK R THEKAR
A 3R A 2 B A BUE DI BR - AR LA

FEAZRH T A B AR FEERFE

e & BB A A FT TSRO AN Je b 2 35

ERAFTHE-

BiE
MAEBEABTEMHEMEAEREER
Fr-mALEBERAIEABITZEELT:
BRI SHet2E T2 QAR
R
BB ERETAN SRR KT

EREE *ETFEA#W‘:H;HEEETTIEE
BEEMBEREZREMGAE -MEH
Eﬁl@ffiﬁﬁ“{£Z1Eu+iﬁiuw§u+
B HEEENZARAREREZRE
(HEBzKREEZEEAN)HE-

i A IABE B R 2 3D R B BB M &
BEHSRE =7 KRE EEE EER
R EERE RN SR T A ER
EU RIS ERREE

REBZSHIWBZRAKE

REBE G IR 2 RABEVIR NI
BRARATEAE -EHRBREHK
ZEARBBURBEB G ERIEI75H
BRZEBMREFB S ELE185
IR Z BB RAEERNE RS
%lfl_i"

Annual Report 2019 —E— AL £ 3]

135



136

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for accounts receivable
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest/dividend income which are derived from the
Group’s ordinary course of business are presented as
revenue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows and selling; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application of
HKFRS 9/initial recognition of a financial asset the Group
may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in
fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EAXE@:tHE (&)

(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) £@MIE (@#\)

Financial assets (Continued) EHEE (&)

Classification and subsequent measurement of TREEN S EREETE (B)

financial assets (Continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if: WfEa TIHEE BlemEENDER

FIEEE:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of D EDNEEUREHALEREN
selling in the near term; or i i A 3K

e on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of o RUSHERE EAREEHRE
identified financial instruments that the Group BrAa#eRmTAEEAGN—F
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of S WEABEHEMNNTHERE
short-term profit-taking; or V1)

e it is a derivative that is not designated and effective e HEUWFETREAYEHMIAAE
as a hedging instrument. BEPTET Ho

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a e SN - 8 a0 1 BT SE BR skoK BB R D & AT 8

financial asset that are required to be measured at the fid - A AR KE A A A E I8 — TR A

amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing WEER AR AT EFAEME2AER

so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting At EZ e MEENZ AT EF AER

mismatch. =
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #HZE —=F

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

(0

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt instruments/
receivables subsequently measured at FVTOCI. For
financial instruments other than purchased or originated
credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from
the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The
net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes
any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset
and is included in the “other gains and losses” line
item.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group perform impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9 (including
accounts receivables, deposit and other receivables, note
receivable and cash and cash equivalents). The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well
as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m
ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

() Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re M HRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z -ZE—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

()

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 90
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE—_F—NF+-_A=+—HIEFEF

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

()

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at
the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of default,
i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term
and iii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group
considers a debt instrument to have low credit
risk when it has an internal or external credit rating
of ‘investment grade’ as per globally understood
definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before
the amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 g E —E—hE+ = H=+—HIFFF

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Definition of default

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 180 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

(@  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #HZE—F

—NE+ZAZF— AU

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy

V)

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the
case of accounts receivable, when the amounts are
over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition. For a lease receivable, the cash flows
used for determining the ECL is consistent with the
cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable in
accordance with HKFRS 16 (since 1 January 2019)
or HKAS 17 (prior to 1 January 2019) Leases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re M HRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 g E —E—hE+ = H=+—HIFFF

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or
cater for cases where evidence at the individual
instrument level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped on the basis
below:

° Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s
trade and other receivables are each assessed
as a separate group. Loans to related parties
are assessed for expected credit losses on an
individual basis);

° Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity
instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation
of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the
financial liability is (i) contingent consideration of an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
applies, (i) held for trading or (i) it is designated as at
FVTPL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re M HRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z -ZE—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity
instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for
trading or contingent consideration that may be paid by
an acquirer as part of a business combination may be
designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

o such designation eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would otherwise arise; or

° the financial liability forms part of a group of
financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which
is managed and its performance is evaluated on
a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s
documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or

° it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKFRS 9 permits the
entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be
designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value,
with changes at fair value arising on remeasurement
recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any interest paid on the financial liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #HZE—F

3.

—NE+ZAZF— AU

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity
instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including accounts payable, other
payables and accruals, bank borrowings and convertible
notes are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its
continuing involvement and recognises an associated
liability. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the
Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled
or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re M HRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z -ZE—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.

RELATED PARTIES

A related party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family
is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #HZE—F
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

RELATED PARTIES (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

)

(i)

(i)

(vi)

(i

(viil)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each paren
t, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others);

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

RELATED PARTIES (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

SEGMENT REPORTING

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in Note 3, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #HZE—F

4.

—NE+ZAZF— AU

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

CRITICAL JUDGEMENT

Determination on lease term of contracts
with renewal options

The Group applies judgment to determine the lease term
for lease contracts in which it is a lessee that include
renewal option, specifically, the leases relating to data
center and machinery. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the
Group applies the definition of a contract and determines
the period for which the contract is enforceable. Leases
are considered no longer enforceable when the Group as
the lessee and the relevant lessors both have the right to
terminate the lease without permission from the other party
with no more than an insignificant contractual penalty.

The assessment of whether the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise renewal options impacts the lease term,
which significantly affects the amount of lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets recognised. Re-assessment is
performed upon the occurrence of either a significant event
or a significant change in circumstances that is within the
control of lessee and that affects the assessment.

When assessing reasonable certainty, the Group considers
all relevant facts and circumstances including economic
incentives/penalties for exercising or not exercising the
options. Factors considered include:

° the extent of leasehold improvements undertaken by
Group;

° costs relating to termination of the lease (e.g.
relocation costs, costs of identifying another
underlying asset suitable for the Group’s needs);
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #HZE —=F

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Provision for inventories

Management reviews the ageing analysis of inventories of
the Group at the end of each reporting period and makes
provision if considered necessary. Management estimates
the net realisable value for such inventories based primarily
on the latest invoice prices and current market conditions.
At 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of inventories
was approximately HK$4,878,000 (2018: HK$5,067,000)
after netting off the allowance for inventories of
approximately HK$800,000 (2018: HK$800,000).

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of
its net selling price and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risk specific to the asset, which
required significant judgment relating to level of revenue
and amount of operating costs. The Group uses all
readily available information in determining an amount
that is a reasonable approximation of the recoverable
amount, including estimates based on reasonable and
supportable assumptions and projections of revenue
and operating costs. At 31 December 2019, the carrying
amount of property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets were approximately HK$1,671,490,000 (2018:
HK$679,476,000) and HK$83,983,000, respectively.
Details are disclosed in Note 17 and 18.
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4.

—NE+ZAZF— AU

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Provision of ECL for financial assets
carried at amortised cost

The Group uses to calculate ECL for the financial assets
carried at amortised cost. The provision rates are based
on internal credit ratings as groupings of various debtors
that have similar loss patterns. The is based on the
Group’s historical default rates taking into consideration
forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort. At
every reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered. In addition, financial assets
carried at amortised cost with significant balances and
credit impaired are assessed for ECL individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the ECL and the Group'’s financial
assets carried at amortised cost are disclosed in Note 6.

Estimated impairment of goodwill and
intangible assets

Determining whether goodwill and intangible assets are
impaired requires an estimation of the value-in-use of
the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been
allocated. The value-in-use calculation requires the Group
to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise
from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value. Where
the actual future cash flows are less than expected, a
material impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December
2019, the carrying amount of goodwill amounted to
approximately HK$116,047,000 (2018: HK$131,235,000)
(net of accumulated impairment loss amounted to
approximately HK$266,544,000 (2018: HK$251,356,000))
and carrying amount of intangible assets amounted to
approximately HK$157,816,000 (2018: HK$230,908,000)
(net of accumulated amortisation and impairment loss
amounted to approximately HK$264,292,000 (2018:
HK$191,804,000)). Details are disclosed in Note 22 and
23.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #HZE —=F

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. Significant estimate are required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course
of business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is
made.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group'’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which
includes bank borrowings disclosed in Note 33, net of
cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital
and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors
of the Company consider the cost of capital and the
risks associates with each class of capital. Based on the
recommendations of the Directors, the Group will balance
its overall capital structure through the new share issues
as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of the
existing debt.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. T H
CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL LR T EER
INSTRUMENTS
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2019 2018
B=E HZE
—Z-hF —E-N\F
+=A=+—-A +=ZA=+—H
IEFE IFFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHETT
Financial assets SRMEE
At amortised cost biog £ 1N
Accounts receivable JiE s BR 3R 112,279 229,425
Deposits and other receivables e M E M ERFRE 77,203 115,042
Note receivable JE U 22 4% 61,586 60,853
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBeEEY 17,926 36,747
268,994 442,067
Financial liabilities A=A
At amortised cost biog £ )N
Accounts payable FETER R 68,195 130,622
Other payables and accruals H b B A )08 K BT R IE 78,226 57,040
Lease liabilities HEaR’ 49,354 =
Bank borrowings RITER 1,081,449 682,261
1,277,224 869,923
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES

The Group’s financial instruments include accounts
receivable, deposits and other receivables, note
receivable, cash and cash equivalents, accounts payable,
other payables and accruals and bank borrowings.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest
rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

Market risk

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial
risks of changes in foreign currency, interest rates and
price risk.
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Market risk exposures are further measured by sensitivity
analysis. There has been no significant change to the
Group’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which
it manages and measures the risk. Details of each type of
market risks are described as follows:

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Group have certain foreign
currency transaction, which expose the Group to foreign
currency risk.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s USD denominated
monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the end of
reporting period are as follows:

—B-A0f
HK$°000

ST E @)

tREREEAEREE ®)

5 B B (@)

BT T 4 2 T35 AL PR T LA B R 5 AT o —
SHE AEBAEY I TERARNEE
BRIERAR FR T EE AR S
BT RREMRT

B R
AEBZETHBARBEEE TINER
5 T AREEREINERE R

UsD ETT

RMEHR AEBUETHEZEY
EELEEBENERABERT
Liabilities Assets
BE
2018 2019 2018
—F-\F  —R-hE ZPNF
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET TER TET
22,592 29,232 59,561

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management has closely
monitored the Group’s foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency risk should
the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

As HK$ is pegged to USD, the financial impact on
exchange risk is exposed to be insignificant.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z -ZE—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 0.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk

Except for certain interest-bearing loans and advances
to third party and bank borrowings, the Group has no
significant interest-bearing assets and liabilities. The
Group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates. Bank
borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group
to cash flow interest-rate risk. The loans and advances
to third party issued at fixed rates expose the Group
to cash flow interest-rate risk. Details of the Group’s
bank borrowings have been disclosed in Note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group has not entered into any interest rate swaps to
hedge its exposure to interest risks.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of PRC Loan Prime Rate
arising from the Group’s RMB borrowings.

Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate profile of the
Group’s borrowings at the end of the reporting period:
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tREREEAEREE (®)

1% B B (@)
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RETEEN AEBY ES A EE
ERAGB AEBZIRARELEES T
BEAREBINTISFIR Y B8 o m8
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2019 2018
“E-hE —T-N\F

Effective Effective

interest interest
rates HK$’000 rates HK$’000
BRAIE TER YRS AT

% %

Variable rate borrowings: BERAREE:

Bank borrowings RITIEE 5.74 1,081,449 5.05 682,261
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6.

—NE+ZAZF— AU
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate profile (Continued)

As at 31 December 2019, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates
would increase/decrease the Group’s loss after tax and
accumulated losses by approximately HK$85,000 (2018:
approximately HK$500,000).

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred
at the end of the reporting period and had been applied to
the exposure to interest rate risk for non-derivative financial
instruments in existence at that date. The 100 basis
points increase or decrease represents management’s
assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest
rates over the period until the end of the next annual
reporting period.

Price risk

The Group did not have investments in equity securities for
treasury purpose and therefore is not exposed to equity
price risk. The management has a policy to monitor the
Group’s exposure to price risk by maintaining a portfolio
of investments with different risk and return profiles and
will consider hedging the risk exposure should the need
arises.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #HZE —=F

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Credit risk

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from Cash and
cash equivalents, accounts receivable, deposit and other
receivables and note receivable. The carrying amounts of
these balances represent the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk in relation to financial assets.

In respect of bank balances, the credit risk is considered
to be low as the counterparties are reputable banks. The
existing counterparties do not have defaults in the past.
Therefore, expected credit loss rate of cash at bank is
assessed to be close to zero and no provision was made
as of 31 December 2018.

The Group applies the general approach to provide for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
uses 12-month expected credit loss provision for all
financial assets carried at amortised cost. To measure
the expected credit losses, financial assets carried at
amortised cost have been grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics. The Group has performed historical
analysis and identified the key economic variables
impacting credit risk and expected credit loss. It considers
available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking
information.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, financial assets
carried at amortised cost that are individually significant
have been separately assessed for impairment. The Group
makes periodic assessments on the recoverability of the
receivables based on the background and reputation of
the customers, historical settlement records and past
experience.
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Majority of the Group’s revenue is received from individual
customers in relation to sales of telecommunication
products and services and are transacted in cash or
credit. The Group’s accounts receivable arise from sales
of telecommunication products and services to the
customers. As at the end of the year, the top five debtors
and the largest debtor accounted for approximately
63% and 21% (2018: 39.7% and 9.8%), of the Group’s
accounts receivable balance. In view of the history
of business dealings with the debtors and the sound
collection history of the receivables due from them,
management believes that there is no material credit risk
inherent in the Group’s outstanding receivable balance
due from these debtors saved for the debtor related
to the impaired accounts receivable disclosed in the
below. Management makes periodic assessment on the
recoverability of the trade and other receivables based on
historical payment records, the length of overdue period,
the financial strength of the debtors and whether there are
any disputes with the debtors.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and take
into account information specific to the customer as well
as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Accounts receivables are due within
90 to 210 days from the date of billing. Normally, the
Group does not obtain collateral from customers.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & F — =&

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK
OBJECTIVE AND

MANAGEMENT
POLICIES (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s internal

credit risk grading assessment

..V-Aﬁﬁﬁiﬁ%ﬁﬁé‘

—NEFEF+ZA=+—HIFE
6. T H ®)

tRiEREEREREE (&

15 B B (&)
SEE R (&)

AEBABEERRIEFHEENAT

comprises the following categories: R
Internal credit rating Description Accounts Other financial
receivable/ assets/other items
contract assets
P B 8 SR Bk PEUARRR RftemaE/
BREE HiE B
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of  Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL-not
default and does not have any not credit-impaired credit impaired
past-due amounts
1K 2 B HFERBHNXEBEYEEMAEBEH 2HBEHEEEE 2HEHEEEE
I —RHEBREERE —AEREERIE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due  Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL-not
dates but usually settle after due not credit-impaired credit impaired
date
BREE EBARERIHARRERER 2HEREEEE THEBEEER
EREBBELEE —AHBREERIE - RAEREERIE
Loss There is evidence indicating the Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL —
asset is credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
B8 EREBEXRPEELREERE THEBEEER THEBEEER
—HREERIE —HREERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that Amount is written off ~ Amount is written off
the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of
the Group’s financial assets, accounts receivable, note
receivable and other financial asset at amortised cost,
which are subject to ECL assessment:

Internal credit

ST E @)

tREREEAEREE ®)

5 B B (@)

SEmEMRE ()

TR AEEBETENEEERT
HreMEE BWRESR BREER
REBMERAH B EMSMEERER
R

rating
R
RETR 2019 2018
ZE-NE —E-N\E
Gross carrying amount Gross carrying amount
EHAE FEARE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET FET THET
Financial assets at amortised costs
RBHEBATEZERER
Accounts receivable Low risk - 30,092
ENR TR il
Watch risk 131,118 241,383
BEER
Loss 26,214 157,332 655 272,130
B
Note receivable Watch risk 71,883 71,883 70,952 70,952
LS BRAER
Deposits and other receivables Low risk - 1,942
HeREbEYTE el
Watch risk 89,884 132,600
BRER
Loss 4,671 94,555 51,791 186,333
B
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & F — =&

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The following tables shows the movement in lifetime
ECL that has been recognised for accounts receivable,

deposits and other receivables and note receivable:

6. &R T H (s
SREREEHE A

15 B B (&)
EEERE ()

—NFETZA=—HUFE

= RER ()

TRIVTH KRR e M H AR
RERERREER 2 HEREES

Accounts receivable JE 5 BR SR
Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
RS ZHEE
FEEE FEEE
(YEEERE) (FEHHE) @t
HKD’'000 HKD’000 HKD’000
TAT TAET FHT
As at 1 January 2018 RZZE-N\E—A—H 103,108 3,504 106,612
Changes due to financial AR—A—R@RRALHMIA
instruments recognised BYHE
as at 1 January:
- Transfer to credit-impaired -EAEEHE (1,509) 1,509 =
— Impairment losses recognised ~ — & R EE B 28,711 36,028 64,739
— Impairment losses reversed - BEREREER (85,834) - (85,834)
- Write-offs — i34 - (41,041) (41,041)
Exchange adjustments BB 5 38 2 (1,771) - (1,771)
As at 31 December 2018 and —N\F
1 January 2019 +-A=+—-HK
—h&E—A—H 42,705 - 42,705
Changes due to financial AM—A—BERERIA
instruments recognised By E
as at 1 January
- Transfer to credit-impaired -BAEERNE (11,578) 11,578 5
— Impairment losses recognised ~ —C B EE B 12,604 15,248 27,852
— Impairment losses reversed —-BREREBE (22,370) - (22,370)
- Disposal of subsidiaries —HENBAR (2,539) (2,539)
- Exchange adjustments —EHRE (380) 215) (595)
As at 31 December 2019 —NF
S =aH =1 —H 18,442 26,611 45,053
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. @@ ITHE @

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (Continued)

tREREEAEREE ®)

Market risk (Continued) 1% B B (&)
Credit risk (Continued) EER (&)
Deposits and other receivables e & H Ath fE IR
Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
2HEH 28
FEEE FEE#R
(TREERME) (E8RE) gt
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
FHL FAT FHL
As at 1 January 2018 R-Z—-\E—A—H 44,507 13,259 57,766
Changes due to financial R—A—B®RLBIA
instruments recognised BYEEH:
as at 1 January:
- Transfer to credit-impaired -BAREENE (9,347) 9,347 =
— Impairment losses recognised ~ — 2 B REE 1B 10,338 37,983 48,321
— Impairment losses reversed —-ERRREESE (20,396) = (20,396)
- Write-offs — s - (13,259) (13,259)
Exchange adjustments BE 34, 2 (957) (184) (1,141)
As at 31 December 2018 and ~ RZZT—N\#F
1 January 2019 +-RA=+—-8k
—E-N¥-A—H 24,145 47,146 71,291
Changes due to financial R—A—B¥RLBIA
instruments recognised BYEH
as at 1 January
— Transfer to credit-impaired -EAEERHE (4,715) 4,715 =
— Impairment losses recognised ~ — AR EE R 12,923 781 13,704
- Impairment losses reversed -BEEREER (12,554) (4,281) (16,835)
- Disposal of subsidiaries —HERBRF (6,852) (43,624) (50,476)
- Exchange adjustments —ERAR (266) (66) (332)
As at 31 December 2019 RZZE-NF
+-A=+—H 12,681 4,671 17,352
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 g E —E—hE+ = H=+—HIFFF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

ST E @)

tREREEAEREE (®)

OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Note receivable

15 B B (&)
SEmERE ()
i ANEEH

Lifetime
ECL
(not credit-
impaired)
HEM
FEEE
(Y EEERE)
HKD’000
FHET
As at 1 January 2018 RZE—N\F—H—H 9,635
Changes due to financial R—A—BHERemIA
instruments recognised BHEE):
as at 1 January:
— Impairment losses recognised —ERRBEEE 464
As at 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 RZ=ZT—N\F+_A=+—HBK
—E-NF—H—H 10,099
Changes due to financial R—A—BHRemIA
instruments recognised EC RS
as at 1 January
— Impairment loss recognised —BERRBESE 198
As at 31 December 2019 RZZE—NE+=ZA=+—8 10,297
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #HZE—F

6.

—NE+ZAZF— AU
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Accounts receivable are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there
is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst
others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment
plan with the Group, and a failure to make contractual
payments for a period greater than 60-90 days past due.

Impairment losses on accounts receivable are presented
as net impairment losses within operating profit.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off
are credited against the same line item.

Liquidity risk
In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by the management to finance the
Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations
in cash flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash
flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curve at
the end of the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z -ZE—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curve at
the end of the reporting period.

6.

\/FHQ\I/\ E)

tREREEAEREE (®)

15 B B (&)
REEZER (&)

RRBEINNERETERESRE - HH B
MERFHEE ARMESBERERN
BERRZMERFTESL -

Weighted Within More than More than Total
average 1 year 1 year but 2 years but More contractual Total
effective oron less than less than than  undiscounted carrying
interest rate demand 2 years 5 years 5 years cash flow amount
nETS 157 150 E 2FRE EEES 3
BRA= FERER B2EUT BEEUT 5EL0E  HReREHE REAE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% FiET FiEx FET FiET TEL FET
As at 31 December 2019 R-B-AE+=A=t+-8H
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ ##74£ & BE &
Accounts payable IR - 68,195 - - - 68,195 68,195
Other payables and accruals O GER:NT B ] - 78,226 - - - 78,226 78,226
Lease liabilities HEAE 5.53% 11,785 9,577 18,853 20,146 60,361 49,354
Bank borrowings (Note) B|ITER (HE) 4.63% 343,928 138,005 462,391 461,905 1,406,229 1,081,449
502,134 147,582 481,244 482,051 1,613,011 1,277,224
As at 31 December 2018 RZZ-NF+t-A=+-H
Non-derivative financial liabilities FiTEeRAR
Accounts payable R - 130,622 - - - 130,622 130,622
Other payables and accruals HthEAFAREATE = 57,040 = = S 57,040 57,040
Bank borrowings (Note) RITHE R (M) 5.02% 427,190 44,672 125,189 174,061 771,112 682,261
614,852 44,672 125,189 174,061 958,774 869,923

Note: Bank borrowings are classified as short-term liabilities in
the consolidated statement of financial position as they
will be repaid upon demand, according to the demand
clause of the relevant loan agreements. The above table
demonstrates the original repayment schedule.

MisE: ROTEFINSEAPBHRARFTDE
AEHEE RRRRERRIEAR
BRI 8 R R FARSUIR BSREE - £
RIVRREEFBIR-

Annual Report 2019 —E— AL £ 3]

169



170

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= R R E

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #HZE—F

6.

—NE+ZAZF— AU

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The fair value of financial liabilities are determined as
follows:

the fair value of financial liabilities with standard
terms and conditions and traded in active liquid
markets are determined with reference to quoted
market bid prices and ask prices respectively;

the fair value of financial liabilities (excluding
derivative instruments) is determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis;

the fair value of derivative instruments is calculated
using quoted prices. Where such prices are not
available, use is made of discounted cash flow
analysis using the applicable yield curve for the
duration of the instruments for non-optional
derivatives, and option pricing models for optional
derivatives; and

the fair value of financial guarantee contracts is
determined using option pricing models where the
main assumptions are the probability of default
by the specified counterparty extrapolated from
market-based credit information and the amount of
loss, given the default.

FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION

There were no transfer between Level 1, 2 and 3 in both
year and period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019  # &= —F— I F+ = F=—+—HIFFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. @t TH s
RECONCILIATION OF LEVEL 3 FAIR FE=HAFEFTEZHRK
VALUE MEASUREMENTS
Contingent
Consideration
Payable
BNRARE
HK$'000
FET
As at 1 January 2018 RZZT—N\F—H—H 30,000
Settlements B1E (30,000)
As at 31 December 2018, RZB-NF+ZA=+—8H"
1 January 2019 and 31 December 2019 —E-NEF-—A—BRK
—hE+=ZHA=+—H -
REVENUE 7.
Revenue represents the net amounts received and KEEAEERIIN RS HEEYIR
receivable for goods sold or services provided by the T BR7S 2 B W & B U BR FOF 58 - B
Group to outside customers, less returns and discounts RE -MkEEHEERHIE-
and sales related taxes.
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers EPFAHNNBIEERERIRBES D
by major products or service lines is as follows: mn
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THER FAET
Sale of telecommunication products HEBMEmMERS
and services 788,774 2,460,271
Internet finance platform EMBEsRFESs - 43,906
Others (Note) HoAh, (PR EE) 28,367 24,874
817,141 2,529,051
Note: Others mainly represent income arising from provision Mier: HEMErEERERHARERSE A
of bus services, rental income, brokerage income and WA LA R FRERS 2
software development service income. A o
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

7. REVENUE (continued)

7. Wi

2019 2018
—E-hE —E— )\
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FHET
Disaggregation by timing of revenue B EREREE S
recognition:
At a point in time B 5 25 467,373 2,094,396
Over time i B [ 330,565 421,572
Revenue from other source v aR K
- Rental income —fHe WA 19,203 13,083
817,141 2,529,051
8. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 8. Hg A K&z

REBFAEMBARKEZIFTAT

An analysis of the Group’s other income and gains for the

years as follows:

2019 2018

—B-AF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Bank interest income RITH B U A 39 35

Government subsidy AT 2R, 630 892

Other interest income HAth R B A 4,809 24,873
Gain on disposal of property, HEWX HEREEZ

plant and equipment &S 99 =

Waiver of payment to supplier B R ER TR 3,400 =

Sundry income HMETE UL A 1,674 405

10,651 26,205
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For the year ended 31 December 2019  # &= —F— I F+ = F=—+—HIFFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION 9. HE\EER

Information reported to the board of Directors, being HERDERDBERBAEMAESS
the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes (ANEEBELERKEB)REZER &F
of resource allocation and assessment of segment REAIRM S RH 2 EmI R 2R -
performance focuses on types of goods or services W RAEEABRER 2 A%

delivered or provided. This is also the basis upon which
the Group is organised and managed.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating BERME AEERBEEEVBRELE
segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows: B8R e A EMNEES BT
- Sale of telecommunication products and services -  HEEMEMEERBE
- Internet finance platform - HEEemFEa
The Group reportable segments are strategic business REBZAIZ2WMOBIEEIREE 2
units that operate different activities. They are managed KBS MESETFE AL - EEI E’\\% EKHEETRE
separately because each business has different markets Fﬁ B BXRKTRZMBHEERE &7
and requires different marketing strategies. 2R EIIEREE -
s O3 o e
SEGMENT REVENUES AND RESULTS ﬁﬁ%ﬁ&%?ﬁ
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and AZ2{REEDEE D2 AEE 2K
results by reportable and operating segments: m R EEDM ZIDT
Sale of telecommunication
products and services Internet finance platform Others Consolidated
HEBRERREH ERPERTA Hih EE
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
S$-1F STN\E C®-h§ I-\E ZE-ME ST0F SRR S30E
HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HK 000 HKS 000 HK§ 000 HKS000 HKS 000
Ti#n Fr Ti#n TiEn TiEn Tign TiEn Ti#n
Revenue Wik /T4 2460271 . 13906 28367 24874 817,141 2529051
Segment results AEER (123,642) 5091 (23747) (68.107) 1,958 (17291) (145,431) (10489
Interest income FIBHA 4,848 24,908
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERBARZKE 28,384 -
Gain on disposal of joint venture HEAEARZ RS 313 -
Other income and gain Hip AR 5177 124
Share of results of joint venture ElEEEDAEE (82 (194)
Unallocated corporate expenses FARAARX (15,557) (40,846)
Loss before tax BRAiEE (122,288) (126,497)
Income tax credit/expense) FEkES/ (B%) 6,645 (498)
Loss for the year FRER (115,643) (126,995)
Note: Others represent other operating segments that are not MieE: EMigHEMEE D E BIEEBUH
reportable segments under HKFRS 8, which include %ﬁE'J%SfI#Fj—I Bof 8
provision of bus services, property rental, insurance BREARERSE WEES KRR
brokerage and software development business. ERYSEINEEEE
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9.

—NFTZA=—HAUFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

SEGMENT REVENUES AND RESULTS
(Continued)

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue
generated from external customers. There was no
inter-segment sales in both year. The accounting policies
of the operating segments are the same as the Group’s
accounting policies described in Note 3. Segment results
represent the profit or loss from each segment without
allocation of interest income, central administration costs,
directors’ emoluments and finance costs. This is the
measure reported to the chief operating decision maker
for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance.

SEGMENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

DREER (#)
THEREREE (&)

1451/\0 8 4F X 5

2Rz OBREERBINEEP Z
/'\ *E 3 ?Lﬁ € o i«( M

’\*EZQquBZﬁﬁEﬁiWESF)’TLZK‘EE =
SR AR °"*E%F?EPK BEDE

Z i A ok S 18 - I £

DB BWA

RITBER EFMERBEXAKN UL
TIREBERDERDBRAFEMAEE

Y poN
gz

RREEITERZ A

TREERER

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and AEEIZAZERHEZEERBES N
liabilities by reportable segment: R
Sale of telecommunication
products and services Internet finance platform Others Consolidated
HESAERREHE HH@EERTA Hit Fxs)
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
ZB-0E —Z-N\& —2-NE —Z-N\& —2-NE —Z-N\& —E2-N0E —Z-N\E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER T TER FiEn TER FiEn TET Ti#n
Segment assets HERE 2,435,173 2,183,656 - 17,034 32,456 26,698 2,467,629 2,027,388
Unallocated corporate assets FARAREE 90,394 90,849
Consolidated assets GREE 2,558,023 2,318,237
Segment liabilties AERERE 1,304,312 933,235 44,181 43,153 14,616 11,239 1,363,109 987,627
Unallocated corporate liabilties FABDAAE 7,768 499
Consolidated liabiities GAAE 1,370,877 992,623

For the purpose of monitoring segment performances and

allocating resources between segments:

° all assets are allocated to operating segments other
than unallocated corporate assets (mainly comprising
certain of prepayments, deposits and other

receivables, and derivative financial assets); and

° all liabilities are allocated to operating segments
other than unallocated corporate liabilities (mainly
comprising receipts in advances, contingent
consideration payable and other payables and

accruals).
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & F — =&

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION

e El?f T R B 5T

—NFETZA=—HUFE

Sale of telecommunication
products and services Internet finance platform Others Unallocated Consolidated
HERAERRRH ERESRTA L0 9B &a
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
A SE-\E 0 Z®-pFE ST\ ZE-hE CE-\E ZB-RE CE\E ZR-afF SRR
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TEn Titn Fin Tk F#n T T#n TEn TEn Thn
Amount included n the measure of HENEREMAEN
seqment resuts i
Capital expenditure BERR 997,421 893,625 = 829 1,641 3,350 97 14 1,000,059 897,818
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥1% - B kX EHE 30,304 31,116 982 1372 6,090 6,489 1,683 1860 39,059 40,837
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 9,854 - - - 830 - 2582 - 13316 -
Amortisation of infangible assets BRERES 33425 34,380 137 2,445 - 314 - - 33,562 37,139
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments Eh ﬁg Iﬁﬁiﬁ - 864 - - - = - = - 864
Impairment loss on goodwil 3] 15,188 50,000 - 13,904 - - - - 15,188 63,904
Impairment loss on intangible assets | 39,524 - - 14412 - 9471 - - 39,524 23,883
Credit loss (reversal)/expenses/impairment loss Mh% Z
recognised in respect of financial assets
carried at amortised cost
(4,008) 26,562) 5111 32,885 4n 414 309 557 2,549 7294
Capital expenditure for the year ended 31 December BHE_Z-N\F+_A=1+—HLEFE

2018 includes acquisition of assets through business
combinations and prepayment for property, plant
and equipment of HK$7,000 and HK$748,646,000,
respectively.

Amounts regularly provided to the chief operating decision
maker but not included in the measure of segment results
or segment assets:

zamg%&g%&& W igE & B
EmE - BEMEKBZEMNTE 25
/37,0007 7T, }2 748,646,00078 JT ©

EHRHTFIELEARECTEEN
DREERDREEAENSHE:

Sale of telecommunication
products and services Internet finance platform Others Unallocated Consolidated
HESRERRRH DBELRTA L4 AR &%

2019 218 2019 218 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Z8-hE ZT-\E 0 Z®-AE ZT-\E 0 ZR-pFE CE-\F 0 ZE-RF CEF CR-AE ERE
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HKS$'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TER FEL TR T Fhn iR TR FER TR FER
Interest income 1,168 21188 1 3 - - 3679 ki 4848 24,908
Finance costs N 3,086 7726 - S 19 S 212 = 3317 7,126
Income tax (expense)/credit i (RY) /4% 9619 (6,314) (299 5,399 209 33 (191) % 6,645 (498)
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about major customers FEXPZEHN
Revenue from major customers of the corresponding year RBBEFEEASEEENEBIR10% 8
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group REFEEP2KENAT:
are as follows:
2019 2018
—E-AF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Customer A’ BEREA 148,987 771,413
Customer B'? EPFB 2 - 771,461
Customer C'® BFEC S 122,989 =
271,976 1,542,874

U Sale of telecommunication products and services.

e No information on revenue for current year is disclosed for
this customers since it contributed less than 10% to the
Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2019.

. No information on revenue for prior year is disclosed for this
customer since it contributed less than 10% to the Group’s
revenue for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are mainly located in Hong Kong
and the PRC.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external
customers is presented based on the geographical
location of the customer, and non-current assets
information is presented based on the geographical
location of the assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re M HRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z -ZE—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. DEER (®

Geographical information (Continued) WEEH (90

The Group’s revenue from external customers and BiRE D 2 REERBINBEP 2K
information about its non-current assets by geographical ERBRBEIERDEECERFM N

location are detailed below:

T

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets*
REMBEFHRA FRBEE"
31 December 31 December
2019 2018 2019 2018

“E-hE —T-\F
“E-NE ~“2-)\# +ZA=+-H +ZA=+—H

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TEX TER FTHBT
Name of the region HfE %
Hong Kong &% 263,837 1,595,602 2,678 62,810
The PRC (excluding Hong Kong) Bl (T~ E1EE#) 548,898 933,449 2,216,460 1,737,644
Other Asian Country HEmNER 4,406 = - =
817,141 2,529,051 2,219,138 1,800,454
* Information about the Group’s non-current assets, other * BRAEEZIERBEE (R —HEE
than interests in an associate and a joint venture, and ERRAIREENR 2R RIRLER
deferred tax assets, is presented based on the geographical BEERNZERDEREAEZE

location of the assets.

FINANCE COSTS

ElB R

10. BB AN

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Bank loan interest expenses RITERFERAX 63,633 19,641
Less: Capitalised in construction in B ERME - BE R
progress under property, plant REHE ML RRE
and equipment (Note 17) (MF3E17) (63,247) (11,915)
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEBNE 2,931 =
3,317 7,726
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= R R E

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

1. INCOME TAX 1. PIEH
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Hong Kong Profits tax BEMENR
— Current tax —BVERR I 40 2,394
— (Oven)/Under provision for prior year —BEFE (B3
BiE) BETE (20) 1
20 2,395
PRC Enterprise Income tax R E TSR
— Current tax —BIEARR IR 682 7,706
— Over provision for prior year - BEFEBERMG - (988)
682 6,718
Deferred tax EIE R IE (7,347) (8,615)
Total income tax (credit)/expense st (%) /FHXEE (6,645) 498

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed the Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No.7) Bill 2017
(“Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018
and was gazette on the following day. Under the two-
tiered profits tax rate regime, the first HK$2,000,000 of
profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%,
and profits above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%.
The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a
flat rate of 16.5%.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC,
certain subsidiaries of the Company, being qualified as
a new and high technology enterprise, are eligible for a
preferential Enterprise Income Tax rate of 15%.

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFEEEEEFR LA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re M HRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z -ZE—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

11. INCOME TAX (Continued) 1. BT & (®)

FRAMBHAXEEAREREMEE

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to
the loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit

or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

Was R AR AT R IR B AR AT -

2019 2018
—E-hE —ZE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Loss before tax B 7 A E5 18 (122,288) (126,497)
Tax at domestic income tax BEBRIEARREELET
rates applicable to profits in 35 F W9 2N HE B 1S B R
the respective jurisdiction (note) AHERHIE () (23,170) (33,286)
Tax effect of share of results JEIEAERRIEEY
of joint venture MG E (14) 29
Tax effect of expense not deductible R ATTI=RA NI ] 23
for tax purpose Az Mg & 16,558 31,723
Tax effect of income not taxable for BT S BERD
tax purpose WA Z TG & (15,727) (7,292)
Over provision for prior year BEFEBREEE (20) (987)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERRIBEE MG E 10,927 10,445
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses EABTRERTIBEEE 2
previously not recognised Bxa (763) -
Tax effect of deductible temporary RERAUNBREREZE
differences not recognised Brxa 5,564 (76)
Income tax for the year FAMEH (6,645) 498

Note: As the Group operates in several different jurisdictions,

the tax rate applied in the tax reconciliation represents the
weighted average domestic tax rates of the individual tax

jurisdiction.

Details of deferred tax are set out in Note 34.

M- AR ARERZETRADEERL S
B HHESRER W IR E@ER
T BlARERR 2 INAE I AR B R 55

EIERIA 2 FEIE BN M R34 -
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12. LOSS BEFORE TAX

BE—_F—NF+-_A=+—HIEFEF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= R R E

For the year ended 31 December 2019

12. BRI AT B 18

2019 2018
—E—hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Loss before tax has been arrived BREATESEE R
at after charging: AT &I :
Staff costs, including directors’ BIMAK BIEEEHSE

remuneration (Note 14) (MF3E14)

— Salaries, wages and other benefits —He ITERHEMBER 41,633 48,069

— Contributions to retirement —RIRBFIFT B

benefits schemes 2,521 3,409
Total staff costs B8 TR A 44,154 51,478
Depreciation of property, W -WEREETE

plant and equipment (Note 17) (F5E17) 39,059 40,837
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EAREERE (Mz18)

(Note 18) 13,316 -
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 23) 4 JI2 & & # #4 (F{5£23) 33,562 37,139
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments T8 15 T2 & 7k 18 # £

(Note 19) (fF5E19) - 864
Total depreciation and amortisation e KAz 85,937 78,840
Credit loss expenses in respect of financial #tiz# 45k Kzt 8 >

assets carried at amortised cost, net TREERRZ

EEBERAXFH 2,549 7,294
Impairment loss recognised NEFEERRZBAEREIE

on intangible assets (Note 23) (MF3E23) 39,524 23,883
Impairment loss recognised MEEBRERZBERE

in respect of goodwill (Note 22) (Ff3E22) 15,188 63,904
Write-off of property, plant and equipment #5413 - &= M %

(Note 17) (Ff3E17) 5,332 253
Equity-settled shared-based IR EE AR B

payment expenses B RAEX - 17,202
Auditors’ remuneration 1% 8RN Bl &

— audit service — B Z RS 980 1,080

— non-audit service — BB 200 150
Expenses relating to short term leases B HHE REEE

and low value leases HERBzAX 14,888 =
Minimum lease payments under operating HHHY % 2 KEHEH

lease in respect of rented premises HIEB SR - 23,720
Cost of inventories recognised as expense T HER AR X 2 175 5k /& 448,921 1,967,537
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re M HRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z -ZE—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

13. LOSS PER SHARE 13. IR E1E
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share ARAREEABLFASRERNREE
attributable to owners of the Company for the year is BB IIRA T E8ETE

based on the following data:

2019 2018
—®-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Loss for the year attributable to PN/NESIE PN kA
owners of the Company and loss EEEARGTESR
for the purpose of basic and diluted EARNEEER 2 B8
loss per share (94,550) (84,425)
2019 2018
—®-hE —ET-N\F
000 ‘000
F & T
Weighted average number of ordinary ARETEERERR
shares for the purpose of basic and e EE 2 T B RN
diluted loss per share FHEH 9,522,184 9,523,608
The computation of diluted loss per share for the vear Hz-_Z—-N\FEk-ZT—NF+=A
ended 31 December 2018 and 2019 does not assume —t+—HLEFEZ2ERESEBEEFEY
the exercise of share options since it would result in an EREEREETE REAAESEH
anti-dilutive effect on loss per share. HERBEEEAREETE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= R R E

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

y - ++
14. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATIONS 14. B S F B
2019 2018
“E-0F 305
Salaries, Contributions Salaries, Contributions
wages  Share-based o retirement wages  Share-based to refirement
and other payment benefits and other payment benefits
Fees benefits expenses schemes Total Fees benefits €xpenses schemes Total
¥& 18k HRBAER RIER ¥4 TER HRHAEY RN
Names of directors j £4:2 He HBER  HHREX SEHR a3t e EibEH BRREX HEER 3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FiEn FiEn FiEn FiEn TiEn FEL TEL TEx THL
Executive directors: HrES:
M. Znang Xinyu (Note 2) FHTAL (Mita) - - - - - 40 1,159 382 % 1605
Mr. Cheung Sing Tai RER%E 240 1,190 - 36 1,466 240 1,304 1,145 36 2,725
Mr. Xu Gang fREtE 120 245 - 12 317 120 256 382 12 710
Mr. Tao Wei BExE 120 340 - - 460 120 355 382 - 857
M. Znang Bo (Note b) FRAE (Hib) 80 101 - 7 188 120 251 382 12 765
Non-executive director: F917Es:
Dr. LIE Haiquan jligERL - - - - - - - 573 - 573
Independent non-executive BUFHTES:
directors:
Ms. Xi Lina 144 - - - 144 144 - 64 - 208
Mr. Huang Zhixiong 132 - - - 132 132 o 64 = 196
Mr. Zhang Zhua RTE* (ZHANG Zihua)
pit:3 180 - - - 180 180 S 64 - 244
1,016 1,876 - 55 2,947 1,096 3,325 3438 84 7,943
Notes: Bt 5
a)  Resigned on 31 August 2018 a RZIZE-NFNA=+—HEHME

b) Resigned on 30 August 2019

Mr. Cheung Sing Tai was also the chief executive officer of
the Company and his emoluments disclosed above include
those for service rendered by him as the chief executive
officer for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any emoluments in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2019 (2018: nil).

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018,
no emolument was paid by the Group to the Directors as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office.

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFEEEEEFR LA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re M HRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z -ZE—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

15. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 15. Zem# BE R A L
EMOLUMENTS
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the rEEBRAESFHENALR —F
Group, one (2018: two) were Director whose emoluments (Z2—N\F MB)RESF KE2H
are included in the disclosures above. The emoluments of MER EXHE - FA--ApNg (ZF
the remaining four (2018: three) highest paid individuals —NF:=R)RaHFMER AL 2%
during the year were as follows: BT -
2019 2018
—E-7E —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Salaries, wages and other benefits He ITENMEMETR 2,923 2,545
Contributions to retirement RRAEFIFTEI R
benefits schemes 198 54
3,121 2,599
The emoluments of the remaining four (2018: three) HEHUE (ZE—N\F:=8) &= 5 M
highest paid individuals fell within the following bands: BRALTZEHMRFLATHREN :
2019 2018
—E-hF —E—\F
Emolument bands g E
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = 21,000,000/ 7T 3 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,00178 %
2,000,0007% 7T 1 1
During the year, no emolument was paid to the five highest FR-AEBWMER AL RS FHHER
paid individuals as an inducement to join, or upon joining ATEHEEME  ERMASKENA
the Group, or as compensation for loss of office (2018: REER  ZESERABBEE(ZF
Nil). —NFE) o
At 31 December 2019, the Directors held share options RZBE—NF+-_A=+—H EZFR
under the Company’s share option schemes. Details of the BARAGEREFEFEERE -5
share options are disclosed under the paragraph “Share BREZFBEIRESSHRE [BRE
option schemes” in the report of the directors and Note FTEl —ER R 36 KR EE o
36.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= R R E

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

16. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was proposed during the year ended
31 December 2019 and 2018, nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of the reporting period.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, final dividend in
respect of the previous financial year of 0.38 HK cent per
ordinary share, in an aggregate amount of HK$36,184,000
was approved and paid.

17.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. BB

BMERBEZ_ZE-NFR_FT

—N\F

TZA=t—RLEFERZRNERE
BHREHRETEEZRRTERNRE -

REBE_ZT-N\F+_A=+—HIF
B -EfERKNEEBEMRERE 2
RERR B & I @ IR0.38E (Il - B ER A

36,184,000 7T

17. 9% BE K& E

Leasehold Office Furniture Motor Data center Construction
Buildings  improvements equipment and fixtures vehicles  and machinery in progress Total
EELIN
BF  EENEEE BAZRE BRREE RE e ERIR @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER Thn TAL TEL TAL TEL TAL TR
Cost
Asat 1 January 2018 NE-RA-H 101,512 19,726 19,468 4,540 14,888 351,646 111,215 622,995
Exchange realignment A% (4,999) (974) (1,122 (206) (719 (17,732 (10,959) (36,711)
Additions E - 3,693 4111 481 604 5,784 134,492 149,165
Acquired on acquisition of WENELASEE
subsidiaries - - 7 - - - - 7
Transfer from construction BERRIRE
in progress = = = = = 4,883 (4,889) =
Capitalisation of borrowing cost ERfLfERRA S - - - - - 11,915 11,915
Written-off s - (458) (170) - - - - (628)
As at 31 December 2018 and
1 January 2019 96,513 21,987 22,294 4815 14,773 344,581 241,780 746,743
Exchange realignment (1,822 (374) (758) 1) (295) (7,518) (18,182) (29,030)
Additions - 8,224 278 300 97 7,740 982,590 1,000,059
Disposal - - (395) (196) (102) - - (693)
Disposal of subsidiaries - - (28) - - - - (28)
Transfer from construction in BERERIRE
progress - - - - - 65,336 (65.336) -
Capitalisation of borrowing cost ERLERAAR - - - - - - 63,247 63,247
Written-off s - (9,523) (247) 6) - - - (9,776)
As at 31 December 2019 RZE-hF+-A=+-H 94,691 20,314 21,144 4,832 15,303 410,139 1,204,099 1,770,522
Accumulated depreciation and RHFERAE
impairment
Asat 1 January 2018 5795 6,454 7,007 1,807 3,358 5,574 5 29,995
Exchange realignment (750) (376) (527) (107) (282) (1,148) = (3,190)
Provided for the year 4569 4413 4621 1,102 3,595 22,637 - 40,837
Written-off > (315) (60) S o S o (375)
As at 31 December 2018 and
1 January 2019 9,614 10,176 11,041 2,802 6,671 26,963 S 67,267
Exchange realignment (242) (899) (308) (54) (165) (815) - (2,480)
Provided for the year 4370 3892 4,248 807 3,646 22,096 - 39,059
Disposal - - (188) (145) @87 - - (370)
Written-off - (4,303) (141) - - - - (4,444)
As at 31 December 2019 RZE-hF+-A=+-H 13,742 8,866 14,655 3410 10,115 48,244 - 99,032
Carrying values REE
As at 31 December 2019 RZB-hE+ZR=+-8 80,949 11,448 6,489 1,422 5,188 361,895 1,204,099 1,671,490
As at 31 December 2018 RZE-\F+-A=+-8 86,899 11,811 11,253 2,013 8,102 317,618 241,780 679,476
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re M HRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z -ZE—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 18. FHEEE
Building leased
forownuse Land use rights Total
B#EERAZ
HEET T ERE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT TEL THL
As at 1 January 2019 (restated) RZE-NF—HA—H
(geE5) 55,959 40,054 96,013
Additions RE 5,456 = 5,456
Depreciation charged WERY (12,490) (826) (13,316)
Modification B3] (2,537) - (2,537)
Exchange realignment ERTIE -k (889) (744) (1,633)
As at 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+ZA=+—H 45,499 38,484 83,983
Notes: M s

For adjustment recognised on adoption of HKFRS 16 on
1 January 2019, please refer to Note 2.

For both years, the Group leases building for its
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed
terms of 3 months to 5 years, but may have extension
and termination options as described below. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. In determining the
lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group has extension and/or termination option in
a lease for building used for own use. This is used to
maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing the
assets used in the Group’s operations. The extension and
termination option held is exercisable only by the Group
and not by the lessor. The Group reassessed whether
it was reasonably certain to exercise an extension or
termination option upon adoption of HKFRS 16. The Group
recognised additional lease liability of HK$30,417,000 as at
1 January 2019.

In addition, the Group is the registered owner of a piece
of leasehold land where one of its IDC centers is primarily
located. Lump sum payments were made upfront to
acquire this property interest.

-

BN _Z—NF—A-BRKETE
BRI E R F 16 SR AR -
FLHME2 -

REZmEFE AEBREEERE
BT MR ZEERSHNEE MR
318 B =55 BRI A F AT At
MR R ILEEE - HERRTIR
18 5 2 P R B & & BT R e R
R A o 70 B SE TH B Ko 5T 48 1 AT U
MEIRE AKRERBANNERT
TETE & KB RTS8 HIERLTT HRR -

AEEPRFFEEANEFHRER AL
B/ SRR EE- REELAEE
BERFEAMNEESIE LRAZA
EEMWRSEET T -BAENTH
M IEEREREETRAEETE @
A BREHBAATE - REBRKAS
B IR R E16REE ET TR
BRBHHEEITE R RS-
REBR-_Z—NF—H— BEIIE
530,417,000 TR ERAE-

N REE R —RES DM
AN Zt T ERFHTBH
BEILZ - -BEZVERDTIR
RIYEH — IR MR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= R R E

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #t &= —F— L F+ = F=+—HIFFE

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 18. FHEEE (&)
Notes: (Continued) MicE: (8)
5. At 31 December 2019, the Group is committed to 5. —hW&F+=ZA=+—8 " &&

HK$3,272,000 for short-term and low-value leases.

6. The total cash outflow for leases amount to HK$14,707,000 6.
for the year ended 31 December 2019.

7. The Company has expenses related to short-term leases 7.
and leases of low-value assets of HK$14,888,000 during
the year ended 31 December 2019.

B 5 5% 45 50 % {6 (B 878 5 1 A O
3,272,000/ 7T °

HE-_Z—-hWhF+-A=+—HLHF
F %ﬁ SIRE M 4B % 514,707,000

BHE-_Z-—NF+-A=+—HLF
B ARREAEEHHERKEBESR
EREHEEMNF14,888,000/8 7T °

19. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 19. BN HERKIA
2018
—N\F
HK$'000
Analysed for reporting purposes as: BHREMS 22 FET
Non-current assets ERBEE 39,189
Current assets (included in prepayments, SABRRE EE R
deposits and other receivables) Hip IR 2 MEVE B 865
40,054
Medium-term lease mHEIEE 40,054
20. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE 0. R—MEtE RAl =
2019 2018
—E-hE “ZE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Cost of investment in an associate MN—EEE AT (ELET)Z
Unlisted RERKA - =
Share of post-acquisition loss and FEfR B 12 B5 18 &
other comprehensive income Hp 2wk - -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & F — =&

20. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

21.

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group had interest
in the following associate:

..V-Aﬁﬁﬁiﬁ%ﬁﬁé‘

—AFFTZA=1—HIEFE

0. R—HEBERA s (8

RZZE-NEFRZZE-NF+=ZA
_‘f’ El REBRATHEARRS
M

Nominal value Proportion of
Country of Principal of paid up nominal value of
Class of incorporation/ Place of issued issued capital held Proportion of
Name of entity shares held registration operation share capital by the Group voting power held Principal activities
HRBRA AEERACRT
ERER BERGBER RI/ARER FTEERY BRAEE BRAEELS BEREELA TEEH
2019 2018 2019 2018
“2-7F -I-\F ZB-AF -3-\F
ERRHEEEFE  Ordinary PRC PRC - - - - 40%  Applications of Cloud
B2 (Note) Computing and
e-commerce business
RRAFEEHE  TAR HE HE EHERAR
EIKEN(MT ) ETHK
Note: B 5

BHRRHENEE E AR A A was incorporated during the year
ended 31 December 2015 and has had no operation since its
incorporation. On 30 October 2019, the Group disposed of its
entire interest in E SR MENEZHEBR A

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had not completed the
capital contribution, for details, please refer to Note 41 for the
amount of capital commitment.

ERRPEEEFEERAARBE_Z
—hFE+-A=t—BIEFEEMKILE
HEMAZ ALY BRARES R _T—NF
+H THE AEFRLEEREFRHEE
EFEBRAR Z 2 A

R-ZE-NF+A=1+—HB FE£EHX
TERIE BREAREREZSEIHE B
25015241 -

INTERESTS IN A JOINT VENTURE 21. R—HEEE AR
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FHET
Cost of investment in a joint venture, R—B&a&RE (LM
Unlisted REMA - 469
Share of post-acquisition loss and 1R B 12 B5 18 &
other comprehensive income Hib2mka= - (194)
Exchange realignment fE 5 = (%)
- 270
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

21.

INTERESTS IN A JOINT VENTURE

(Continued)

Details of the Group’ joint venture at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

Nominal
Country of Principal value of
Class of incorporation/ Place of paid up issued  Proportion of ownership interest Proportion of
Name of entity shares held registration operation share capital held by the Group voting power held Principal activities
4RBERT rEEEREL
ERER KERGEN  HY/EMER  TEEENY RAEE FEERERLA RERERUA TEXH
2019 2018 2019 2018
“g2-pf ZF-\F  ZE-AE Z3)\F
BAYREAARE  Odnay PRC PRC RMB5,500,000 - 51% - 51% Provision of
B2 (Noteiand i) IDC senvices
BRYREEATE  ERR Giled HE AR 5,600,007 - 51% - 51% REEBBHETLRE
BRAR Wik
Notes: B 5

On 19 June 2018, Guangdong Bluesea Mobile
Development Co., Ltd. (“Guangdong Bluesea”), the equity
interest of which is controlled by the Company through
structured contracts, and China National Offshore Oil
Information Technology Limited (“CNOOIT”) entered into
a joint venture cooperation framework agreement (the
“Cooperation Framework Agreement”). Pursuant to the
Cooperation Framework Agreement, Guangdong Bluesea
and CNOOIT agreed to establish;& %% EEE A ERA
[R A Blfor the joint investment in the development of data
center business in the energy industry. /i 3 & 5 /8 K&
5 BR 2 7] was incorporated on 18 August 2018.

The Group holds 51% of the issued share capital and has
appointed 3 out of 5 directors of J&H R /EKE R
BRATR(“EHEER"). However, under the Cooperation
Framework Agreement, passing any board resolutions
requires two-thirds of the votes from the directors of J&JH
ZEFEANE R AR A7, The Directors consider that the
parties to the Cooperation Framework Agreement agree to
share control over 8 H % &, i.e. decision about activities
of /B HEEE requires unanimous consent from the other
party. As such, the investment in )& R % & is classified as
a joint venture.

On 22 February 2019, Guangdong Bluesea entered
into a sales and purchase agreement to dispose of the
51% shareholding of the joint venture at consideration of
approximately RMB500,000 (equivalent to HKD561,000).
As a result, a gain of approximately HKD373,000 was
recognised.

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFEEEEEFR LA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z -ZE—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

21. INTERESTS IN A JOINT VENTURE

(Continued)

The summarised financial information in respect of the
Group’s joint venture is set out below:

re M HRERME

21. R—TEEa 2L AR xR (&)

BRAAKRESERRMBER ZBIME
FIEA

2019 2018

—E-hE “E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Total assets BEE - 6,833

Total liabilities BwEE = (1,150)

Net assets BEEFE - 5,683
Group’s share of net assets of AEBEEEZE AT

the joint venture BEFE - 2,898

Total revenue UL A 27,247 4,875

Total loss for the year FAE B4R (161) (380)

Total comprehensive loss ZHE B4R (161) (380)
Group’s share of loss and FAREBEEGLE S

other comprehensive loss of TEZEBER
joint venture for the year HEfh2mEE (82 (194)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= R R E

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

22. GOODWILL 22. ;&
HK$’000
T
Cost D%
As at 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018, R=—ZE—N\E—H—H -
1 January 2019 and 31 December 2019 —E-NFE+=ZA=+—8"
—E-AF-F-AR
—F-NAF+=A=1—H 382,591
Accumulated impairment it EE
As at 1 January 2018 N_E—N\FE—H—H 187,452
Impairment loss recognised for the year FAEERRERSE (M:E24)

(Note 24) 63,904
As at 31 December 2018 and RZZE-—N\FE+ZA=+—HEK

1 January 2019 —E-NF—H—H 251,356
Impairment loss recognised for the year FAEEREBERE (1:E24)

(Note 24) 15,188
As at 31 December 2019 R-ZE-hAE+=A=+—H 266,544
Carrying values BREE
As at 31 December 2019 R-ZZE—-hE+=-A=+—H 116,047
As at 31 December 2018 RZE—-N\F+=-—_A=+—H 131,235

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFEEEEEFR LA
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re M HRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z -ZE—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

23. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 23. BV EE
Contracted
and Lottery
Wireless  uncontracted software Internet
network customers  development Computer finance
platform relationships system software License platform Total
BHED
KaI#2 YERH ERA
ERARTA EFBA& R G AR eRYA f-E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TEL FEr TR TEx TR TR
Cost
As at 1 January 2018 22,201 350,176 958 9,584 17,450 24,002 424,371
Exchange alignment (1,094) - (47) (472) - (46) (1,659)
As at 31 December 2018 RZZE-N\&F
and 1 January 2019 +=A=t-Ak
“E-nE-A-8 21,107 360,176 911 9,112 17,450 23,956 422,712
Exchange alignment i A% (398) - (17) (172) - (17) (604)
As at 31 December 2019 RZB-n§
+ZB=t-8 20,709 350,176 894 8,940 17,450 23,939 422,108
Accumulated amortisation ZHERAE
and impairment
As at 1 January 2018 RZE-\E-A-H 22,201 98,609 958 73 3,780 6,691 132,312
Impairment for year FRRE - - - 8,451 1,020 14,412 23,883
Provided for the year FREE S 31,837 S 955 1,902 2,445 37,139
Exchange alignment ERHE (1,004) - (47) (367) - (22) (1,530)
As at 31 December 2018 RZE-N\%F
and 1 January 2019 +ZA=+-Ak
“E-ng-A-8 21,107 130,446 M 9,112 6,702 23,526 191,804
Impairment for the year (Note 24) S PJ5/(E (Hiz24) - 39,524 - - - - 39,524
Provided for the year FhiE - 31,837 - - 1,588 137 33,562
Exchange alignment ERAE (398) - (17) (172) - (1) (598)
As at 31 December 2019 RZB-NE
+=B=t-H 20,709 201,807 894 8,940 8,290 23,652 264,292
Carrying values REE
As at 31 December 2019 R=B-NE
+=B=t-AH = 148,369 - - 9,160 287 157,816
As at 31 December 2018 RZE-\F
+=R=+-A = 219,730 & S 10,748 430 230,908
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

23.

24.

= R R E

For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE—_F—NF+-_A=+—HIEFEF

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The above intangible assets, other than brand name
and distribution network, have finite useful lives. Such
intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis
over the following periods:

Wireless network platform 5 years
Contracted and uncontracted customer 4-10 years
relationship
Lottery software development system 3 years
Exclusive rights on purchase and sale of 3.25 years
satellite communication equipment and
related services and trademark
Computer software 3-5 years
License 5-10 years
Internet finance platform 5-10 years

In view of the uncertainty of the business of insurance
brokerage service and software development, the Group
has concentrated its focus on IDC in the current year.
Given the uncertainty of the business and the change
in Group’s focus, it is expected that the original cash
generating unit will not generate any cash flows in the
future. As a result, the management has decided to
provide a full impairment of approximately HK$9,471,000
the relevant intangible assets during the year ended
31 December 2018.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL
AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill and
intangible assets with definite useful life set out in Note 22
and Note 23 has been allocated to the following groups of
cash-generating units:

o Sale of telecommunication products and services —
Bluesea Mobile Group

o Sale of telecommunication products and services —
Million Ace Group

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFEEEEEFR LA

23.

24.

‘| EE (#)

B a0 Hlsn A EBEE
EZARAFHAR RERBVEETIA
BEARRIA T FHSEH

ERBETE 5%
ERTHARKRETHZ 4-10%
BEFPBIE
RS RS 3%
EBEFEBRMRK 3.25%
AR BB IRTS MR
BRI
BB 3-54F
S 5-10%F
EBMEemTEs 5-104F

ENRBELRHEERERABEERHH
TEEE AERERAFENEL A
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ERAEEELHNER BHRASCE
HEEMBIGEEEAMARRER -
o REE_ZE-N\F+-_A=+—H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

24. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z -ZE—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

o Sale of telecommunication products and services —

Guangzhou Nowtop

o Internet finance platform business — Avatar Wealth

° Insurance brokerage service — Qianhai Wealth

The carrying amounts of goodwill (net of accumulated
impairment losses) allocated to these units are as follows:

re M HRERME

24. BMEBNMEREE ZREH

= o#m)

s HEBHERKRE-EMER

BRESRF R LEM

i |

o REKLIRTE ISR

BECKREE(MRRFRERBE)D
FEETHIEL:

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Sale of telecommunication products and HEBMEmIRS
services — Bluesea Mobile Group —EERHEHE 36,246 36,246
Sale of telecommunication products and SHE BAEm IR
services — Million Ace Group -ENER - 15,188
Sale of telecommunication products and HEBMNEMMRHE
services — Guangzhou Nowtop —EMNEHR 79,801 79,801
116,047 131,235
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24. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL

AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

SALES OF TELECOMMUNICATION
PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

Bluesea Mobile Group

The recoverable amount of Bluesea Mobile Group has
been determined based on its fair value less costs of
disposal. Its fair value determination was categorised
within Level 3 of fair value hierarchy prepared by an
independent professional valuer. The material unobservable
inputs of the valuation included 1) cash flow projection
based on a financial budget covering a five year period
approved by management; 2) discount rate of 16.5%
(2018: 16.7%) per annum for the cash flow which reflects
the time value of money and the credit risk specific to the
cash generating units; 3) steady 2% (2018: 3%) growth
rate for cash flow beyond 5 year which reflects the growth
rate of relevant industry; 4) fair values of non-operating
assets and liabilities determined by the valuer. The
management believes that any reasonable possible
change in any of these assumptions would not cause the
aggregate carrying amount of Bluesea Mobile Group to
exceed aggregate recoverable amount of Bluesea Mobile
Group.

Based on the valuation report issued by an independent
professional valuer, the recoverable amount exceeds
the carrying amount of Bluesea Mobile Group and no
impairment charge was necessary.

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFEEEEEFR LA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z -ZE—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

24. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL

AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

SALES OF TELECOMMUNICATION
PRODUCTS AND SERVICES (Continued)

Million Ace Group

In view of the downturn and keen competition of
the global mobile business environment that lead to
reduced orders from customers, revenue from trading
of telecommunication products, mainly mobile devices,
has significantly decreased compared with 2018. In
addition, due to the China-United States trade war, one
of the Android’s biggest phone manufacturers in China,
Huawei, was suspended from Android updates after the
Trump administration barred the Chinese organisation
from trading with US companies in May 2019. The
suspension has negatively impacted consumer confidence
in all Chinese-branded mobile phones. Although the
arrival of 5G era could potentially lead to a mobile phone
replacement cycle, the Group was uncertain that if the
Group could secure the source of 5G devices from its
suppliers. Should the Group be unable to secure the
supply of the next generation devices, future profitability of
the business would be negatively impacted.

Due to the above reasons, in order to save costs and
realise the Group’s investment, the Group has restructured
its trading of mobile device business and disposed of
Million Ace Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively,
“Million Ace Group”), excluding Million Ace Trading (Hong
Kong) Limited (“MAHK?”), in the third quarter of 2019.

re M HRERME

24. BMEBNMEREE ZREH

= o#m)

HESAERRRE (@)

HR %

ERERFREARREITRALEF
BUEHEFIERYD KREEEEM
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B REEMRALEF - ZEFEHHE
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BFRERBYH AREDREEEAR
SEESEHEHEERESGRENE
R MAREELIEST —RKREVH
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Rl
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24. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL

AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

SALES OF TELECOMMUNICATION
PRODUCTS AND SERVICES (Continued)

Million Ace Group (Continued)

Since the Disposal, however, there has been no
improvement in the global mobile business environment.
Together with the impact of the outbreak of coronavirus
disease, MAHK did not receive any purchase order from
its customers after the Chinese New Year of 2020. On
the other hand, despite continued negotiation with its
suppliers, MAHK was still unable to secure the supply of
the next generation mobile devices.

In light of the above, the Board resolved to cease the
operation of MAHK on 13 March 2020.

As a result of the cessation of the operation of MAHK,
the cash generating unit of the trading of mobile device
business will no longer generate any cash flow. The
recoverable amount of Million Ace Group has determined
based on value in use calculation. As it is expected that
the recoverable amount of Million Ace Group will be
minimal, the Group has fully written off the goodwill of
approximately HK$15,188,000 (2018: HK$50,000,000)
and the intangible assets of approximately HK$39,524,000
(2018: Nil) arose from the acquisition of Million Ace Group.

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFEEEEEFR LA
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re M HRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z -ZE—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

24. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL

AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

SALES OF TELECOMMUNICATION
PRODUCTS AND SERVICES (Continued)

Guangzhou Nowtop

The recoverable amount of Guangzhou Nowtop has been
determined based on its fair value less costs of disposal.
Its fair value determination was categorised within Level
3 of fair value hierarchy prepared by an independent
professional valuer. The material unobservable inputs of
the valuation included 1) cash flow projection based on a
financial budget covering a five year period approved by
management; 2) discount rate of 16.52% (2018: 18.51%)
per annum for the cash flow which reflects the time
value of money and the credit risk specific to the cash
generating units; 3) steady 2% (2018: 3%) growth rate for
cash flow beyond 5 year which reflects the growth rate
of relevant industry; 4) fair values of non-operating assets
and liabilities determined by the valuer. The management
believes that any reasonable possible change in any of
these assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying
amount of Guangzhou Nowtop to exceed aggregate
recoverable amount of Guangzhou Nowtop.

Based on the valuation report issued by an independent
professional valuer, the recoverable amount exceeds the
carrying amount of Guangzhou Nowtop and no impairment
charge was necessary.

24. BMEBNMEREE ZREH
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hFHBEENRE RN 28F
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= R R E

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #ZE — =

24.

25.

—NFTZA=—HAUFE

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL 24, B2 M #E & & 2 B8 8
AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) = (&)
INTERNET FINANCE PLATFORM EEEmMYA
Avatar Wealth M NLEME
As at 31 December 2018, in view of the unfavourable RZE-—NF+ZA=+—H ERE
operating and regulatory environment of the Internet R TAEBHNTAEEREETR
finance platform business and the fact that Avatar Wealth 5 LMSZB‘U‘LLWT TDE*ETF”‘W@ BEE
is still in the process of carrying our rectification work on HFEMHEERTHEIHES®
its operation of the Internet finance platform in accordance TEEBETE E&If’ﬁ TEREABR
with the regulations issued by the local regulatory B AT BE 11D BABA o (A Ut - B A T E 3%
department, the possibility to complete the relevant filings ReEABMNKRENEERRRE R
remains uncertain. It is therefore uncertain that this cash P ALEE A kE €8 E REEA
generating unit will be able to generate cash flow in the BEFEEMETE EETEMN LER
future, the recoverable amount of Avatar Wealth has EAMESEM N Bt EFRER
been determined based on value in use calculation. The HMERRENLEVEEE 2 HE
Directors expect that the recoverable amount of Avatar MER A E S 5I#913,904,00078 7T & 49
Wealth will be minimal and, as such, the Directors have 14,412,000/%8 JT °
decided to fully write off the goodwill of approximately
HK$13,904,000 and the intangible assets of approximately
HK$14,412,000 arose from the acquisition of Avatar
Wealth.
INVENTORIES 25. 78
2019 2018
—E-hE — N\
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FET
Finished goods UK o 5,678 5,867
Less: Accumulated impairment B BEDRE (800) (800)
4,878 5,067

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Directors
conducted a review of the Group’s inventories and no
impairment loss has been recognised (2018: HK$NIl).

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFEEEEEFR LA
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z -ZE—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

26. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

26. YR X

2019 2018

—E-hE —ZE-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Accounts receivable JFEE Uit B 3R 157,332 272,130
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEERRE (45,053) (42,705)
112,279 229,425

The Group allows an average credit period of 90 days
(2018: 90 days) to its trade customers. The following is an
ageing analysis of accounts receivable net of accumulated

AEBHRTFTEESEFRFEHOR (ZF
Hlo- RREERR
BEREZAHAMEY 2 KRR (KM

e

—\F:90R)MEE

[SIESS

allowance for doubtful debts presented based on the RIRZFTEE) 2RO -
invoice date at the end of the reporting period.

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERx FET
Within 30 days 30BR 26,997 64,869
31 to 60 days 31£60H 44,882 38,560
61 to 90 days 61£90H 9,782 34,066
91 to 180 days 91£180H 19,961 16,611
Over 180 days HBiB180H 10,657 75,319
112,279 229,425
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27.

28.

= R R E

For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE—_F—NF+-_A=+—HIEFEF

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND
OTHER RECEIVABLES

200

BMFIE e MEA R
IR

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THER FHET
Prepayment AR A 227,547 747,722
Deposits birara 20,803 21,751
Other receivables H At & W R IA 93,752 184,582
342,102 954,055
Less: allowance for credit loss B EEBERRE (17,352) (71,291)
324,750 882,764
Less: non-current portion B IEREE
Prepayment for construction BEEBRMEZ
of property for self-used TET A (189,802) (719,646)
Current Portion mENEB 134,948 163,118

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk
arising from deposits and other receivables are set out in
note 6.

NOTE RECEIVABLE

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company
entered into a Deed of Assignment (the “DoA”) with an
independent third party (the “Assignee”) pursuant to
which the Company agreed to assign, and the Assignee
agreed to accept an assignment of a promissory note
(the “Promissory Note”) with a principal amount of
HK$88,000,000 and all rights and benefits derived thereon
to the Assignee for a consideration of HK$71,883,000
(comprising the discounted value of the Promissory Note
of HK$65,200,000 and the interest at 5% per annum
thereon of HK$6,683,000 in aggregate for two years from
the date of the DoA), payable on or before 28 March 2019.
In relation to the DoA, a Deed of Guarantee in favour of
the Company was executed by another independent third
party (the “Guarantor”) pursuant to which the Guarantor
agreed to guarantee to the Company the due and timely
performance of the Assignee’s obligations under the DoA.

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFEEEEEFR LA
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #HZE —=F

re M HRERME

—NE+ZAZ AU

NOTE RECEIVABLE (Continued) 28. BN ERE (&
As at 31 December 2019, the net carrying amount of note —NE+ZA=+—8 EBKE
receivable was HK$61,586,000 (2018: HK$60,853,000). & 2 BR M ¥ 18 /61,586,000 7L (=&
The note receivable is carried at amortised cost using the — \4F 160,853,000/ 7T ) ° FE UL =& T5
effective interest method (net of allowance for credit losses A ERA RRIZEHK AR (Fk
of approximately HK$10,297,000 (2018: HK$10,099,000)). EEBIBEE10,297,0008 T (=&
— J\£E : 10,099,000/&7C) ) °
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, REHARE REACBEEENRE
the Assignee has fully settled the consideration of 71,883,000/ JT °
HK$71,883,000.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2. He MIREFEEY
2019 2018
“E-hE — N\
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FHET
Cash in hand and at bank FERETRES
HKD BT 305 2,556
RMB ARE 15,998 24,643
usD eI 1,623 9,548
17,926 36,747

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and
balance with banks.

Bank balances carry interest at market rates ranged from
0.001% to 0.35% (As at 31 December 2018: 0.001% to
0.35%) per annum at 31 December 2019.

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies;
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations,
the Company is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through authorised banks to conduct foreign
exchange business.

BekReFEYERETRRS LET
KRR

—AWE+ZA=+—R8 K174
R 5 F M XN F0.001% £0.35%
(R—ZE—N\F+=-A=+—H:0.001%

%£0.35% )5t 8 -

ARBIGERIBAEMESR A
ARAZ o B P 3t B9 S0 B 3R AR ) I A B
EEMNEEERT ARAREESB
BREETINEXBRRITHARB LB
REMEE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

30. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 30. B BR K
The following is an ageing analysis of accounts payable RIERRIZEZHHENNNEMIERER
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the RBRER DT T

reporting period:

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHET
Within 30 days 30HA 25,542 54,717
31 to 60 days 31260H 15,049 27,300
61 to 90 days 61290H 5,637 6,452
Over 90 days HBiB90H 21,967 42,153
68,195 130,622
The average credit period on purchases of goods is 90 BEERMIEHEERAWNA (RZE
days (As at 31 December 2018: 90 days). The Group has —NF+=-ZA=+—H:90H) - A%EH
financial risk management policies in place to ensure that EHEMBRBREBBR BRAEE
all payables are settled within the credit timeframe. HARR N AE)E FT A FE 3R IE

31. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS/ 31, Hfth e3R8 R et 2008

CONTRACT LIABILITIES BHEE
() OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS () HttEMSFEREFTRE
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
Other payables H fth & 1 FRIE 66,061 41,974
Accruals JEET 7 IE 12,165 15,066
78,226 57,040
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z -ZE—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

31. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS/ 31. Efy B 3RI8 N BT 718

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Gontinued) BABE @
() CONTRACT LIABILITIES nm eHaE
2019 2018
—E-hF —EF-N\F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FE&T FAET
Amounts received in advance in ARNEREMmBELRZ
relation to delivery of © 78 (FsE)
telecommunication products (Note) 1,529 3,433
Note: Revenue is recognised when control of the goods Mizt: WaEnrmaiEtlEEETER
has transferred to the customer, being at the point (EGRRNTFERP )RR
the goods are delivered to the customer. When the ERFPVISBERmI A
customer initially purchases the goods and paid in R AEBRERZED
advance, the transaction price received at that point REGERERREVNEEESR
by the Group is recognised as contract liability until AR TER-

the goods have been delivered to the customer.

The following table shows how much of the revenue TRIA AR EHEERZ A
recognised in the current reporting period relates to HEBANBEZHBEREE - BE
brought-forward contract liabilities. There was no RARERRBEREMETFE
revenue recognised in the current reporting period ERBEBHOSETEEHIRA -

that related to performance obligations that were
satisfied in a prior year.

The Group’s revenue recognised that was included AEERBUEHRZETAEN
in the contract liabilities balance at the beginning of BEEBRZIA:
the period:
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THER FAET
Amounts received in advance in ARNEREMBEL Z
relation to delivery of ok
telecommunication products 3,433 9,557
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

32. LEASE LIABILITIES

The following table shows the remaining contractual
maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities at the current
reporting periods and at the date of transition of HKFRS

2. HEARE

TRIVRNATRE HIE RN BBV R
SRAFIGSREZBERY AEERE
BEZHBTIEHNEMS:

16:
31 December 2019 1 January 2019
“E-AFE+ZA=1+-H “Z-NF-A-H
Present Present
value of the Total value of the Total
minimum lease  minimum lease  minimum lease  minimum lease
payments payments payments payments
REHRE REHE BEHE 5EHRE
RERE HIEET NERE HERE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TER AT TER THL
Within 1 year —FR 9,364 11,785 11,020 13,845
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMER 7,614 9,577 7,968 10,322
After 2 years but within 5 years MEREBRFA 14,912 18,853 19,551 24,456
After 5 years AF# 17,464 20,146 20,555 24,392
39,990 48,576 48,074 59,170
49,354 60,361 59,094 73,015
Less: total future interest expenses i : R R F| B I 1A% (11,007) (13,921)
Present value of lease obligations ~ FAEEFH(E 49,354 59,094
Note: BT

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 under the modified
retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances at
1 January 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to leases
which were previously classified as operating leases under HKAS
17. Comparative information as at 31 December 2018 has not
been restated. Further details on the impact of the transition to
HKFRS 16 are set out in Note 2.

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFEEEEEFR LA
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BE-_F—NF+-A=+—HIFE

LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019

32. HEEE ®m)

Analysed for reporting purpose as: MBEMST 29!
2019 2018
—E-hF —EF-N\E
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Current liabilities mENBa R’ 9,364 11,020
Non-current liabilities EmBAE 39,990 48,074
49,354 59,094
BANK BORROWINGS 33. RITEK
2019 2018
—E-hF —EF-N\E
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Short-term bank borrowings, secured REHRERITIE R A 226,853 375,870
Portion of term loan from bank, secured  FHIRITERE D - A H
— repayable within one year —AR—FAEE 52,142 24,978
— repayable after one year —AR—FEEE
which contain a repayment on (BEREXKEER
demand clause 1650 802,454 281,413
Total borrowings 8RB RE 1,081,449 682,261

As 31 December 2019, all of the bank borrowings are
denominated in RMB and bear interest from 3.83% to
4.90% (2018: 4.40% to 6.09%) per annum.

6.09% )T B o
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

33. BANK BORROWINGS (Continued) 33.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s banking facilities
amounting to approximately HK$1,598,745,000
(2018: HK$1,675,065,000), of which approximately
HK$1,081,449,000 (2018: HK$682,261,000) had been
utilised as at the end of the reporting period, are secured
by the pledge of certain properties of the Group and of
companies substantially owned by Dr. Lie, an executive
director and substantial shareholder of the Company.

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying value of the
Group’s properties that secure the above bank loans is
approximately HK$80,949,000 (2018: HK$86,899,000).

The amounts based on the scheduled repayment dates
set out in the loan agreements and the maturities of the
Group’s bank borrowings at the end of the respective
reporting period (i.e. ignoring the effect of any repayment
on demand clause) are shown below:

IRITIE TN (1)

RZE—-—hLE+ZA=+—H X%
B iR 17 R & 491,598,745,0005 7T ( =
T — J\4F : 1,675,065,0005 7T ) + H &
#)1,081,449,0008 L (= F — )\ F:
682,261,000/ 70) E R ¥R &= HA KRB A -
TIAKREB RIIEL (KRARNITES
MEEBRR)ABRLEBEHLRNET
I ES i

RZFE-—HhAhF+ZA=+T—H X%
ERAUNRG LRRTERZYRER
B /7% %980,949,0008 7T (=& — \ 5 :
86,899,000/ 7T ) °

REREHRR REERBEAATEE
B AR AEERITERNOI B
B (2R EARBREZGEIOE

2 )T AR

2

4

I KD Rl

2019 2018
—EB-NF —E-)\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THExT FET
Amounts of bank borrowings that AR T EREED
are repayable: RITERESRE:
— within 1 year —1F R 278,995 400,848
— between 1 and 2 years —152%F 79,320 31,573
— between 2 and 5 years —2&5F 331,540 95,961
— beyond 5 years —5F Mk 391,594 153,879
Total borrowings B4R 1,081,449 682,261
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z -ZE—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

34. DEFERRED TAXATION 34, IR IE
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated IRGEEMBRARAZIME BT
statement of financial position, certain deferred tax EEHIEEERBEDEAEHE - UT
assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is the ARV BERENZELERIBLEH D
analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting #
purposes:
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Deferred tax assets FEFIAE E 7,268 22,303
Deferred tax liabilities REHIARE (39,382) (53,667)
(32,114) (31,364)
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and LTARENRBATFEANCHERZE
assets recognised and movements thereon during the ZREFBEEBEREEREED:
current and prior years:
Right-of-use Fair value
assets Adjustments
and lease ECL on business
liabilities provision combination Total
EREEER REEE E Ty
HESE BERE ATEAR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THT THT THT
As at 1 January 2018 R-E-\5-HA—8 . 26,633 (65,830) (39,197)
Credited to consolidated statement st AR EBH R E M
of profit or loss and other 2EMEE (HE1)
comprehensive income (Note 11) - (3,548) 12,163 8,615
Exchange realignment B 5 5 - (782) - (782)
As at 31 December 2018 RZE-N\E
+-A=+—H - 22,303 (53,667) (31,364)
Impact of application of HKFRS 16 [ER & BBk
(Note 2) T [o) 7
(Fiz2) 586 - - 586
Restated as at 1 January 2019 RZT-NF
—A—BEE7 586 22,303 (53,667) (30,778)
Credited to consolidated statement 5t AR A B K
of profit or loss and other HizmkaER
comprehensive income (Note 11) (BEE11) 259 (7,197) 14,285 7,347
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 39(a)) HEMBAF
(Mi£39()) - (8,747) 5 (8,747)
Exchange realignment B 5 5% 29) 87 - 64
As at 31 December 2019 R=2-N%F
+=B=+-8 822 6,446 (39,382) (32,114)
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

34. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$151,384,000 (2018:
HK$291,689,000) available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax losses may
be carried forward indefinitely.

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group did not have
any deductible temporary differences. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in relation to such deductible
temporary difference as it is not probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences can be utilised.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the
PRC subsidiaries. Deferred taxation has not been provided
for in the consolidated financial statement in respect of
temporary difference attributable to the profits earned by
the PRC subsidiaries as the Group is able to control the
timing of reversal at the temporary difference and it is
probable that will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFEEEEEFR LA
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SHARE CAPITAL 35. fx AN
Par value Number of
per share shares Amount
BREE BRGEAE S8
HK$ HK$'000
BT FAT
Authorised: ERE
As at 1 January 2018, R-ZE-NE—-A—H"
31 December 2018, —E-N\EF
1 January 2019 and +=-A=+-8"
31 December 2019 ZE-NF-B-HBK
ZE-hE
+=BA=+—-H 0.1 20,000,000,000 2,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEEITRAE:
As at 1 January 2018 R=-ZFE-NE—-HF—H 0.1 9,528,844,345 952,884
Repurchase of shares (Note) ~R#HER (Ki:) 0.1 (6,660,000) (666)
As at 31 December 2018, R=B-N\&F
1 January 2019 and +-ZA=+-H"
31 December 2019 “E-hE-A—H
kK=—ZE-hF+=A
=+—H 0.1 9,522,184,345 952,218
Note: BT 5T
The Company repurchased on the market a total of 6,660,000 RNR AR ERNRERER1,271,00008 T 1E
ordinary shares of the Company with an aggregate consideration T35 88 B & 3£6,660,0008% 48 22 & & 3@ A% © AT
of approximately HK$1,271,000 during the year. All of these BRERMHEFHE -BREKRG 2 BN HE
shares were cancelled. The premium payable on repurchases of ERRMIEERT -
shares was charged to share premium account.
SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 36. AR 2l

Pursuant to a resolution passed at a annual general
meeting of the Company held on 19 December 2012,
a new share option scheme (the “New Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted by the Company.

The previous share option scheme of the Company (the
“Old Share Option Scheme”) was expired on 21 July
2012, no further options can be granted under the Old
Share Option Scheme thereafter. All outstanding share
options granted under the Old Share Option Scheme
remained outstanding until they lapsed in accordance with
the terms of the Old Share Option Scheme.

ARERE——F+=_A+NLBHE1T
RERBFRgEB-HERARER B
KARHRMW— B BERETS ([HB
BRRESTEL) -

AABZATERES ((EERE
FEIOR-_ZE—=—F+tA=-+—HE
WHEREREERRETSE—F
R BB AR - AR IR E AR AT B 2 63
RIBEBRETEE L 2B RITER
BRI MAITERER RS -
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

The Company operates the New Share Option Scheme for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Eligible participants of the New Share Option
Scheme include the Directors (including independent
non-executive directors), other employees of the Group,
and suppliers of goods or services to the Group.

The maximum number of unexercised share options
currently permitted to be granted under the New Share
Option Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their
exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any time. The maximum number of shares issuable under
share options to each eligible participant in the New Share
Option Scheme within any 12 month period is limited to
1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time.
Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is
subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 28 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of
a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee.
The exercise period of the share options granted is
determinable by the Directors, and commences after
a certain vesting period and ends on a date which is
not later than 10 years from the date of the offer of the
share options or the expiry date of the New Share Option
Scheme, if earlier.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by
the Directors, but may not be less than the higher of (i) the
Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on
the date of the offer of the share options; (i) the average
Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s share for
five trading days immediately preceding the date of the
offer; and (jii) the nominal value of the shares.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 g7 = E— &L= F=1—HIFFZF

36. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholder’s meeting. The
following table discloses details of the Company’s share
option in issue under the Scheme during the year:

B AT &) ()

RN T T HEE ARBUR B3R
RERG LREZEN -FR KRNAQF
BEZTE BT BRESBEEENT
x:

Number of share options
ERE"A
Asat
Exercise Asat Granted Lapsed Cancelled Reallocated 31 December Lapsed Reallocated Asat
Name of category of Exercise price per 1 January during during during during 2018 and during during 31 December
participant Date of grant  period share 2018 the year the year the year the year 1 January 2019 the year the year 2019
(Note 1) (Note 2)
RZZ-NF
t=A=t-A
RZB-N§ R=%-1% RZB-1E
SHERRIEE  RUAH i3] SRITER -B-B RERRE  RERRR  REREE RERENAR -B-B  REREX RERENSE tZA=t-8B
(W) (Kt2)
Directors
j
Dr. LIE Haiquan 0250 - 9,000,000 - 9,000,000} - - - - -
bl 4. ke
942018 0250 - 9,000,000 - - - 9,000,000 - - 9,000,000
Z2-\&
BANA :
Mr. CHEUNG 3.1, 2018 31.1.2018 to 30.1.2021 0250 - 18,000,000 - (18,000,000) - - - - -
Sing Tai Z? Mﬁ A=t-8%
REREL
94201810 8.4.2021 0250 - 18,000,000 - - - 18,000,000 - - 18,000,000
\EMANAE
“B-—%MAN
Mr. ZHANG Xinyu 342013 34201310 24.2013 0275 45,600,000 - (45,600,000) - - - - - -
RHEE -2
0250 - 6,000,000 - 6,000,000} - - - - -
94201810 8.4.2021 0250 - 6,000,000 - - (6,000,000) - - - -
I-\¥mANRZ
“2-—%MAN
Mr. XU Gang 31.1.2018 to 30.1.2021 0250 - 6,000,000 - 6,000,000} 5 = = = =
hEEE “E-\E-A=t-R%
—F--F-f=1A
94201810 8.4.2021 0250 - 6,000,000 - - - 6,000,000 - - 6,000,000
“E-\¥mANRZ
“B-ERAN
Mr. TAO Wei 31.1.2018 to 30.1.2021 0250 - 6,000,000 - 6,000,000} S S = = =
BRkE ZE-\¥-A=t-H%
“2--£-A=tH
942018 94201810 8.4.2021 0250 - 6,000,000 - - - 6,000,000 - - 6,000,000
2-\& 7? NEBANRZE
BANA
Mr. ZHANG Bo 0250 - 6,000,000 - 6,000,000} - - - - -
RREE
0250 - 6,000,000 - - - 6,000,000 - (6,000,000) -
Mr. ZHANG Zihua 0250 - 1,000,000 - (1,000,000) - - - - -
RFE(ZHANG
Zihua) £ £ >
94201810 84. 2021 0250 - 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000

—2-\§mANRZ
“2--£RANA

Annual Report 2019 —E— AL £ 3]

211



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= R R E
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

36. xRS (@)

Number of share options
BRE"E
Asat
Exercise Asat Granted Lapsed Cancelled Reallocated 31 December Lapsed Reallocated As at
Name of category of Exercise price per 1 January during during during during 2018 and during during 31 December
participant Date of grant  period share 2018 the year the year the year the year 1 January 2019 the year the year 2019
(Note 1) (Note 2)
RZZ-NF
tZA=t-A
RZB-N§ R=%-1% RZ2-1&
SHERRIAE  RUAH ;2] SRITER -A-B REARH RERKHR REREH RERENIE -A-A RERER REREFAE T-A=t-H
(Hit1) (Wit2)
Ms. XI Lina 31.1.2018 31.1.2018 to 30.1.2021 0250 = 1,000,000 = (1,000,000} = = = S =
2Bzt J \F-A=+-0%
—#-f=tH
942018 9.4.2018 to 8.4.2021 0250 = 1,000,000 = = = 1,000,000 = S 1,000,000
ZI-\F “E-\fMANEE
EANA —¥mANR
Mr. HUANG 31.1.2018 31.1.2018 to 30.1.2021
Zhixiong 0.250 = 1,000,000 = (1,000,000) = = = = =
ESfxs Z3-)\% Z3-\§-B=1-BZ
-R=+-B ZB--%-A=tH
942018 94.2018 t0 8.4.2021 0250 S 1,000,000 S S S 1,000,000 = S 1,000,000
—2-)\&
EANA
45,600,000 108,000,000 45,600,000) (54,000,000) 6,000,000} 48,000,000 = (6,000,000 42,000,000
Employees 342013 34201310 2.4.2018 0275 27,360,000 = (27,360,000 = = = = S =
L1}
0250 = 69,000,000 2,000,000} = = 67,000,000 (1,800,000) S 65,200,000
27,360,000 69,000,000 29,360,000) - - 67,000,000 (1,800,000) - 65,200,000
Others 84,2011 84.2011107.4.2021 0469 6,840,000 - - - - 6,840,000 - - 6,840,000
it 2—-f “Z-—EMANEE
BANR T -EMALA
342013 34201310 24.2018 0275 41,040,000 - (41,040,000) - - - - - -
0250 - 126,000,000 - - - 126,000,000 - - 126,000,000
942018 94201810 8.4.2021 0250 - 100,000,000 (20,000,000) - 6,000,000 86,000,000 s 6,000,000 92,000,000
E-)\E Z2-\EMANEE
HANR ZEZ_-£MANE
47,880,000 226,000,000 (61,040,000) S 6,000000 218,840,000 = 6,000,000 224,840,000
Total 120,840,000 403,000,000 (136,000,000) (54,000,000) - 333,840,000 (1,800,000) - 332,040,000
3t
Note 1: Mr. ZHANG Xinyu resigned as a Director on 31 August MisE1: RFEFEER-_ZT—-NFNA
2018 and has remained as a director of a subsidiary of T+ —HEEESF B i
the Company since then. His share options have been BETAQR—HWNBARZE
reallocated to “Others”. B R EREEENIREIH
fi] e
Note 2: Mr. ZHANG Bo resigned as a Director on 30 August Mo : REEEER_ZE—IAFNA=ZT

212

2019 and has remained as a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company since then. His share

options have been reallocated to “Others”.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z -ZE—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

36. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

The fair values of first and second options granted
under the New Share Option Scheme measured at the
date of grant during the year ended 31 December 2018
was approximately HK$9,485,000 and HK$7,717,000
respectively. The following significant assumptions were
used to derived the fair value using the Binomial Option
Pricing Model:

9 April 31 January
2018 2018

Total number of share option 154,000,000 195,000,000

Option value HK$0.0501  HK$0.0486
Option life 3 years 3 years
Expected Tenor 3 years 3 years
Exercise price HK$0.250 HK$0.250
Stock price at the date

of grant HK$0.176 HK$0.190
Expected volatility 82.79% 83.04%
Risk-free rate 1.596% 1.489%

Expected volatility was reference to Bloomberg calculated
from the weighted average historical volatility of weekly
return of share price of comparable companies and the
Company. Risk-free rate represents the yields to maturity
of Hong Kong Exchange Fund Note with respective
terms to maturity as at the share options granted date.
The expected life used in the model has been adjusted,
based on management’s best estimate, for the effects
of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioral
considers.

No share options were exercised during the year ended
31 December 2019 and 2018.

36. AT (®)

REZE_ZE—N\F+A=+—HLEF
ERENEREASRE 2E—HES
“HEREARE BB EZATE
5 Bl & 499,485,000/ 7T K&7,717,0007%
Lo AT TIAZIERXBEEERNEE
AFERFEAZEZR®RRK:

—E-N\F ZE-N\%F

MANE —A=1+-H

EREAH 154,000,000 195,000,000
EREEE 0.0501787T  0.0486/8 7T
SR E T 3 3F
BEEH 3F 3%
11EE 02507  0.250 7T
REEBZRE 017687 019087
TEH 18 82.79% 83.04%
ERRFIX 1.596% 1.489%
FEHRIE 2R EEMFE B R

DA R AR R E R B R N 5
SORIRS H - EA R M RN R E B
BEHRM FBINEESRIRZBIH
Wk -HERBREMFTT BAH
ZEMFHCAEREREZ TR EE
M TERVIRTRASFEBERRZVE
imAB Pz o

MEBRERBE _T-NAFRE_F
—N\Ft+-A=t—BLFEETE-
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37. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future

37. MEBRDAMELE CBEH
AR
TERAHAREBEEDFELY AE
28 AERGRFERSED MAT
BFELYBENARLTERIE KR

ERENAEHGARERERNER

cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

KERMELHREREZAB

activities.
Bank
borrowings Lease liabilities Total
RITRER HESE EH)
(Note 33) (Note 32)
(HfzE33) (Hi&Fs2)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT TER FET
As at 1 January 2018 W-Z-\&—A—AH 119,800 = 119,800
Changes from financing cash flows BERERER
Bank borrowings raised EE7RAER 733,453 - 733,453
Repayment of bank borrowings BRRITER (136,680) - (136,680)
Interest paid ERFE (19,641) = (19,641)
Total changes from financing cash flows BERSREEYLE 577,132 - 577,132
Finance costs (Note 10) BERA (M310) 19,641 = 19,641
Other non-financing cash flows At ERERENE - - -
Exchange realignment EHAE (34,312) - (34,312)
As at 31 December 2018 RZE-\F+=-A=+—H 682,261 - 682,261
Impact on adoption of HKFRS 16 RMBRYBBREER
Fl16T T E - 59,094 59,094
As at 1 January 2019 R-E-NF—A—-H 682,261 59,094 741,355
Changes from financing cash flows BEREREE
Bank borrowings raised ESVRITER 821,599 - 821,599
Repayment of bank borrowings BERTER (373,969) = (373,969)
Leases rental paid BEfEE - (14,707) (14,707)
Interest paid BERFE (63,633) - (63,633)
Total changes from financing cash flows BEREREEYLE 383,997 (14,707) 369,290
Finance costs (Note 10) BERA (M310) 63,633 2,931 66,564
Other movement Hip s = 2,990 2,990
Exchange realignment A (48,442) (954) (49,396)
As at 31 December 2019 RZE-AF+ZA=+—H 1,081,449 49,354 1,130,803
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z -ZE—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(A) ACQUISITION OF BLUESEA MOBILE

On 6 June 2018, ERH EBHERABR A A
(Guangdong Bluesea Mobile Development Company
Limited*) (“Bluesea Mobile”), entered into an equity
transfer agreement with an independent third party
to acquire 70% equity interest in &I 5 a1 Bk
B HBR A A (Shenzhen Yixun 10T Technology
Co., Ltd.*) (“Shenzhen Yixun”). Shenzhen Yixun is
principally engaged in trading of telecommunication
products in the PRC. The acquisition was completed

on 6 June 2018.

The fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired
is as follows:

38. Y HE M B A 7]

(A)

WERSBH

RZFE—N\FRAXNB BERESE
BHERARAR(IHEBH])
B2 BUE=Fr UREEE
15k - AURE R YITH 5 aR B BH
BRAF (DRINSZH]) #70% i
B-RYHAETERENTEEER
BEMEm - WESEAR-_F—N\F
NRARBTEK-

PR 2 Al BRI EEFE 2 RF
BT

HK$'000

FHET

Property, plant and equipment I ER 7
Inventory BE 81
Trade and other receivables 25 N H b e IE 2,553
Cash and cash equivalents BeMReEEY 4,477
Trade and other payables B 5 REMENIKIE (329)
Receipt in advance TR A (6,324)
Non-controlling interests FEIERR A (180)
Total identifiable net assets acquired P B vl 38 0l & B R B 4258 285

The non-controlling interests recognised at the
acquisition date were measured by reference to
the proportionate share of fair values of Shenzhen
Yixun’s net assets at the acquisition date and
amounted to approximately HK$180,000.

RUREE B EIER 2 IEERERTD
SBAREABIHEISZAE
EFEATEERLMNGE 8B
180,000/ 7T °
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

(A) ACQUISITION OF BLUESEA MOBILE
(Continued)

The consideration of the acquisition was satisfied by

38. WHEMT B A 7] (&)

(A WEBESBE (@)

WEREBEUXNRERZTAEBEMND

cash of approximately HK$285,000. 285,000/8 7T °
HK$'000
FHET
Net cash inflow arising on the acquisition: WHEEA£IR &R AFE
Consideration paid in cash BRI 2RE 285
Less: Cash and cash equivalent balances J& : FTUEIR & RIR & S B Y&
acquired (4,477)
(4,192)

Acquisition related costs were insignificant and have
been excluded from the cost of acquisition and
have been recognised directly as an expense in the
period and included in the “administrative and other
expenses” line item in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

Since the acquisition, Shenzhen Yixun has
contributed approximately HK$46,097,000 to
the Group’s revenue and recorded a loss of
approximately HK$158,000 for the year ended
31 December 2018.

Had the acquisition of Shenzhen Yixun been
effected at the beginning of the year, the total
amount of revenue of the Group for year ended
31 December 2018 would have been approximately
HK$2,529,707,000, and the amount of the loss
for the year would have been approximately
HK$126,805,000. The proforma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of operations of the
Group that actually would have been achieved had
the acquisition been completed at the beginning of
the year, nor is it intended to be a projection of future
results.

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFEEEEEFR LA

WHEHBARAY ~E AR &
TERBR A MRERER SR
X AEEEERZ [TTHB R
HEMIEBE T

RERE B2 \F+=-A
=+—HLEFE FISMEELE
B U %5 B Bl 4946,097,000/8 7T 0 I
%13 E518 49158,00058 JT °

i RZIN BB BB BRF I ER
AEBHE_Z—N\FE+_A
T+ —HLEFEZRSBEBLY
52,5629,707,000/ 7T F N EIE
& 58 1% %) 5126,805,00078 7T ° 1
EEREHRFBRAR YT —ER
MAEWKESBERFEVZKZIBER
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z -ZE—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

(A)

(B)

ACQUISITION OF BLUESEA MOBILE
(Continued)

In determining the ‘pro-forma’ revenue and profit of
the Group had Shenzhen Yixun been acquired at
the beginning of the year, the Directors calculated
depreciation and amortisation of property, plant
and equipment based on the recognised amounts
of property, plant and equipment at the date of the
acquisition.

CHANGE IN OWNERSHIP INTERESTS
IN BLUESEA ZHUHANG

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Group obtained 9% equity interests of &N BT /& Ik
AR B8 AR % A BR A 7] (Guangdong Bluesea Zhuhang
School Bus Services Limited*) (“Bluesea Zhuhang”)
from a non-controlling shareholder of Bluesea
Zhuhang upon the restructuring at a consideration
of nil. The effect of the acquisition on the equity
attributable to the owners of the Company is as
follows:

38. WHEM B A 7] (&)

(A)

(B)

WEEE SR E (&)

REEE R Z AR F )RR E
MBER T AEED[HE] Ik
wEAE EFREVE BB R
BEREEAMERRAZSEAE
WME BB MERBZITEREHE-

RE BN 2 A EER
2E

REEZZT—-N\F+A=+—
AIEFE AEBREBEZUER
BEEHEMNB S HEMREREER
AR ([BIB%M]) 2 —RIERER
&% 3B AS B 8 BR A 29 % AR # - Ik
BHARNGHEE ABGREZR
2mT:

HK$’000
TET
Carrying amount of non-controlling PR 8 FE R e i 2 2 AR TEN (B
interests acquired 695
Consideration paid for ERFEEREESN2RE
non-controlling interests -
695
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES B) NEBIRMZ FTEERE S
(Continued) 2E) (@)
(C) CHANGE IN OWNERSHIP INTERESTS (C) M BLUESEA FINANCE 2z
IN BLUESEA FINANCE FFEREREE
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the REBEE_Z-NF+_A=+—
Group acquired 30% equity interests of Bluesea BIEFE ' A& E 5 Bluesea
Group Finance Limited (“Bluesea Finance”) from Group Finance Limited ([ Bluesea
the non-controlling shareholder of Bluesea Finance Finance ] ) 2 — & JFZE IR AR &R UK
through acquisition of 100% equity interests of a 8% Bluesea Finance 230 % li#E » 77
company which is holding 30% equity interests of ANAEBUREIEZTHE—HRF
Blusesea Finance at a consideration of US$1. The A Bluesea Finance 230% & #E 2
effect of the acquisition on the equity attributable to NAEZ 2 EARHE - WIE AR R R
the owners of the Company is as follows: BAEGLREZZZ0OT :
HK$’000
FHET
Carrying amount of non-controlling Frug 8 FE R i s 2 BRI (B
interests acquired (1,098)
Consideration paid for EREEREE T2 RE
non-controlling interests -
(1,098)
(D) CHANGE IN OWNERSHIP INTERESTS (D) RTEKRMBARZFE
IN INSIGNIFICANT SUBSIDIARIES EEREE
During the year ended 31 December 2019, REEZZT-NF+A=1—
the Group obtained equity interests of various AIEFE A&EE B TR R
insignificant subsidiaries from the non-controlling BETAERWE R T ZBRHE U
shareholders. The effect of the acquisition on the BHARBHB AEGRE
equity attributable to the owners of the Company is 20T
as follows:
HK$’000
FHET
Carrying amount of non-controlling Pk B8 FEE i i s 2 BR AN (E
interests acquired (2,589)
Less: effect of translation reserve BRERECTE 288
Consideration paid for ERIEERER 2 RE
non-controlling interests -
(2,301)
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z -ZE—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 39. LEMWEB AT
(A) DISPOSAL OF MILLION ACE GROUP A) HEEBEHXEH

On 26 September 2019, an indirectly wholly-owned RZE—NAFNLAZFTB XA
subsidiary of the Company entered into a sales and Al—HEEE2ENBRARRR]—
purchase agreement to dispose its 100% interest HEBEMEALEERERER
in Milion Ace Group. Pursuant to the agreement, ZrEED - RERHE BEHFER
the purchaser has agreed to purchase the sale Z LA E10,000,0007% T B2 B 84
shares at a consideration of HK$10,000,000. The ERD - BRNEENTEEBAE
principal activity of Million Ace Group is trading of BEAEMm - HEFER_Z—NI
telecommunication products. The disposal was FRLA=Z+THZEK-

completed on 30 September 2019.

Summary of the effects of the disposal of Million Ace HEBRER cFEREMT:
Group is as follows:

HK$’000
FHET
Property, plant and equipment M WE REE 28
Deferred tax assets REHIBEEE 8,747
Prepayments and other receivables TR BOE B H e s E 1,341
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkBEeEEY 91
Accounts payable FERTER K (3,999)
Other payables and accruals Hh FE A 5RI8 I FEET IR (5,335)
Tax liabilities MIBEE (17,859)
Net liabilities disposed of FrtEraEFaE (16,986)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HEMB AR 2 W

Cash consideration received BUWIRERE 10,000
Net liabilities disposed of Frh& s BEF8E 16,986
26,986

Net cash inflow arising on disposal: LEFEEL RSB AERE:
Cash consideration HeRE 10,000
Cash and cash equivalent disposed of FIHEREERREEEY (91)
9,909
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39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(B) DISPOSAL OF QIANHAI

30. HLEKEB AT (®)
(B) HERE

On 16 April 2019, an indirectly wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company entered into a sales and
purchase agreement to dispose its 100% interest
in Qianhai Wealth Management Limited (“Qianhai”).
Pursuant to the supplementary agreement dated on
22 May 2019, the purchaser has agreed to purchase
the sale shares at a consideration of HK$1,400,000,
plus bank balance and prepayment on completion
date. The principal activity of Qianhai is insurance
brokerage services. The disposal was completed on
26 June 2019.

Summary of the effects of the disposal of Qianhai is

RZZE—AFWMA+E KA
—HEE2EWNBRARR —H
EEMBEUNLEHERANEGENS
RAR([AIE]) 22 &R
BEHHA-_ZE-—NFRAZ-T=
AranmE EAERERT
KEBHBEEHEHERD RER
1,400,000/ 7T ol LR 1T 45 82 2 78
NHE-FENEZEFARER
RIS RTE - HEFHER T — N
FRAZFNHEK -

HEMBZZERELT

as follows:

HK$’000
FHET
Accounts receivable JEUAR R 6
Prepayments and other receivables TR FOE I H e e 21
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY 131
Accounts payable FETER R 3)
Tax liabilities MIEAE M
Net assets disposed of FrtECEEFE 154
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HEMB AR 2 W :
Cash consideration received BUWIRERE 1,552
Net assets disposed of FrhEsEEFE (154)
1,398
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEETBEELECHRERAFRE:
Cash consideration ReERE 1,552
Cash and cash equivalent disposed of FTHEZRERREEEY (131)
1,421
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40. OPERATING LEASES

THE GROUP AS LESSEE

As at 31 December 2018, minimum lease payments paid
under operating leases in respect of office premises during
the year amounting to approximately HK$23,720,000.

Operating lease payments represent rentals payables
by the Group for certain of its office premises. Leases
are negotiated for an average term of three years during
the year ended 31 December 2018. None of the leases
included contingent rentals and terms of renewal were
established in the leases.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

re M HRERME

—NE+ZAZ AU

ik

e y==

REBEREHEA

RZE—-NE+ZA=+—8 BHEH#
NEVEKLEHECMNNFARERS
% /23,720,000 T °

REVERREAKEREE THA
EYPERMNNBES - RBEE_ZT-N\F
TZRA=1+—HILFE HENHBEF
YHBAR=F BEHEERIRES
KNBGREREEPEE -

MNEEHR  NEBRBRIAT B R
HIEM NI RS LR ERARFERS
VB H A

2018
—\F
HK$'000
TAT

Within one year —FR 20,738
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_EERFT (BRERERMTE) 24,856

45,594

1, BARHIE

31 December

41. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

31 December

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
+=ZH=+—-8 +t=—B=+—8H
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHER FAT
Commitments contracted for but not BENUTSEREGE
provided in the consolidated PR R 2 BEETL
financial statements in respect of BRBERAE
— Property, plant and equipment o/ E R 642,361 1,161,209
— Capital contribution to an associate —m—RHBEATEE
(Note i) (F3ED) - 9,112
— Capital contribution to a joint venture —m—EEEAREE
(Note ii) (P - 28,475
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41. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS (Continued)

Note:

(i)

(i)

On 24 April 2015, EREHERHT 2 R AR A R (Guangdong
Bluesea Technology Development Company Limited)*
(“Guangdong Bluesea Technology”), a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a joint venture
agreement (the “JV agreement”) with L FRBEEES
HEXE AR AT (Shandong Inspur Cloud Computing
Industry Investment Company Limited) (“Inspur Cloud
Computing”) pursuant to which Guangdong Bluesea
Technology and Inspur Cloud Computing agreed to
establish a joint venture (the “JV Company”) to mainly
engage in the applications of cloud computing and
e-commerce businesses. Pursuant to the JV agreement,
the amount of registered share capital of the JV Company
shall be RMB20,000,000 while Inspur Cloud Computing
shall account for a capital contribution of RMB12,000,000
and Guangdong Bluesea Technology shall account for a
capital contribution of RMB8,000,000. Upon the completion
of the capital contribution of the parties, the JV Company
shall be owned as to 60% by Inspur Cloud Computing and
40% by Guangdong Bluesea Technology and is accounted
for as an associate to the Group. During the year ended
31 December 2019, the Group disposed of its entire
interest in BHRKHENBEAEBR A

On 19 June 2017, Guangdong Bluesea Mobile
Development Co., Ltd. (“Guangdong Bluesea”), the equity
interest of which is controlled by the Company through
structured contracts, and China National Offshore Oil
Information Technology Limited (“CNOOIT”) entered into a
joint venture agreement (the “JV Agreement”). Pursuant to
the JV Agreement, the amount of registered share capital of
the joint venture (“JV Company”) shall be RMB50,000,000
while CNOOIT shall account for a capital contribution of
RMB24,500,000 and Guangdong Bluesea shall account
for a capital contribution of RMB25,500,000. As at
31 December 2018, Guangdong Bluesea has contributed
RMB500,000 (2017: RMB500,000) to the JV company.
During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
disposed of its entire interest in & H % & .

42. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK$5,456,000

and HK$5,456,000,

respectively, in respect of lease

arrangement for building leased for own use.

As set out in note 23, during the year ended 31 December
2018, the intangible assets of computer software of
approximately HK$9,022,000 was contributed by
the non-controlling interests of the Group as part of
consideration for the subscription of issued share capital
of its subsidiary.

for identification purpose only
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49,

BN EHE ()

GEX

(i)

(i)

R-TE—RAFMNA-+MBE  BERE
BRIBEBERAER A ([ERFEER
&Jﬁ@ﬂZ%ﬁﬁﬁ%@ﬂ)iﬁM%
RBMZESEAEEEREERA

([REMETEIT L EHE (F:.
BWRE) B BEREIEREER
HMEAFEREKR L —HAERR (&
BRF]) FEREZHEEAKSE
TRABKEE BREAEWHH AERQ
Al Z MR A # A A R 20,000,000
T HFPRBEFEBRBARYE
12,000,00075&F?E&iﬂ&ﬁ%%%ﬁ
A R #8,000,0007T ° 7] 495 e EE
% AEQARBHRHEENERER
FOE R 5 Bl B60% K%40% @ I A
RIMERAEB 2B E AR -REEZ
E—hhF+-_A=+—BLFE XK

Elﬁ.:./\b”\fiﬁ/iﬁﬁni HHEA
NAEZ EEPREE -
RZB—tFRATNB BRHE

BEauraRAR ([BREE]) (K
AREBEBEANT A ERE) &
FEHAEERBEERAR ([EHE
BT —HeEmzE([68H
B - BEAGEMFE AERA(E
BERAFAZAMBRABEARE
50,000,0007T * & & /8 )i {5 B R 4
A R #24,500,0007T & & R 5 8 15 R
4 A R #6025 500,000 A - ZF— )\4F
+—A=Z+—B ERESCERAAE
N EIHE AR500,000T (ZFE—+
£ : AR #¥500,0000T) REE-F
—hE+_A=Z=+—BLFE K&
EHEERNFRER 22 DERS-

42. FBIEBR SR H

FA-AKEREEEBERACETH
EXHBETRAREERMEEREY
R ARE DRI A5,456,000% 7T &
5,456,000/ 7T °

23 E KRB EZT— N\ F
+—A=1+—BLEFE EFEETK
B 499,022,000/ 7T Jh B A = B 2~ 3k
TRERIE EFARBEWBARE
BITIRAM I HRE -
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43. SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December

2019 are as follows:

43.

ERp=PNC]

FEMBARAR-_Z—ALE+=-A

=t—BZHAEHNT:

Place of
incorporation/ Nominal value of Nominal value of Percentage of
Class of registration and authorised paid up issued equity attributable
Name of subsidiary shares held  business share capital share capital to the Company Principal activities
WAL/ ERE EHRN NG
WEARER FsROER X% EERAEE BERTRAREE BREADL TEER
Directly Indirectly
BE GE:3
EREEBHERERAA Ordinary PRC, limited liabilty RMB100,000,000 RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Operation of commercial WIFI
(Note 1) company platform, provision of value-added
telecommunication services
BERESHIERERAR  EBRK PE BREAAR  ARE100000000  AR%S50,0000007 - 100% EEEEWFTARREHEEESH
GiEa)) %
ERANEHEREER Ordinary PRC, limited liability RMB100,000,000 RMB10,000,000 = 70%  Operation of Internet finance
BRAF (Note 1) company platform business
ERMNENERAER LEk FE BREAAR  ARE100000000  AK%10,0000007 - 0% EELHELRTAEH
ARAT (M)
REMREEERAA Ordinary PRC, limited liability RMB50,000,000 RMB3,000,000 - 83%  Design, manufacture and sale of
(Note 1) company logistics equipment
PENMRERRRAR Liak HE AEREFAR ARE50000000  AKR¥S3,000,0007T - 83% MRREHR WEREE
(f3E1)
FTmEL L RELE Ordinary PRC, limited liabilty RMB30,000,000 RMB12,650,000 - 60% Operation of Internet finance
SREBARAT company platform business
AT EL S RERE Lak PE BREAAR  ARMES0000000m  AR¥12,650,0007 - 60% 2ELHALRTAEH
SRBRBEERARA
BNTHEEEER Ordinary PRC, limited liability RMB500,000 RMB150,000 - 60% Operation of Internet finance
BREMAR company platform business
BNTEREEEER LER PE ERERERR AR 500,000 AR 150,000 - 60% HELHELRTAEH
AREMLAR
BNTERNEBRAR Ordinary PRC, limited liabilty RMB10,000,000 RMB2,500,000 S 60%  Provision of IDC Services
company
BNTERRRERAT LER PE-BREAAR  ARKI00000000  ARM25000007 - 60% #REIDCHRHS
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43. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected
the results for the period or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

Notes:

1. Subsidiaries controlled through certain structured
arrangements (“Structured Arrangements”), for details of
the Structured Arrangements, please refer to note 44.

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the Group that
have material non-controlling interests

The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling

43. M1 B R Al (#)

EREIARBZMBAR EFERBR
ZEMBRREAREARNE 2 REE
ETEFEYARAKEEEFEZE
EHN -EERR WHINEMHBR
AZHBRTRIEBENTR

GEE
1. EBETAWLRY (REERE)

ZHIZMBAR BRABEREZ
15 B2BIMEE44

B AR A R B2 A
BARNFE

TRENFEAERFEREENANEE
FEEWMBARMFEE:

interests:
Place of Proportion ownership
Incorporation interests and Loss for the year Total comprehensive
and principal voting rights held by allocated to (loss) allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary place of business  non-controlling interest  non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests
WELARZE ERALBH FEREEREZ PREFERER 2 PREFERER
REIBEXBYE  HARBDRREEEAL ERER 2 (BR)EE FiFERER
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
ZE-0F ZB-)\E ZB-pE T\ ZB-pF —Z)\f ZB-pE _T)\%
HKS'000  HK$000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
TEn  TEn TEn  TEx TEn  TEn TEn  TEx
ERMAENZREERERLA PRC 30% 30% (2,183) (10,710) (2,554) (11,764) 15,570 18,124
BRUAEHEREERARAR Gl
BMNERMREARLT PRC 40% 40% (26,991) (32,273) (27,322) (34,209) 22,482 49,804
BNTERMRARAR le
ATELERESELRRY PRC 40% 40% (3,973 (18,081) (4,143) (18,801) (6,397) (2,254)
ERAland its subsidlaries
MITELeREBA hE

eRBBARATRENBAR
Individually immaterial subsidiaries
with non-controlling interests

ERFERESZEAFEANERR

34,060 21,685

65,715 87,359
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z -ZE—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

43. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 43.

Summarised financial information in respect of each of
the Group’s subsidiaries that has material non-controlling
interests is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts before intragroup
eliminations.

ERAAZEMEREEESRLT

LEIEEMNEIRE 3

BRAEERFERERNARESHEBR
BB BEERBEEIN M T - AT
BERMBREEARARYHEAINS
Ho

ERAAZEMEREEERSRLT

2019 2018

—E-hF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$ 000

TR FET

Current assets MENEE 74,017 77,190

Non-current assets ERBEE 1,190 5,777

Current liabilities mEBE (23,308) (22,555)

Non-current liabilities EnEaE - -
Equity attributable to owners of RNAEHEE AELER

The company 36,329 42,288

Non-controlling interests FETE N 2 15,570 18,124
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

43. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 43. 1B A F] ()

ERMAZEHEREEEHR AL F (Continued) ERFMAAZVEREEERRAF ()

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTER FET

Revenue Wz - 2,035
Expenses Fx (7,277) (32,676)
Loss for the year FREE (7,277) (30,641)

Loss attributable to owners of FiN/NSIE DN o
the company (5,094) (19,931)

226

Loss attributable to

IR EAER

The non-controlling interests (2,183) (10,710)
Loss for the year FREE (7,277) (30,641)
Other comprehensive loss attributable RARIER ANEMHEM

to owners of the Company 2MHEBE (865) (2,441)
Other comprehensive loss attributable R R EIE A

to the non-controlling interests 2EEIE (871) (1,054)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for FREMZE (BE)

the year I35 (1,236) (3,495)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to RNANEEE AN

owners of the Company THEEARE (5,959) (22,372)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to IR RE R PR

non-controlling interests ZEEBEER (2,554) (11,764)
Total comprehensive (loss) for the year FREME (E18)8%E (8,513) (34,136)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from REKLEEBZRERA

operating activities () FEE 1,677 (6,308)
Net cash inflow from investing activities REREEHZ

RAeRAFE 8 1
Net cash inflow from financing activities REBMEEE 2

BeRANFE - -
Net cash inflow/(outflow) BenRA/ Crd) F58 1,685 (6,305)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re M HRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z -ZE—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

43. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 43. 1B A~ A ()

EMNTmEANKEERAT EMNTmEANKEERAT
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTER FET
Current assets MEEE 78,609 94,059
Non-current assets IERBEE 271,103 288,882
Current liabilities mEaE (264,349) (224,605)
Non-current liabilities FERBAR (29,159) (33,825)
Equity attributable to owners of RAGEE AELER
the company 33,723 74,707
Non-controlling interests R 22,482 49,804
2019 2018
—E-NE —ZE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FEx FET
Revenue W g 274,251 313,142
Expenses 53 (341,740) (384,482)
Loss for the year FREE (67,489) (71,340)
Loss attributable to owners of RAREER ABIGER
the company (40,498) (39,067)
Loss attributable to FEE ARt = PR (G B 1R
the non-controlling interests (26,991) (832,273)
Loss for the year FREE (67,489) (71,340)

Annual Report 2019 —E— AL £ 3]



228

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= R R E

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

43. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 43. B A 7] (#)
&M & H R ER A T (Continued) EMNTEARNKEERAR (&)
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\E
HK$’000 HK$’000
Fax FHEIL
Other comprehensive loss attributable to RARER ABIGEA
owners of the Company ZHEE (486) (1,479
Other comprehensive loss attributable to FEFE AR A B A EL At
the non-controlling interests 2HEEE (331) (1,930)
Other comprehensive (loss) for the year FREMEE (FE) (817) (3,409)
Total comprehensive (loss) attributable to RAREE AEIG
owners of the Company 2H(EE)RHE (40,984) (40,546)
Total comprehensive (loss) attributable to FEIE R A e
non-controlling interests 2HE (BB B8 (27,322) (34,203)
Total comprehensive (loss) for the year FR2mE (E8)R%E (68,306) (74,749)
Net cash inflow from operating activities REKEEBT 2
BamAFH 954 22,531
Net cash outflow from investing activities REHFEEE 2
Remb #48 (6,390) (56,088)
Net cash inflow from financing activities REBEEH
BamAFHE - 14,137
Net cash outflow REmib #5 (5,436) (19,420)
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re M HRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z -ZE—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

43. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

RINTERESREBHEESHBBEERDQAF and its

43. MY B R~ Al (#)

RYTEESTREBASBBEERL

subsidiaries AEEKE QT
2019 2018
—e-7AF —T)\&
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FAT
Current assets MEEE 5,629 14,966
Non-current assets EMBEE 1,025 4,043
Current liabilities nBaE (22,647) (24,644)
Equity attributable to owners of RARHEE ARG ER
The company (9,596) (3,381)
Non-controlling interests PR = (6,397) (2,254)
Revenue & - 43,261
Expenses X (9,933) (90,539)
Loss for the year FAEE (9,933) (47,278)
Loss attributable to owners of the company Zx 2R F1#E B A FE(h B 18 (5,960) (29,197)
Loss attributable to the non-controlling FEIE AR RS
interests 18 (3,973) (18,081)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) RARIEE ARG EAM
attributable to owners of the Company 2E (BE) 255 (883)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) FE 12 e 2 P A LAt
attributable to the non-controlling interests & E Wk, (EiE) 170 (720)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) FREMEEWRZE (B
for the year #B) 425 (1,603)
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

43. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

43.

RINTERESREBHEESHBBEERDQF and its

subsidiaries (Continued)

B B 2 A ()

RYTEESREBPASBBEERL

AREMEAR (&)

2019 2018
—2-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHER FHET
Total comprehensive loss attributable to ZN/NEIE PPN L
owners of the Company T HEEEERSE (6,215) (30,080)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to FEE I R PG
non-controlling interests 2 HBERE (4,143) (18,801)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FAEHEEIEEE (10,358) (48,881)
Net cash outflow from operating activites ~ KRB &L ¥ 552
R FE (237) (2,583)
Net cash outflow from investing activities REREEE 2
WEMEFRE - (820)
Net cash inflow from financing activities REREES 2
BERANFE - 3,589
Net cash (outflow)/inflow Be Ond) /MAFE (237) 186
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z -ZE—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

44, STRUCTURED ARRANGEMENTS

BLUESEA MOBILE GROUP

Particulars and main business of the
operating entities

ERE /A% B REAFR A A (Guangdong Bluesea Mobile
Development Limited*) (“Bluesea Mobile”) is a limited
liability company established under the laws of the PRC
and is owned by Ms. Ye Weiping (E{& ) (99%) and
Mr. Xu Gang (f#) (Mr. HE Zhicong (fa] 588 with effect
from 27 February 2020 upon the transfer of the 1% equity
interest therein from Mr. Xu) (1%) (hereinafter collectively
referred to as “Bluesea Mobile Shareholders”). Bluesea
Mobile is controlled by R E®B X YI) #4& B
BBR A E] by way of certain structured contracts (the
“Bluesea Mobile Structured Contracts”). Bluesea
Mobile is principally engaged in provision of value-added
telecommunication services. Bluesea Mobile has obtained
an Internet content provider license which enables it to be
an Internet content provider in the PRC.

Major terms of the Bluesea Mobile
Structured Contracts

a)  Equity and Voting agreement

The Bluesea Mobile Shareholders shall irrevocably
grant to the FFTER OFRY) BEBEBR A A or
the person as designated by the F#FT&EEE CFEYI)
PR AR AT an exclusive option to purchase,
subject to and as permitted by PRC laws, their entire
equity interest in Bluesea CMobile by way of one
or more times of exercise of the option at any time,
at an option price which is nil or nominal, or the
minimum price permitted by PRC laws. In addition,
the Bluesea Mobile Shareholders shall in attending to
the management of and exercising his shareholder’s
right in Bluesea Mobile, seek and follow the
instructions of the F &M (ORI PR EHEZER A
Al

4. BT HE

HegasE
REBRZHBRIERT

EXRESVHERERAA([BHER
Bl)A—HMIRBEPEEEKLZBR
EAERR WHEREFLIT(99%) &%
MEE (RBREEERERERERD
1% KkEERE BT EF-_A=-++t
B BAEILLE) (1%) (LA T 5 [ B
BREBRREBS -HERHHPHE
BORYBEREERRBINE T
BHEAEN(BEBBEREEGHNH
FAEG FER B E BN EREEE
BEERE -FHEVHEMBLHANR
RIS Bt e B E A R B A BB
AR

%ﬁiﬁ%ﬁﬁ%*ﬁ'fﬂié%’ﬂti%ﬂ%

TA

a) RERKEE

5 8 B B B BROE T B 2] 3 | AP
#MERCRIDBERRBRAA]
SZFHER(RIDBERRER
RAEEZATREBRBERE
MBE (EPBUERZRBE T R
HFAT)ERESBEH 228K
B AR AREEUBRE (AER
RBHEERIFBEEARFAI IR
RER) —RLZRITEBRE-
AN FEBBBRRENSHRE R
HEBSRTEERFEBES Z
BRENFSRKRETHHER
CRYI) WAgRHR B R AR IR
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

44, STRUCTURED ARRANGEMENTS

(Continued)

BLUESEA MOBILE GROUP (Continued)
Major terms of the Bluesea Mobile

Structured Contracts (Continued)

b)  Exclusive service agreement

Bluesea Mobile shall engage the R #TE B (X
I B R BB A A as its exclusive service
provider. The R ER ORY) MBI BR QA
shall provide to Bluesea Mobile technology support,
business support and relevant consultancy services
that relate to the business of Bluesea Mobile
including but not limited to (i) license to Bluesea
Mobile the right to use the intellectual property rights
(including but not limited to patent, trade mark and
copyright) owned by the ¥ & ORI B4 7
R AR A7 according to the business needs of
Bluesea Mobile; (i) develop, maintain and update
the relevant software required by the business of
Bluesea Mobile; (iii) purchase and rent or obtain the
right to use on behalf of Bluesea Mobile machinery
equipment, storage space, related software and
other software facilities required by the business
of Bluesea Mobile; (iv) provide to Bluesea Mobile

professional technical personnel and provide training
to them on behalf of Bluesea Mobile; (v) assist
Bluesea Mobile to collect and research technology
that is relevant to the business of Bluesea Mobile; (vi)
advise on matters relating to the business operations
of Bluesea Mobile raised by Bluesea Mobile, and
provide to Bluesea Mobile business promotion and
market sales services; and (vii) according to the
request of Bluesea Mobile and with the consent of
the FFTER OFY) PFHEEHEBR A A, provide to
Bluesea Mobile other recommendations and services
relating to the business of Bluesea Mobile.

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFEEEEEFR LA
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HEBHER (@)

BY

BEIEEESNZETER

;@)

b)

K IR 15 %%

HEBBHRERZERHER CRI)
PRMBERARDBEBRRS
REF-FHER ORI BHR
RERARERANSBEHIEHRE
BB BRI 2 M i %755
X7 RBBEEARE  BEETR
ROBREBEFEBHZEBFTER
HERBRTHHER ORI B
MM BRARAES < HHE
#(BRETRREN BF KR
)z ERE: ()F% #ERE
HEBBH I XBEMTZEBR
iR EFEBBHBEREE
KERF BB XTI
BRa i W F =M BB R E
BT R E R (v) KRE
BB RSB B RE{E XM
ABIAAFFRMEIEI (V) 158D
FEBRSHKRERMREMAFER

BRAG Z BiT: (vi) SLR B B P
REAFENSBHEBREE LS
HRHER YRR SBHIRMHE
TR R T 45 2 AR S R (viD) 1R
BREBH BRI KEHHER
(FRYIDWEMZERRARE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re M HRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z -ZE—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

44, STRUCTURED ARRANGEMENTS A4, wEREM T HE (m)

(Continued)

HEBHER (@)
BHEREEEESNZEER

BLUESEA MOBILE GROUP (Continued)
Major terms of the Bluesea Mobile

Structured Contracts (Continued) = (®)
c)  Equity pledge agreement c) REEFRZ

HEBBRRGRATHER R
Y BB AR AR ERERE
BB 2 2R - LATER THIRT
BEMAERT: \FEBHNER

Bluesea Mobile Shareholders shall pledge all their
equity interest in Bluesea Mobile to ¥ && (JRII)
W RIEAR AR to guarantee, the performance
of all the obligations of (i) Bluesea Mobile under the

Exclusive Service Agreement, (i) Bluesea Mobile R HZE T 2FBEMT ()EHE%
Shareholders and Bluesea Mobile under the Equity & FRRNRFERHRRERER
Voting Agreement. EE N ZFTBEE

REVENUE AND ASSETS SUBJECT TO THE BHLTHEZHWBEREE

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

The revenue and total assets subject to the Contractual B LTHBET 2 WS R BEEEY W

Arrangements, in aggregate, are set out below: T
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+—HLFE
2019 2018
—E—hEF —E—)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FAET
Revenue Uk z 549,930 888,058
Net Profit #B A) 57,034 30,072

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—H
2019 2018
—E-hE —ZE-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTEx FHT
Total assets BEE 1,900,594 2,067,800
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44, STRUCTURED ARRANGEMENTS

(Continued)

REASONS FOR USING AND RISKS
ASSOCIATED WITH THE CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS

Under the prevailing laws and regulations in the PRC,
companies with foreign ownership are restricted
from engaging in the provision of value-added
telecommunication services and manufacturing of
telecommunication system equipment for satellites
business in the PRC. As such, the Company relies on
BUN, CERNET Wifi and Bluesea Mobile (“OPCOs”
and each an “OPCO”) to conduct certain parts of the
Group’s businesses in the PRC. The Company manages
to maintain an effective control over the financial and
operational policies of the OPCOs through the Contractual
Arrangements which effectively transfer the economic
benefits and pass the risks associated therewith of the
OPCO to the Company, and as a result, the OPCOs
have been consolidated as subsidiaries of the Group.
The Board wishes to emphasise that the Group relies
on the Contractual Arrangements to control and obtain
the economic benefits from the OPCOs, which may not
be as effective in providing operational control as direct
ownership. The Company may have to rely on the PRC
legal system to enforce the Contractual Arrangements,
which remedies may be less effective than those in
other developed jurisdictions. Any conflicts of interest or
deterioration of the relationship between the registered
holders of the equity interest in the OPCOs and our Group
may materially and adversely affect the overall business
operations of the Group. The pricing arrangement under
the Contractual Arrangements may be challenged by the
PRC tax authority. If the Group chooses to exercise the
option to acquire all or part of the equity interests in any of
the OPCOs under the respective option agreements under
the Contractual Arrangements, substantial amount of costs
and time may be involved in transferring the ownership of
the relevant OPCO held by its registered holder(s) to the
subsidiaries equity-owned by the Company. There can
be no assurance that the interpretation of the Contractual
Arrangements by the PRC legal advisers to the Company
is in line with the interpretation of the PRC governmental
authorities and that the Contractual Arrangements will not
be considered by such PRC governmental authorities and
courts to be in violation of the PRC laws. In addition, the
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4. BEBIEL T )

RAGHREZRARERR
B

REBHBERITERER IERARART
Bt ERHEEEEEREAREFES
EERRBREHBIIIRS - Fit - AR
AR RER BERERLFEBEH
(IZ%oPCORd] Kk%BBIOPCO
DADARFBEEEAEEBNDT T
X -ARAEBEHNLHEREZE
OPCO R &) 2 W 15 I & i@ R B Ay %
H AHLEEB B Z % OPCO R A
ZREEN G MEERRER REERT A
~E Bk ZEOPCORREERA
SECMBARGAARKR -EEEE N
RAAREERBES O RIHEN LN ZE
OPCO 2 A] R 15 48 78 | a5 - 0 It £ $i2 it
LEEGRETERCINEREAE K
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44, STRUCTURED ARRANGEMENTS

(Continued)

REASONS FOR USING AND RISKS
ASSOCIATED WITH THE CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS (Continued)

PRC governmental authorities may in the future interpret
or issue laws, regulations or policies that result in the
Contractual Arrangements being deemed to be in violation
of the then prevailing PRC laws. Despite the above,
as advised by the PRC legal advisers to the Company,
the Contractual Arrangements are in compliance with
and, to the extent governed by the PRC laws currently
in force, are enforceable under, the current PRC laws.
The Company will monitor the relevant PRC laws and
regulations relevant to the Contractual Arrangements and
will take all necessary actions to protect the Company’s
interest in the OPCOs.

MATERIAL CHANGES

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report,
there has not been any material change in the Contractual
Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which they
were adopted.

4. BEBEL T

RAEHNZHE2ERARERR
B (@)

RERERERERTBRZZ-BEA
EXAh - BARRFBEARBER S
EBRRHEBRERDBIARAL A ERT
B BA R E A E AR IR AR R R S
T ARAREREESOL T 2H
BEEERERLTBESER -0 E
IR E AR BN % FOPCO AR ZHE

Ny
S o

I

EXEY

B EXA BB AN RARE B
WA NRYR RIRAAOEEOER
BOET B A D -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  45. Bt & Ak &

2019 2018
—E-AE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W WE &E&E 92 199
Investment in subsidiaries REB AR Z’E - S
Deferred tax assets EEFIAE E 1,711 1,666
1,803 1,865
Current assets RBEE
Prepayments, deposits and ENFRE - -ZER
other receivables H b B U 3R I8 737 719
Note receivable e U ZE 4% 61,586 60,853
Amounts due from subsidiaries NN E L] 44,392 1,206,333
Cash and cash equivalents HekReFEY 276 230
106,991 1,268,135
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables and accruals H b B A 3118 K AT IR 4,325 3,329
Amounts due to subsidiaries JEATO B A R FRIE 20,040 6,544
24,365 9,873
Net current assets REBEEFE 82,626 1,258,262
Total assets less current liabilities BREERRBES 84,429 1,260,127
Net assets EEFE 84,429 1,260,127
Capital and reserves EXREE
Share capital % < 952,218 952,218
Reserves (Note) it (EE) (867,789) 307,909
Total equity RSB 84,429 1,260,127
The financial statements were approved and authorised PEHEN_E_EFRA+-_HEE
for issue by the board of directors on 12 May 2020 and EEREREETE TATIESR
signed on behalf by: REE:
CHEUNG Sing Tai TAO Wei
RER [P
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EF EZE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re M HRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 g7 = E— &L= F=1—HIFFZF

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(Continued)
Note:

The movements of the reserves are as follows:

IR R (#)

Wi
HEREDERMT

Share options Accumulated
Share premium reserve losses Total
BRipEE BRERS RHER o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL T T T
As at 1 January 2018 RZE-NE-f— 1,796,283 15,040 (1,444,738) 366,585
Total comprehensive income for the year £ W 2ENEAE - - (39,089) (39,089)
Recognition of equity-settled share-based kgL SRS B
payment ERNA T - 17,202 - 17,202
Final Dividend for 2017 “E-ERHRE (36,184) - - (36,184)
Repurchases of shares KR (605) - - (605)
Share options lapsed ERELN - (14,996) 14,996 =
As at 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 R=F—/\&
TZA=+-8k
“Z-NE-A-H 1,750,404 17,246 (1,468,831) 307,909
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRZEBELE - - (1,175,698) (1,175,698)
Share options lapsed BRERK - (89) 89 S
As at 31 December 2019 RZE-NE
+=A=1+-H 1,759,494 17,157 (2,644,440) (867,789)

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group entered into the following material
transaction with connected and related parties during the
year.

(A) COMPENSATION OF KEY
MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

The remuneration of directors and key executives
was stated in Notes 14 and 15, which is determined
by the remuneration committee having regard to the
performance of individual and market trends.

46. BEXZREB TR 5

BEEMBBRROEMBOARESE
9\\'ZIK%E<IECZIK¢VE53E§ AL KRR
FRIMATERR 5

A TEEEEBAE ZHMH

EERFTBTBRABZHEMER
Wéi14)§i15 BT BREME
BeKEERMARBEMS B
BET-

Annual Report 2019 —E— AL £ 3]

237



238

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= R R E

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —-E—hE+ = H=4+—HIFEE

46. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(B) CONSULTANCY SERVICE

The Group had entered into a consultancy service
agreement with a company owned by the spouse
of Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai, an executive Director of
the Company, for which consultancy service fee of
approximately HK$858,000 was paid during the year
ended 31 December 2019 (2018: HK$858,000).

47. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities
as at 31 December 2019 and 2018.

48. APPROVAL FOR CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 12 May
2020.

49. COMPARATIVE FIGURE

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 of 1 January
2019. Under the transition method design, comparative
information is not restated. Further details of the changes
in accounting policies are disclosed in Note 2.

Neo Telemedia Limited FE I EEEBERA A
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(B) #HRHE

REBFBCDEARATHITEERR
ZRECZEBHESZ —HAAE
VEARBHBE ETPREE
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Financial Summary

B =

The following is a summary of the published consolidated results A T ARNEB DB 2G5 %E BELE

and of the assets and liabilities of the Group:

EBE

RESULTS E 5
Year ended 31 December
BEt-A=t-HL%EE
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
ZE-hnE ZE-\F ZEZ—+F CZE-RF CE-IOF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER AT AT AT AT
Turnover EER 817,141 2,529,051 1,214,772 2,613,845 1,914,902
Cost of sales HEKA (743,785)  (2,340,730) (981,079)  (2,290,382)  (1,813,983)
Gross profit E 73,356 188,321 233,693 223,463 100,919
Other income and gains H A R Yezs 10,651 26,205 28,876 19,873 537
Selling and marketing costs HERTHEERA (30,020) (35,625) (29,631) (15,540) (18,775)
Administrative and other expenses  1THU R E it & F (144,372) (185,195) (161,271) (108,874) (87,695)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMRB ARz W 28,384 - 8,960 143,229 -
Gain on disposal of joint venture ~ HEAE AR Z K 373 = = = =
Impairment loss recognised in HEEERZREER
respect of goodwill (15,188) (63,904) - - -
Changes in fair value of contingent  JEff i AR (B2
consideration payable NFEE - - (5,650) (6,029) =
Impairment loss recognised REFVEAERR
in respect of intangible asset REBE (39,524) (23,883) - - (6,378)
Impairment loss recognised in RELEERER
respect of promissory note REEE - - = (22,800) =
Credit loss expense/impairment HREHEKATHEL
loss recognised in respect of CREERALEE
financial assets carried BEAS/REER
at amortised costs (2,549) (7,294) (3,260) - -
Share of results of joint venture BIEAERAIER 82 (194) (106) = =
Equity-settled share-base RIEEE LR A
payment expense ERAHEY - (17,202) S = =
(Loss)/profit from operation REER (BB) /87 (118,971) (118,771) 71,611 233,322 (11,392)
Finance costs BMEKK (3,317) (7,726) (3,884) (10,356) (24,541)
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRBAT (B518) /% H (122,288) (126,497) 67,727 222,966 (35,933)
Income tax expense gAY 6,645 (498) (14,667) (20,779) (8,322)
Net (loss)/profit for the year/period A,/ HiR (E1E) /
A3 (115,643) (126,995) 53,060 202,187 (44,255)
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Financial Summary
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As at 31 December
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2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

—E-fE —F-\F& Z—E—+Ff ZT-RE C—T-IF

HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET AT AL AT FAT

Non-current assets ERBEE 2,226,406 1,823,027 1,190,488 926,859 345,487
Current assets MEEE 331,617 495,210 1,314,976 925,941 1,384,081
Current liabilties mENEE (1,291,505) (938,956) (792,892) (206,993) (373,971)
Net current (liabilities)/assets TE(BR) JEEFE (959,888) (443,746) 522,084 718,948 1,010,110
Non-current liabiliies ERBERE (79,372) (53,667) (65,830) (98,300) (36,737)
Net assets/(liabilities) BE/(BE)FE 1,187,146 1,325,614 1,646,742 1,547,507 1,318,860
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